Promotors	Prof. dr. ir. Marie-Christine Van Labeke
	Department of Plants and Crops
	Faculty of Bioscience Engineering
	Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium
	Prof. dr. ir. Monica Höfte
	Department of Plants and Crops
	Faculty of Bioscience Engineering
	Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium
Dean of the Faculty	Prof. dr. ir. Marc Van Meirvenne

Rector of the University

Prof. dr. ir. Rik Van de Walle

# Effects of Light Quality on Strawberry, *Botrytis cinerea*, and Their Interaction

Lijuan MENG

September 2020

Thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor (PhD) in Bioscience Engineering Dutch translation of the title Invloed van lichtkwaliteit op aardbei, *Botrytis cinerea*, en hun interactie.

This work was supported by the China Scholarship Council (CSC).

### Citation

Lijuan Meng (2020). Effects of light quality on strawberry, *Botrytis cinerea*, and their interaction. PhD thesis, Ghent University, Belgium.

**ISBN number:** 9789463573528

The author and promotors give the authorization to consult and to copy parts of this work for personal use only. Every other use is subject to copyright laws. Permission to reproduce any material contained in this work should be obtained from the author.

This dissertation is dedicated to my family.

#### Members of the Examination Committee

Prof. dr. Godelieve Gheysen (Chairman) Department of Biotechnology, Faculty of Bioscience Engineering, Ghent University

Prof. dr. ir. Marie-Christine Van Labeke (Promotor) Department of Plants and Crops, Faculty of Bioscience Engineering, Ghent University

Prof. dr. ir. Monica Höfte (Promotor) Department of Plants and Crops, Faculty of Bioscience Engineering, Ghent University

Prof. dr. ir. Kris Audenaert Department of Plants and Crops, Faculty of Bioscience Engineering, Ghent University

Prof. dr. Filip Vandenbussche Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Ghent University

Prof. dr. Barbara De Coninck Department of Biosystems, Faculty of Bioscience Engineering, KU Leuven

Dr. Ine Pertry Agrotopia Chair, Faculty of Bioscience Engineering, Ghent University INAGRO, Belgium

### Contents

List of Abbreviations and Symbols	
Summary	vii
Samenvatting	xi
Problem Statement and Thesis Outline	1

Chapter 1 General Introduction	. 7
1.1 Light in greenhouse production	. 9
1.2 Botrytis cinerea, the cause of grey mold	10
1.2.1 Variability of <i>B. cinerea</i> isolates	10
1.2.2 Responses of <i>B. cinerea</i> to light quality	13
1.2.3 Grey mold symptoms caused by <i>B. cinerea</i>	16
1.3 Plant defense mechanisms to <i>B. cinerea</i>	19
1.3.1 <i>B. cinerea</i> infection strategies	19
1.3.2 Mechanisms of plant defense against <i>B. cinerea</i>	20
1.3.3 Defense mechanisms to <i>B. cinerea</i> in strawberry	22
1.4 Plant responses to light	23
1.4.1 Plant photoreceptors	24
1.4.2 Light quality regulates plant growth and morphology	28
1.4.3 The influence of light quality on primary, secondary metabolites, and pigments.	30
1.4.4 The effects of the circadian clock on plant behavior	32
1.5 Light quality and plant defense	34

2.2.1	Plant material and experimental setup	44
2.2.2	Plant morphology (Exp 1)	45
2.2.3	Botrytis cinerea inoculation and disease rating (Exp 2 and 3)	46
2.2.4	Measurements of pigments (Exp 1)	46
2.2.5	Hydrogen peroxide and metabolites (Exp 3)	46
2.2.6	Antioxidant enzymes (Exp 2)	47
2.2.7	Statistical analysis	48
2.3 Re	sults	48
2.3.1	Plant morphology	48
2.3.2	Resistance against <i>B. cinerea</i>	49
2.3.3	Hydrogen peroxide	50
2.3.4	Metabolites and antioxidant enzymes	51
2.3.5	Leaf pigments and anthocyanin	55
2.4 Dis	scussion	56
2.4.1	Effects of light quality on leaf initiation and petiole elongation in strawberry	56
2.4.2	The effects of leaf age and light quality on <i>B. cinerea</i> resistance	57
2.4.3	Hydrogen peroxide	58
2.4.4	Metabolites	59
2.4.5	Leaf pigments	60
2.5 Co	nclusion	62
2.6 Su	pplementary material	63

Chap	ter 3 Timing of Light Quality Affects Susceptibility to Botrytis cinerea in	I
Straw	/berry Leaves	67
3.1	Introduction	70
3.2	Materials and Methods	72
3.	2.1 Plant material and light experiments	72
3.	2.2 Disease assays	73
3.	2.3 Determination of leaf metabolism	74

3	.2.4	Trypan blue staining75
3	.2.5	Statistical analysis75
3.3	Re	sults76
3 d	.3.1 levelo	Influence of light quality before and during infection on disease symptom opment (Experiment 1)76
3 d	.3.2 liseas	Influence of 4 h end-of-day light quality treatment and time of inoculation on se development (Experiment 2)77
3 ir	.3.3 nocul	Influence of 12 h light quality treatment at the start of the photoperiod and time of ation on disease symptoms (Experiment 3)78
3 v	.3.4 ariati	Influence of 12 h light quality treatment at the start of photoperiod on diurnal ons in leaf metabolism80
3	.3.5	Influence of light quality incubation on the infection processes of <i>Botrytis</i> 82
3.4	Dis	cussion84
3	.4.1	Influence of light on disease symptoms caused by Botrytis cinerea
3 re	.4.2 esista	Effect of duration of light quality treatment on disease symptoms and plant ance
3	.4.3	Diurnal effects on leaf resistance against Botrytis cinerea and correlation with
С	ircad	ian variations in leaf metabolism86
3.5	Co	nclusion
3.6	Su	oplementary Material

### Chapter 4 Phenotypic Variation of *Botrytis cinerea* Isolates is Influenced by

Spectral Light Quality	
4.1 Introduction	96
4.2 Materials and Methods	
4.2.1 Botrytis cinerea isolates	
4.2.2 Light quality treatments to study <i>Botrytis</i> phenotypes	
4.2.3 Oxalic acid detection assay	
4.2.4 Pathogenicity test on strawberry	
4.2.5 Image analysis	100

4.2.6 Statistical analysis	101
4.3 Results	102
4.3.1 Phenotypic characterization of <i>B. cinerea</i> isolates	102
4.3.2 Inoculation assays on strawberry leaves	106
4.3.3 Image-based assessment of <i>Botrytis</i> infection on strawberry leaves	108
4.4 Discussion	114
4.4.1 Phenotypic variability of <i>Botrytis cinerea</i> isolates is influenced by light quality	114
4.4.2 Virulence variation in <i>B. cinerea</i>	116
4.4.3 Strawberry leaves developed under red light displayed enhanced resistance t <i>cinerea</i> isolates	to <i>B.</i> 117
4.4.4 $F_v/F_m$ is the best indicator for early detection of <i>B. cinerea</i> on strawberry leave	es
	117
4.4.5 Horticultural implications	118
4.5. Conclusion	119
4.6 Supplementary material	120
Chapter 5 General Discussion and Future Perspectives	135
5.1 General discussion	137
5.2 Future perspectives	143

Bibliography	. 145
Copyright Attribution	. 193
Acknowledgement	. 197
Curriculum Vitae	. 201

# List of Abbreviations and Symbols

ABA	abscisic acid
APX	ascorbate peroxidase
CCA1	circadian clock associated 1
Chlldx	chlorophyll index
CRY	cryptochrome
DAMP	host damage-associated molecular
DASH	drosophila, Arabidopsis, synechocystis, homo
DS	defense syndrome
ELF	early flowering
ET	ethylene
FAD	flavin adenine dinucleotide
FKF	flavin-binding Kelch F-box
FMN	flavin mononucleotide
Fo	minimal fluorescence
Fv	variable fluorescence
F <sub>m</sub>	maximal fluorescence
F√/F <sub>m</sub>	quantum efficiency of photosystem II
GA	gibberellins
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GS/GOGAT	glutamine synthetase/glutamate synthase
HR	hypersensitive response
JA	jasmonic acid
LED	light-emitting diode
LKP2	LOV Kelch protein2
LOV	light, oxygen, voltage
LYM2	LysM domain-containing glycosylphosphatidylinositolan-chored protein 2
mArildx	modified anthocyanin reflection index
NIR	near infrared
NO	nitric oxide
NUV	near ultraviolet

OG	oligogalacturonide
PA	proanthocyanidin
PAL	phenylalanine ammonia-lyase
PAMP	pathogen-derived microbial-associated molecular pattern
PDA	potato dextrose agar
PDB	potato dextrose broth
PPF	photosynthetic photon flux
PHY	phytochrome
POD	peroxidase
PR	pathogenesis-related class
PRR	pattern recognition receptor
Pfr	active state of phytochrome
Pr	inactive state of phytochrome
RGB	red green blue
RLK1	receptor-like kinase1
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SA	salicylic acid
SAR	systemic acquired resistance
SAS	shade-avoidance syndrome
ТСА	tricarboxylic acid
UV	ultraviolet
UVR8	UV resistance locus8
VOC	volatile organic compound
WCC	White Collar complex
ZTL	Zeitlupe
ρ	particle density

## Summary

Strawberry *Fragaria × ananassa* (Duchesne ex. Rozier) is the economically most important soft fruit all around the world. Nowadays, strawberries are mainly produced in greenhouses. Strawberry yield is affected by various plant diseases. In the greenhouse, one of the most important diseases is grey mold caused by *Botrytis cinerea*, due to the incidental high humidity in this semi-closed environment. Disease control requires an extensive amount of fungicides, but the available number of commercial products is limited, the application of fungicides is expensive, fungicide efficiency differs between *Botrytis* isolates, and fungicide resistance is easily developed by the pathogen.

Since light is the most important environmental factor in a greenhouse production system, supplementary light is often applied to increase light intensity and to extend the day length leading to an all-year-round growing season to maximize strawberry yield. LEDs are the newest type of artificial lighting and are increasingly used in the greenhouse to promote plant growth and development during autumn and winter. In addition, LEDs with specific wavelengths (light quality) can also affect plant resistance against *B. cinerea*. But also a direct effect on this pathogen exists as *Botrytis* responds to different light conditions through its eleven photoreceptors. This opens possibilities to perform environmental-friendly disease control via the application of specific light quality, mainly blue and red light, on strawberry, *B. cinerea* and their interaction.

Plant and leaf developmental age are important determining factors of the biotic stress responses as they affect parameters such as primary and secondary metabolites and antioxidative capacity. First, the effects of leaf age and light quality on leaf resistance to *Botrytis*, and on metabolites, antioxidative enzymes, and leaf pigments were studied. Leaf age affected leaf resistance. This resistance increased from 1-week-old to 4-week-old leaves and decreased again in 5-week-old leaves independent of light quality. Based on this variation in leaf resistance, two-week-old leaves with high susceptibility were selected for further research. Generally, red light pretreatment improved leaf resistance to *B. cinerea*, while blue light decreased leaf resistance. This improvement in leaf resistance was negatively correlated with hydrogen peroxide level, and positively correlated with levels of chlorophyll and carotenoids.

Though red light pretreatment increases leaf resistance to *B. cinerea*, crops that develop under monochromatic red light might display a dysfunctional photosynthesis. Light presence is important in the outcome of the plant-*Botrytis* interaction, and the circadian clock also has a role in the regulation of leaf susceptibility. Therefore, we studied the effects of light

vii

presence, timing of light quality as well as timing of inoculation on leaf susceptibility to *B. cinerea*.

Light presence post-inoculation significantly decreased leaf susceptibility to *Botrytis*, irrespective of different light qualities or light conditions. The effects of 4 h of red/blue light followed with white light and 12 h of red/blue light followed by white light in a 16 h photoperiod on leaf susceptibility were compared. Four hours of red/blue light irradiation in the photoperiod did not alter leaf resistance, while 12 h blue or 12 h red light increased or decreased leaf susceptibility, respectively. This again showed the positive effect of red light on leaf resistance. Timing of inoculation revealed circadian variation in leaf susceptibility to B. cinerea. Susceptibility was highest in leaves inoculated in the evening (12 h after the start of photoperiod) followed by incubation in the dark. This coincided with the highest level of hydrogen peroxide, regulated by the circadian clock, at the moment of pathogen penetration (8 hours post-inoculation). When disease development took place under the light regime (12 h W + 4 h W or B or R/8 h Dark), the shorter the light period was after inoculation, the stronger the disease symptoms were, which again confirmed disease inhibition by the presence of light. The output of the circadian clock can be affected by environmental light signals. Twelve hours of red/blue light irradiation in the photoperiod resulted in the alteration of the circadian variation of leaf susceptibility, which was correlated with changes in leaf metabolites, such as hydrogen peroxide, total phenolics, and hexoses.

*Botrytis cinerea*, the fungal pathogen causing grey mold, displays a high degree of phenotypic diversity as well as variation in virulence. The last experimental chapter focused on the effects of light quality on the phenotypic variation of *B. cinerea* isolates. Virulence variation based on image analysis was assessed on strawberry leaves that had developed under white, blue, or red lights. *B. cinerea* differently responded to different light qualities in phenotypes such as mycelial growth, sporulation, and sclerotia formation. The *Botrytis* isolates showed significant variations in virulence, which was positively correlated to the production of oxalic acid by *B. cinerea in vitro*. Strawberry leaves that had grown under red light had improved resistance to all the tested *Botrytis* isolates, while blue light decreased leaf resistance to some isolates, again showing that red light improves leaf resistance to grey mold. Image analysis based on changes in chlorophyll fluorescence (F<sub>v</sub>/F<sub>m</sub>), chlorophyll index (Chlldx), and modified anthocyanin content (mArildx) showed that disease development caused by different *B. cinerea* isolates was highly correlated with F<sub>v</sub>/F<sub>m</sub>. This indicator can be used for the early detection of grey mold on strawberry leaves.

In conclusion, this study clearly showed the high potential of red LED light in disease control of grey mold on strawberry leaves, irrespective of various *Botrytis* isolates. Red light

viii

combined with short irradiation of white light in the photoperiod is beneficial not only for leaf resistance but also for normal plant growth. This study also provides more information about the phenotypic response of *Botrytis* isolates to different light conditions. Moreover, dark-adapted  $F_v/F_m$  is a useful indicator for early detection of grey mold based on image techniques.

Based on our findings, recommendations can be given to growers and scientific researchers. Red LED light is recommended for growers as the main lighting source in combination with white light to control *B. cinerea* disease in strawberry in greenhouse production. Leaf age and time of inoculation should be taken into account by researchers when doing assessments of plant disease severity. The use of young strawberry leaves is recommended owing to their high susceptibility. Studies on *Botrytis* should consider differences in sporulation capacity and virulence among isolates. For the development of grey mold early detection techniques, the F<sub>v</sub>/F<sub>m</sub> indicator is highly recommended.

### Samenvatting

Aardbei Fragaria x ananassa (Duchesne ex. Rozier) is economisch het belangrijkste zacht fruit in de wereld. Teeltsystemen in kassen voorzien tegenwoordig in de grootste productie van aardbeien wereldwijd. Echter, de oogst van aardbeien wordt beïnvloed door verschillende plantenziekten. De meest belangrijke in kassen is vruchtrot, veroorzaakt door Botrytis cinerea, vanwege de hoge luchtvochtigheid in deze gesloten omgeving. Ziektebestrijding vereist een uitgebreide hoeveelheid fungiciden, maar het beschikbare aantal producten is gelimiteerd, toepassing van fungiciden is duur, fungicide efficiëntie verschilt per Botrytis isolaat en fungicide resistentie is makkelijk opgebouwd door het pathogeen. Omdat licht de belangrijkste omgevingsfactor is in een kas teeltsysteem, wordt assimilatiebelichting vaak toegepast om lichtintensiteit te verhogen, de daglengte alsook het groeiseizoen naar het hele jaar te verlengen om de aardbeioogst te maximaliseren. LED's worden tegenwoordig, als nieuwste type kunstmatig licht, in toenemende mate gebruikt in kassen, omdat ze effectief zijn in het bevorderen van plantengroei en -ontwikkeling. Daarnaast kunnen LED's met een specifieke golflengte (lichtkwaliteit) ook plantenresistentie tegen *B. cinerea* beïnvloeden. Maar, deze pathogeen reageert ook op verschillende lichtcondities door middel van zijn elf fotoreceptoren. Dit geeft de mogelijkheid om ziektebestrijding milieuvriendelijk uit te voeren via toepassing van specifieke golflengte in kassen. In dit doctoraatsonderzoek hebben we effecten van lichtkwaliteit, voornamelijk blauw en rood licht, verkend op aardbei, B. cinerea en hun interactie.

Plant en blad ontwikkelingsleeftijd is een belangrijke bepalende factor van biotische stressrespons door het beïnvloeden van parameters als primaire en secundaire metabolieten, en antioxidantcapaciteit. Ten eerste werden de effecten van bladleeftijd en lichtkwaliteit op bladresistentie, metabolieten, antioxiderende enzymen en bladpigmenten bestudeerd. Bladleeftijd beïnvloedde bladresistentie. Deze resistentie verhoogde van één tot vier weken oude bladeren en verlaagde weer in vijf weken oude bladeren, onafhankelijk van lichtkwaliteit. Gebaseerd op deze variatie in bladresistentie werden bladeren die twee weken oud waren met een hoge vatbaarheid geselecteerd voor verder onderzoek. In het algemeen, voorbehandeling met rood licht verbeterde de bladresistentie tegen *B. cinerea*, terwijl blauw licht de bladresistentie verminderde. Deze verbetering in bladresistentie was negatief gecorreleerd met het waterstofperoxideniveau, en positief gecorreleerd met de niveaus van chlorofyl en carotenoïden.

Hoewel voorbehandeling met rood licht bladresistentie verhoogde tegen *B. cinerea*, kunnen gewassen die ontwikkelen onder monochromatisch rood licht een disfunctionele fotosynthese tonen. Aanwezigheid van licht is belangrijk in de uitkomst van de plant-*Botrytis* 

xi

interactie, en de circadiaanse klok heeft ook een rol in de regulatie van vatbaarheid van het blad. Daarom hebben we de effecten van aanwezigheid van licht, timing van lichtkwaliteit alsook inoculatie op vatbaarheid van het blad voor *B. cinerea* bestudeerd.

Aanwezigheid van licht na inoculatie verlaagde de vatbaarheid van het blad voor Botrytis significant, onafhankelijk van lichtkwaliteit of lichtcombinaties. De effecten op bladvatbaarheid van 4 uur rood/blauw licht gevolgd door wit licht werden vergeleken met 12 uur rood/blauw licht gevolgd door wit licht in een 16 uur fotoperiode. Vier uur rood/blauw belichting in de fotoperiode veranderde de bladresistentie niet, terwijl 12 uur blauw of 12 uur rood licht de bladvatbaarheid verhoogde of verlaagde, respectievelijk. Dit toonde weer het positieve effect van rood licht op bladresistentie. Timing van inoculatie onthulde de circadiaanse variatie in bladvatbaarheid voor B. cinerea. Vatbaarheid was het hoogst in bladeren die 's avonds geïnoculeerd werden (12 uur na de start van de fotoperiode), gevolgd door bladeren die in het donker geïnoculeerd werden. Dit viel samen met het hoogste niveau van waterstofperoxide, gereguleerd door de circadiaanse klok, op het moment van pathogeen penetratie (8 uur na inoculatie). Wanneer het ziekteverloop onder verschillende lichtregimes plaatsvond, bleek dat hoe korter de lichtperiode na inoculatie hoe sterker de ziektesymptomen waren, wat opnieuw remming van de ziekte door aanwezigheid van licht bevestigde. De output van de circadiaanse klok kan beïnvloed worden door lichtsignalen uit de omgeving. Twaalf uur van rood/blauw belichting in de fotoperiode resulteerde in een verandering van de circadiaanse variatie in bladvatbaarheid, wat gecorreleerd was met veranderingen in bladmetabolieten, zoals waterstofperoxide, fenolen en hexosen.

*Botrytis cinerea*, de schimmelpathogeen die vruchtrot veroorzaakt, toon een hoge mate van fenotypische diversiteit alsook variatie in virulentie. Het laatste experimentele hoofdstuk focuste op de effecten van lichtkwaliteit op fenotypische variatie van *B. cinerea* isolaten, en variatie in virulentie gebaseerd op beeldanalyse, werd beoordeeld van aarbeibladeren die zich hadden ontwikkeld onder wit, blauw of rood licht. *B. cinerea* reageerde verschillend op de verschillende lichtkwaliteiten in fenotypen zoals myceliale groei, sporulatie en sclerotia formatie. De *Botrytis* isolaten toonden significante variaties in virulentie, wat positief gecorreleerd was aan de productie van oxaalzuur van *B. cinerea in vitro*. Aardbeibladeren die onder rood licht gegroeid waren, hadden een verbeterde resistentie tegel alle geteste *Botrytis* isolaten, terwijl blauw licht bladresistentie verbetert tegen vruchtrot. Beeldanalyse gebaseerd op veranderingen in chlorofylfluorescentie (F<sub>v</sub>/F<sub>m</sub>), chlorofylindex (ChIldx), en aangepaste anthocyaaninhoud (mArildx), toonden dat het ziekteverloop veroorzaakt door verschillende *B. cinerea* isolaten sterk gecorreleerd met F<sub>v</sub>/F<sub>m</sub>. Deze indicator can gebruikt worden voor vroege detectie van vruchtrot op bladeren van de aardbei.

xii

Tot slot, deze studie heeft duidelijk het grote potentieel van rood LED licht in ziektebestrijding van vruchtrot in aardbeibladeren aangetoond, onafhankelijk van verschillende *Botrytis* isolaten. Rood licht gecombineerd met korte bestraling van wit licht in de fotoperiode is voordelig niet alleen voor de bladresistentie maar ook voor normale plantengroei. Deze studie biedt ook meer informatie over de fenotypische respons van *Botrytis* isolaten op verschillende lichtcondities. Bovendien,  $F_v/F_m$  is een nuttige indicator voor vroege detectie van vruchtrot gebaseerd op beeldanalyse.

Op basis van onze bevindingen kunnen aanbevelingen gegeven worden aan telers en wetenschappelijke onderzoekers. Rood LED licht wordt aangeraden voor telers als de belangrijkste lichtbron in combinatie met wit licht om ziekte veroorzaakt door *B. cinerea* te controleren in aardbei in kasproductie. Er zou rekening gehouden moeten worden met bladleeftijd en moment van inoculatie door onderzoekers tijdens beoordelingen van ernst van de plantenziekte. Het gebruik van jonge bladeren wordt aangeraden vanwege hun hoge vatbaarheid. Studies naar *Botrytis* zouden verschillen in sporulatie capaciteit en virulentie tussen isolaten moeten meenemen. Voor de ontwikkeling van vroege detectie technieken voor vruchtrot wordt de F<sub>v</sub>/F<sub>m</sub> indicator sterk aangeraden.

**Problem Statement and Thesis Outline** 

Strawberry, Fragaria x ananassa is the most economically important soft fruit around the world. The worldwide yield of strawberry ranks first within berry crops and its production increased from 4.5 million tonnes in 2000 to 8.3 million tonnes in 2018 worldwide (FAOSTAT, 2020). More than 70 countries produce strawberry and organic fruit production is becoming increasingly important (Wilbois et al., 2012). However, strawberry yield is mostly hampered by plant diseases, one of the most important being grey mold disease caused by *B. cinerea*. The control of this disease requires an extensive amount of fungicides, but fungicide applications are expensive and fungicide resistance is easily developed by the pathogen (Leroch et al., 2011, 2013; Leroux et al., 2010). In 2001 the total fungicide cost to control Botrytis was calculated to be c. €540 million, occupying 10% of the world's fungicide market (Dean et al., 2012). Moreover, many of these synthetic fungicides are being restricted because of their negative influence on the environment, and human and animal health (Petrasch et al., 2019). Therefore, the available number of products with active substances against fungal diseases has been steadily decreasing due to harsh regulations imposed by the government. On the other hand, using biocontrol agents to manage Botrytis has received much attention (Elad & Stewart, 2004; Elmer & Reglinski, 2006). However, effective commercial use of biocontrol agents is more problematic. Many studies reported that application of these biocontrol agents alone is not efficient in controlling strawberry grey mold in commercial horticulture (Boff et al., 2002; Gullino et al., 1989). Furthermore, the efficiency of biocontrol is often variable and inconsistent between studies.

Light is an important environmental factor that is perceived by both plants and pathogens through various photoreceptors and will affect the outcome of plant-pathogen interactions. Yet this interaction is hardly studied. Strawberry is increasingly produced in soilless production systems in greenhouses with the application of supplementary lighting during the winter months. More recently multilayer production in greenhouses (up to 4 layers) is investigated. In the lower layers, supplementary lighting with light-emitting diodes (LEDs) is necessary. Additionally, LEDs are already commercially used for extending the photoperiod thus optimizing flowering and fruit production in strawberry. Commercial LED lamps in greenhouse production typically combine blue and red wavelengths as these are highly absorbed by chlorophylls and thus promote photosynthesis and biomass production.

Given the increased use of LED lights in horticultural production, including strawberry, we need to gain insight into how light quality influences the strawberry-*Botrytis* interaction. In this thesis we focus on the two wavelengths that are dominantly applied in the LED lighting sources: red, blue and its combination.

The main objective of this thesis is to acquire a better understanding of the effects of blue and/or red wavelengths on the strawberry-*Botrytis* interaction.

### Therefore we formulated following research questions:

**RQ1**: What is the effect of light quality on vegetative morphology and antioxidant properties of strawberry leaves?

RQ2: Does leaf age have an effect on *B. cinerea* resistance in strawberry?

**RQ3**: Which of these antioxidants are correlated with changes in leaf resistance under the influence of light quality?

**RQ4**: What is the effect of pre- and/or post-inoculation treatment with different light qualities and their combinations on the interaction of strawberry with various *B. cinerea* isolates? Is the circadian clock involved in these regulations?

**RQ5**: How does light quality affect phenotype and pathogenicity of different *B. cinerea* isolates?

**RQ6**: Is it possible to use image-based technology to detect *Botrytis* infection at an early stage in strawberry?

### The layout of the thesis is as follows:

In **chapter 1** we introduce the photoreceptors in *B. cinerea* and plants, as well as their responses to different light qualities. We also give an introduction to grey mold disease caused by *B. cinerea* in greenhouse plants, as well as plant defense mechanisms against *B. cinerea*, with the main focus on strawberry.

**Chapter 2** studies effects of leaf age and light quality (monochromatic blue and red and dichromatic blue+red) on leaf metabolism and changes in basal resistance to *B. cinerea*. Levels of hydrogen peroxide, antioxidants (phenolics and flavonoids), anti-oxidative enzymes (ascorbate peroxidase, peroxides), and leaf pigments were measured in 1-week-old to 5-week-old leaves. Furthermore, correlations between leaf resistance and leaf metabolite levels were explored to understand their roles in influencing leaf resistance.

Since light affects the outcome of plant-pathogen interactions, in **Chapter 3**, the impact of pre- and post-inoculation light quality on *Botrytis* disease development was investigated in strawberry leaves. The effect of inoculation time, four hours end-of-day and 12 h start-of-day light quality treatments on leaf resistance were studied. Furthermore, circadian variations in leaf metabolism developed under 12 h light quality radiation were measured to explain changes in susceptibility to *B. cinerea*.

*B. cinerea* is a fungal pathogen that displays a high degree of phenotypic diversity and responds to a broad light spectrum via eleven photoreceptors. **Chapter 4** studies light quality effects on phenotypes of fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates, including mycelial growth rate, sporulation, and sclerotia formation. Pathogenicity of *Botrytis* isolates was tested in strawberry leaves from plants grown under white, blue, and red LED lights. Furthermore, we used image analysis to quantify virulence of the different *Botrytis* isolates based on changes in the photosynthetic performance of the strawberry leaves: chlorophyll fluorescence ( $F_v/F_m$ ), chlorophyll index (ChIldx) and anthocyanin content (modified anthocyanin reflection index, mArildx).

**Chapter 5** generally discusses the experimental chapters and gives some future perspectives.

# Chapter 1

# **General Introduction**

### 1.1 Light in greenhouse production

The greenhouse production system is nowadays a major cropping system supplying fresh soft fruit, vegetables, and ornamentals throughout the year all across the world. Most of the world's greenhouses are built between 25° and 65° latitude. At the higher latitudes periods of low solar irradiance and short days often limit crop production for a longer period. Hence, supplementary light is needed to extend the day length as well as to increase the daily light integral for a given crop thus ensuring a qualitative all-year-round production.

Light is a crucial environmental factor that drives plant growth, development and defense. Light is not only the energy source for photosynthesis but also acts as an external signal for regulating plant architecture, triggering developmental processes and influencing qualitative parameters of the horticultural product. So light control is increasingly used as an environment-friendly tool to manage horticultural crops produced in greenhouses. Artificial light sources have long been used in greenhouses to supplement natural light (Krizek et al., 1998). However, the traditional lighting sources such as fluorescent or high-pressure sodium lamps are neither spectrally optimal nor energetically efficient for many plant species. Furthermore, excessive heating when lamps are placed close to the plants may result in tissue damage (Dutta Gupta & Jatothu, 2013). With the evolving technology in lighting, new light sources such as LEDs have been developed and further improved over the years.

Now, LEDs are the newest type of artificial lighting being used in greenhouse production systems. These light sources have certain advantages over conventional light sources such as high-pressure sodium lamps. LED is a type of semiconductor diode that can easily be integrated into digital control systems. This allows the control of spectral composition and the adaptation of light intensity to match plant photoreceptors in order to optimize plant growth and to influence morphogenesis as well as different physiological processes over a course of plant developmental stages (Yeh & Chung, 2009). LED units can be placed close to plants, as they do not emit radiant heat (Dutta Gupta & Jatothu, 2013). Their long lifespan and high energy efficiency can reduce the electricity cost and investment in long-term operations in greenhouse industries (Singh, et al., 2015). Therefore, LEDs as a source of plant lighting is increasingly favored in greenhouse production by the producers.

LEDs emitting monochromatic light spectra or different spectral combinations have been used to study the effect of light on plant growth and development. It was shown that plants display a high degree of morphological and physiological plasticity when responding to different light qualities. The red/far-red and blue wavelengths of the light spectrum are widely used in vegetable and ornamental horticulture. Red/far-red light is responsible for branching, leaf elongation and orientation and can indirectly influence photosynthesis at the scale of the

whole plant (Demotes-Mainard et al., 2016). Blue light is of high importance for leaf expansion, petiole elongation, leaf orientation, pigment synthesis and stomatal opening (Huché-Thélier et al., 2016; Olle & Viršile, 2013). Supplemental LED lights based on blue and/or red light also increase transplant growth and quality in vegetable and forest nursery greenhouses (Landis, et al., 2013; Olle & Viršile, 2013). Moreover, the spectral quality of LED lights induces changes in primary and secondary plant metabolites leading to more resilience to diseases and pests (Meng, et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2010). Therefore, the use of LED technology for greenhouse horticulture is attractive and promising not only for plant growth and development but also for plant health.

Strawberry is a popular soft fruit crop worldwide and global strawberry consumption is on the rise. Strawberries can be grown in open field, under high tunnels covered by plastic, or in greenhouses. Nowadays, greenhouses provide the main production of strawberries around the world. In Belgium, greenhouse production is increasing year after year, from around 200 ha in 2000 to 545 ha in 2019 (STATBEL, 2020). In 2016, the greenhouse production of strawberry in the Netherlands exceeded the yield from open field for the first time, and in 2019 the production of strawberry under protection contributed to 68% of overall production (Centraal bureau voor de statistiek, 2018; 2020). In China, the biggest strawberry producer in the world, greenhouses contributed to almost 80% of strawberry production in 2009 (Mordini et al., 2009). Taken together, the introduction of the light-emitting diodes in greenhouses benefits the strawberry production during the winter months and also opens possibilities for innovation such as multi-layer production in greenhouses or strawberry production in plant factories. However, strawberry is susceptible to various pathogens. The grey mold fungus *B. cinerea* is considered one of the most important pathogens and causes impactful economical losses to the strawberry industry worldwide.

### 1.2 Botrytis cinerea, the cause of grey mold

### 1.2.1 Variability of *B. cinerea* isolates

*Botrytis cinerea* (Teleomorph *Botryotinia fuckeliana)* is a filamentous plant fungus with a necrotrophic lifecycle . The pathogen has a certain degree of host specialization and can cause grey mold on over 1000 plant species worldwide. *B. cinerea* isolates from different plants and regions display important variability in phenotype, pathogenicity and host range (Acosta Morel et al., 2019; Asadollahi et al., 2013; Corwin et al., 2016; Johnston et al., 2014; Karchani-Balma et al., 2008; Kuzmanovska et al., 2012; Mirzaei et al., 2009; Rasiukevičiūtė et al., 2018).

#### 1.2.1.1 Phenotypic variability

Phenotypic variability is mainly attributed to differences in colony morphology, mycelial growth, intensity of sporulation, size of conidia and sclerotia formation.



**Figure 1.1** Patterns of sclerotia distribution in different isolates of *B. cinerea* (A) sclerotia absent; (B) centrally placed large sclerotia; (C) sclerotia arranged in concentric rings; (D) sclerotia arranged on the periphery; (E) sclerotia arranged irregularly (Kumari et al., 2014).

The colonies of *B. cinerea* are primarily grouped in two main classes: mycelial type and sclerotial type based on the absence/presence of sclerotia. The mycelial type can be further divided into four subclasses mainly according to mycelial morphology and includes short, aerial, mycelial masses, and thick and woolly mycelium. The sclerotial type is subgrouped based on the pattern of sclerotia distribution in Petri plates, such as centrally placed large sclerotia, sclerotia arranged in concentric rings or on the periphery, and sclerotia placed irregularly (Figure 1.1) (Kumari, et al., 2014; Kuzmanovska et al., 2012; Martinez et al., 2003; Mirzaei, et al., 2009). One hundred and eleven strains that were isolated from grapevine in France and one hundred and twenty-three Botrytis isolates that were collected from tomato in 7 different regions in the Republic of Macedonia were studied for their phenotypic diversity. Eight different morphological types were identified with four mycelial and four sclerotial classes in the isolates from France, while one more class was found in the tomato isolates, which was a transient type between mycelial and sclerotia morphological classes (Kuzmanovska et al., 2012; Fabian Martinez et al., 2003). Additionally, forty-four B. cinerea isolates from different hosts and regions in Iran were also grouped into the same eight different classes (Mirzaei, et al., 2009). Furthermore, Kuzmanovska et al. (2012) also noted morphological variations between B. cinerea strains from different regions in mycelium color (from dirty white to dark grey) and conidia size. Mycelial growth rate correlated negatively with the virulence of *B. cinerea* isolates from grapevine in France. Therefore, morphological

differences between isolates from different hosts and regions could be related to their aggressiveness and life-strategy such as the survival role of sclerotia in an unfavorable environment (Fabian Martinez et al., 2003).

#### 1.2.1.2 Pathogenic variability

*B. cinerea* is a fungal pathogen that exhibits a high degree of pathogenic variability. Despite its wide host range, a certain degree of host specialization exists in this pathogen (Muñoz et al., 2002; Thompson & Latorre, 1999). For example, Cotoras and Silva (2005) reported that *B. cinerea* strains isolated from tomato were more virulent on tomato leaves than isolates from grapes. Furthermore, a study of 490 isolates from open-field crops based on microsatellite loci suggested the occurrence of host-specific divergence of *B. cinerea* in perennial hosts (Asadollahi et al., 2013).

Pathogenic variability results from variations in the production of a series of enzymes and phytotoxic factors by *Botrytis*. The production of various enzymes helps penetration into plant cells, including pectic enzymes, such as endopolygalacturonase, methylesterase, and pectin lyases. In *B. cinerea*, at least six endopolygalacturonase genes are found, and the expression of these genes during plant infection differs depending on plant tissues, plant species and incubation conditions, suggesting a certain degree of functional diversity (Ten Have et al., 2001). Movahedi and Heale (1990) revealed that the production of polygalacturonase, pectin lyases and pectin methylesterase varied between different *B. cinerea* isolates with respect to the time of production during the primary stages of infection. A study on 79 *B. cinerea* isolates showed variations in activities of these enzymes depending on the isolate (Kumari et al., 2014). However, no differences were observed by Reignault et al., (1994) in pectin methylesterase profile between 25 *B. cinerea* strains from different hosts, different geographical regions, and/or different years of isolation. The different profile of these enzymes in causing cell death leads to the variability of virulence in *B. cinerea* isolates.

Oxalic acid, as a potential virulence factor, is synthesized and secreted by *B. cinerea* in large amounts into host tissue to stimulate the infection. High levels of oxalic acid production by *B. cinerea* are correlated with enhanced pathogen invasion, while lower oxalic acid levels are associated with lower virulence (Kumari et al., 2014; Sun et al., 2019). Therefore, the extensive deviations in virulence between *B. cinerea* isolates are the consequence of differences in secretion of virulence factors, such as cell wall invasive enzymes, oxalic acid, toxins, reactive oxygen species and so on (Nakajima & Akutsu, 2014).

### 1.2.1.3 Genetic variability

*B. cinerea* is known as a pathogen that has a very high degree of genetic variability. The study of its genetic diversity is based on various molecular tools, including PCR detection of transposable elements (Martinez et al., 2008), RFLP analysis of PCR-amplified loci (Baraldi et al., 2002; Muñoz et al., 2002), PCR amplification of microsatellite loci (Asadollahi et al., 2013; Isenegger et al., 2008), and randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis (Alfonso et al., 2000; Pande et al., 2010). Molecular markers have elucidated the considerable variation in DNA content per nucleus, high gene flow and recombinations among *B. cinerea* populations from different geographical regions as well as different host plants (Büttner et al., 1994; Kumari et al., 2014; Kuzmanovska et al., 2012; Mirzaei et al., 2009). This can explain the genetic diversity and phenotypic instability in most isolates of this pathogen.

On the other hand, sexual reproduction and meiotic recombination may be a potentially significant source of genetic variation in this pathogenic fungus. Sexual bodies formed after fertilization of sclerotia of one isolate with the microconidia (spermatia) from another isolate, generate new genotypes, and contribute to the genetic diversity and evolutionary potential (McDonald & Linde, 2002). Its complexity, variability and adaptive potential hamper disease management based on fungicide and host resistance (Muñoz et al., 2002).

### 1.2.2 Responses of B. cinerea to light quality

*B. cinerea* responds to near-UV/blue (350-500 nm), green (around 540 nm), red and far-red light (650–780 nm) by using eleven photoreceptors (Figure 1.2). The photoreceptors in this fungus are composed of an apoprotein and a chromophore that binds with different domains. Upon the light signals sensed by the photoreceptors, *B. cinerea* makes decisions for its growth, survival and protection (Schumacher, 2017).

### 1.2.2.1 Near-UV/blue light photoreceptors and opsins

In *B. cinerea*, near-UV light and blue light are absorbed by cryptochromes (CRY)/photolyases and LOV (light, oxygen, voltage) domain-containing proteins. CRYs are proteins with similarity to photolyases (PLs) and both of them exhibit similar domain structures, i.e. amino-terminal PHR (PL-related) and carboxy-terminal FAD-binding domains. In total, six proteins have been identified in *B. cinerea*, including BcCry 1 and 2 for near-UV light sensing, and BcWcl1, BcVvd1, BcLov3 and BcLov4 for blue light absorption. Generally, near-UV light stimulates conidiation in *B. cinerea*, whereas blue light represses both spore and sclerotia production (Tan & Epton, 1973). Hence, near-UV light is used to induce sporulation in laboratory conditions, and blue light is investigated for its potential to inhibit

disease development caused by *B. cinerea*. For example, the development of grey mold was significantly inhibited by blue light irradiance in lettuce (Kook et al., 2013). Moreover, blue LED light suppressed mycelial growth of a *B. cinerea* isolate from a tomato plant in China, and this led to a slight (3.6%) inhibition of tomato lesion development in comparison to the dark control (Xu et al., 2017). However, high disease suppression by blue-LED was observed on tomato leaves caused by a *B. cinerea* strain collected in South Korea (Kim et al., 2013).



**Figure 1.2** The eleven potential photoreceptors in *B. cinerea*. GeneIDs refer to the revised *B. cinerea* B05.10 genome sequence (Van Kan et al., 2017). Conserved domains are: PHR (DNA photolyase); FAD-binding; LOV (light-oxygen-voltage); PAS (Per-Arnt-Sim); ZN (GATA-type zinc finger); RGS (regulator of G protein signaling); Rhodopsin (Bacteriorhodopsin-like); GAF (cGMP-specific phosphodiesterases, Adenylyl cyclases and FhIA); PHY (phytochrome region); HK (His Kinase A phospho-acceptor); ATP (Histidine kinase-, DNA gyrase B-, and HSP90-like ATPase); RRD (response regulator receiver). Conserved residues involved in chromophore binding are indicated in color, those required for HK activity in PHYs in gray (Schumacher, 2017).

On the other hand, germ tube growth of *B. cinerea* exhibits negative tropism under near-UV. Under blue light, a further slight reduction was observed. A study on onion and broad bean epidermal strips showed negative phototropism caused by near-UV and blue light which contributed to the increased number of penetrating germ tubes from *B. cinerea* spores (Islam et al., 1998).

Rhodopsins are transmembrane proteins that use retinal to sense green light. *B. cinerea* produces two opsins BOP1 and BOP2, which are responsible for the inhibition of mycelial growth and conidial germination rate caused by green light (Schumacher, 2017).
#### 1.2.2.2 Phytochromes

Phytochromes (PHY) are histidine kinases using bilin to sense red/far-red light and three phytochromes (BcPHY1, BcPHY2, and BcPHY3) exist in *B. cinerea*. Sclerotia production is promoted by both red and far-red lights. Conidiation is slightly stimulated by red and far-red light (Tan & Epton, 1973). The inhibition of sporulation by blue light can be overcome by far-red light, and this effect of far-red is nullified by further exposure to red and blue light. Based on these observations, a two-receptor model has been postulated. In this model, the red/far-red absorbing photoreceptor interacts closely with the near-UV/blue reversible photoreceptor (Tan, 1975). Although no near-UV/blue light-reversible phytochromes have been found in a genome study of *B. cinerea*, red light and blue light-sensing systems are interdependent as the expression of PHY-encoding genes depends on the blue-light photoreceptor (Canessa et al., 2013). Additionally, red light promotes the growth of germ tubes, and induces positive phototropism in *B. cinerea*, while far-red light inhibits elongation and causes negative phototropism. Therefore, red light decreases the number of penetrating germ tubes on onion and broad bean epidermal cells, resulting in a large number of germ tubes merely growing across the surface of plant tissue (Islam et al., 1998).

## 1.2.2.3 General photomorphogenesis

In general, the presence or absence of light induces different responses in B. cinerea. In this fungus, sporulation is triggered in the light, but short darkness is also important for proper conidiation, as more conidia are formed on medium plates when they are submitted to lightdark cycles compared to constant light (Tan & Epton, 1973). Sclerotia formation for survival exclusively occurs in cultures in complete darkness, but this can be affected by the light dosages. Fewer sclerotia were formed when irradiated for 30 min compared to 15 min, and none were observed when irradiated for more than 60 min. Furthermore, sclerotia formation is promoted by red and far-red light (Tan & Epton, 1973). However, blind B. cinerea strains were observed showing the same phenotypes in both light and darkness, they always produce mycelia, or sclerotia, or conidia irrespective of the surrounding light environment (Canessa et al., 2013). For example, a nonpathogenic mutant A336, obtained via insertional mutagenesis, always gives conidia, independent of light or darkness (Kunz et al., 2006). Thus, B. cinerea can be classified into light-responsive strains and blind strains. Canessa et al. (2013) studied 72 wild Botrytis strains isolated from different hosts, 79% of the strains formed conidia and sclerotia in a light-dependent fashion, 15% of isolates were blind ones. Therefore, both light-responsive and blind strains are present in nature (Canessa et al., 2013).

## 1.2.3 Grey mold symptoms caused by B. cinerea

#### 1.2.3.1 *B. cinerea* disease in greenhouse crops

*B. cinerea* causes disease in almost all major crops produced under protected cultivation, such as lettuce, sweet basil, tomato, cucumber, strawberry, kiwifruit, rose, gerbera, and most flowering potted plants. The symptoms of grey mold caused by *B. cinerea* are very different in greenhouse crops in comparison to crops in open field and orchards, as the disease development is more predictable and less weather-dependent in greenhouses. Greenhouse production can protect the crops from bad weather, such as rain, wind, and cold though here high humidity enhances the risk of *Botrytis* infection.

*B. cinerea* in greenhouse crops occurs in different organs and at different stages depending on the plant. In vegetables, this fungus may infect leaves, stems, and fruits. In sweet basil, *B. cinerea* usually starts its infection through stem wounds caused by harvesting and then develops on stems, finally killing leaves and new buds until plant death (Sharabani et al., 1999). However, in lettuce plants, *B. cinerea* usually grows as an endophyte, this is often symptomless and may arise from seed infection (Sowley et al., 2010). In tomato, this pathogen develops infection on flowers, fruits, leaves, and stems in a non-heated greenhouse, while the infection is limited to stems when grown in a heated greenhouse. This stem infection can also lead to plant death by girdling the plant (Jarvis, 1989; Shtienberg et al., 1998). *B. cinerea* is an important disease in strawberry, which will be introduced later. In cut flowers such as rose and gerbera, grey mold and botrytis blight are very damaging diseases, as the fungus causes lesions on petals thus greatly reducing the market value of the flowers (Dik & Wubben, 2007). In potted plants such as *Pelargonium*, the susceptibility of flowers rapidly increases with age after anthesis (Sirjusingh & Sutton, 1996).

*B. cinerea* disease in greenhouse crops is influenced by several factors, including greenhouse climate, light, carbon dioxide enrichment, sanitation, cultivar, plant spacing, cropping methods, fertilizer, and irrigation. Amongst these factors, the greenhouse climate and lighting system are the most important. Temperature and relative humidity both have a direct outcome on *B. cinerea* epidemics, and temperature greatly influences relative humidity and leaf wetness in the greenhouse. Infection is most successfully at 15-20 °C with free water or relative humidity above 90% for at least 4 h (Carisse, 2016). Water droplets on the surface of plants or high humidity enable nutrient leaching from the conidia by water, this benefits the germination of conidia (Brodie & Blakeman, 1977). Light not only affects the temperature and relative humidity, but also has direct effects on this pathogen (see 1.2.2). Finally, the host plants also affect the virulence of the pathogen (Dik & Wubben, 2007).

## 1.2.3.2 Grey mold in strawberry

*B. cinerea* is a very important disease-causing fungal pathogen in strawberry. It causes grey mold in senescing flowers and on fruit at different stages, but it also can infect vegetative tissues, such as leaves and petioles (Figure 1.3). It is considered the primary pathogen for strawberry production that leads to serious yield reduction and postharvest losses.



**Figure 1.3** Infections of *B. cinerea* in strawberry. A: a senesced flower with *B. cinerea* mycelium growth; B: an advanced floral infection; C: infection of fruit at an early stage; D: infection of fruit at mature stage; E and F: *B. cinerea* infection on leaves (Petrasch et al., 2019).

*B. cinerea* enters the host via wounds or natural openings, but it is also able to penetrate directly into host tissue by appressoria (Holz, et al., 2007; Salinas & Verhoeff, 1995). Grey mold in strawberry can arise from the primary infection of open flowers or from secondary infections by penetrating fruit receptacle tissues (Bristow et al., 1986).

In primary infection, flower organs such as petals, stamens, and calyxes are getting infected by the pathogen during or right after flowering (Figure 1.4). The sources of inoculum for primary infection come from overwintering sclerotia to conidia or mycelium from neighboring diseased plants (Jarvis, 1962). The infected flower organs allow *B. cinerea* mycelium to develop into the receptacle, thus facilitating the primary infection in fruit. Following this primary infection in unripe receptacle fruit, *B. cinerea* mycelial growth is usually retarded and a symptomless quiescent phase occurs. This quiescence in unripe fruit is proposed to be caused by several reasons, such as lack of nutrients from the host, presence of antifungal



compounds, and an unsuitable environment for the development of infections (Prusky & Lichter, 2007).



In secondary infections, *B. cinerea* initiates its necrotrophic infection without latency (Holz et al., 2007). The sources of spores for these infections range from *B. cinerea*-infected leaves to infected fruit or from infected flower parts (Figure 1.4). The infected flower organs are the main source for secondary infection, as more than 64% of the strawberry infections result from their contact with fruit. Senescent flower parts often contact with strawberries long enough to create a humid environment for at least 8 h, which gives the needed time for conidia germination (Jarvis, 1962). Secondary infections can also arise from nesting, which corresponds to direct penetration by mycelium growing from infected leaves and fruits of neighboring plants (Braun & Sutton, 1988). Generally, secondary infections develop quickly in fruit and the pathogen can finish its germination and invasion as fast as 16 h after inoculation (Mehli et al., 2005).

## 1.2.3.3 Disease management for *B. cinerea* in strawberry

Many disease management methods have been applied for grey mold control in strawberries, such as cultural practices, chemical and biological control, and resistance breeding (Petrasch et al., 2019).

Several horticultural practices have historically been used to prevent B. cinerea infection in strawberry production, such as removal of senescent plant parts to avoid inoculum production, and non-contacting of fruit with soil (Daugaard, 1999). Drip irrigation and microsprinkler irrigation systems have been selected to limit the incidence of grey mold by reducing inoculum spreading and water film formation on the fruit (Dara et al, 2016; Terry et al., 2007). These cultural practices are necessary to limit B. cinerea infection in strawberry before harvesting. In modern production systems, fungicide implementations are the most common method to control B. cinerea. The frequency and timing of fungicide applications are important for grey mold control. Due to multi-resistance of different B. cinerea isolates to fungicides, rotation and combination of different fungicides with different modes of action or testing local isolate resistance are recommended for disease control (Hahn, 2014; Wedge et al., 2007). To date, biological products for *B. cinerea* control are applied, but their use is limited in commercial strawberry production due to their poor applicability in the field or the supply chain as well as high cost in comparison to conventional grey mold control (Pertot et al., 2017). On the other hand, improving strawberry resistance against *B. cinerea* is the best way for disease control. However, complete resistance genotypes of F. x ananassa have not been observed, nor cultivars from breeding programs. Currently, genetic techniques such as trans- or cis-genesis are used to modify strawberry cultivars. Several studies showed these approaches greatly improved strawberry tolerance to grey mold, however, no genetically modified strawberry cultivars are grown yet for commercial production (Bestfleisch et al., 2015; Petrasch et al., 2019). In greenhouse production, heating and fan ventilation, and opening of the greenhouse side vents are usually used to dry the foliage and reduce the leaf wetness, thus reducing Botrytis incidence. Additionally, red LED light has been reported to improve leaf basal resistance to B. cinerea in strawberry, which can be a promising method for disease control in the greenhouse (Meng et al., 2019, see Chapter 2, 3 and 4). In summary, although combined management strategies cannot completely prevent B. cinerea in strawberry (Feliziani & Romanazzi, 2016), novel breeding approaches and new lighting technology (LEDs) can be helpful to achieve maximum control of grey mold.

# 1.3 Plant defense mechanisms to B. cinerea

## 1.3.1 B. cinerea infection strategies

*Botrytis cinerea*, the causal agent of grey mold disease is a ubiquitous filamentous, heterothallic fungal pathogen infecting a wide range of plant species. The pathogen uses modified hyphae as infection structures and can infect all aboveground host organs, causing enormous damage both during plant growth and in the post-harvest phase. Infection of host tissue can be achieved by active penetration or by passive ingresses, such as infection sites previously infected by other pathogens and infection via open stomata. However, *B. cinerea* is perfectly able to penetrate host surfaces. Before penetration, attachment of conidia on the host surface is firstly required. Following attachment, the conidia germinate and produce germ tubes on the host surface under moist conditions followed by the formation of appressoria. The appressoria produce a high turgor pressure to support the penetration process (Howard et al., 1991). During this penetration, *B. cinerea* enters the host organ by secreting lytic enzymes and phytotoxins in the host plant (van Kan, 2006). Consequently, the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) occurs at the host-pathogen interface, leading to plant cell death (Tenberge et al., 2002). Both the pathogen as well as host enzymes contribute to the oxidative burst (Mellersh et al., 2002; Tian et al., 2013). Upon the death of an invaded cell, primary necrotic lesions are initially established and the host defense is simultaneously activated in host plants.

## 1.3.2 Mechanisms of plant defense against B. cinerea

The entry of *B. cinerea* to the host occurs by penetration directly through the cell wall, or invasion through natural openings. The first layer of defense or pre-formed defense depends on physical and chemical barriers. Physical barriers include wax layers, hair, epidermal cell walls, and stomata. Chemical barriers comprise a broad range of secondary metabolites, phytoanticipins, and antimicrobial proteins or peptides. The efficiency of these physical and chemical barriers to a particular microbial attacker, as well as the speed and extent at which they are established in inducible reactions, is believed to determine whether a plant becomes infected by the potential pathogen (Ashry & Mohamed, 2011; Bennett & Wallsgrove, 1994; Pusztahelyi et al., 2015). Therefore, the quality of these barriers plays an important role in inhibiting the infection at the initiating stage. The wax and hair help indirectly in resistance to penetration. The abscisic acid (ABA)-deficient tomato mutant sitiens exhibits a decrease in leaf trichome number which was associated with higher cuticle permeability, and a significant negative correlation was observed between permeability and susceptibility in *sitiens*, thus higher cuticle permeability resulted in higher resistance to B. cinerea (Curvers et al., 2010). The thickness or toughness of cell walls may directly delay the entrance of the pathogen (Akai, 2012). In addition, phenolics, as secondary metabolites, can function as antimicrobial compounds that directly inhibit spore germination and mycelial growth. In kiwifruit cultivar Actinidia chinensis "Hort 16A", higher constitutive concentrations of phenolics contributed to the higher basal resistance against B. cinerea (Wurms et al., 2003b). The pathogen that overcomes these defensive barriers activates plant inducible defense responses.

Plants activate various defense mechanisms against *B. cinerea* infection by recognizing pathogen-derived microbial-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and host damage-

associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (Newman et al., 2013). PAMPs/DAMPs bound by plant innate pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) serve as early warning signals to activate the inducible immune system in plants. Chitin, the major constituent of the fungal cell wall act as a PAMP that is recognized by host plasma membrane receptors RLK1 (receptor-like kinase1) and LYM2 (LysM domain-containing glycosylphosphatidylinositolan-chored protein 2) (Faulkner et al., 2013; Miya et al., 2007). DAMPs are endogenous elicitors that are released from plant tissue during pathogen infection or under abiotic stress (De Lorenzo et al., 2011). Oligogalacturonides (OGs), pectin fragments released from the plant cell wall by fungal enzymes, function as DAMPs and contribute to a plant defense against *B. cinerea* (Ferrari et al., 2013).

Following the recognition of PAMPs/DAMPs, plants can respond with a series of defenses to inhibit pathogen growth. These responses include both physical changes and biochemical responses. The physical responses consist of cell wall thickening, callose deposition, or formation of cork layers, biochemical responses comprise production of ROS, and activation of salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonate (JA)-dependent signaling pathways (Chisholm et al., 2006; Jones & Dangl, 2006). For example, hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  as reactive oxygen species plays an important role in plant resistance to *B. cinerea*. In plants,  $H_2O_2$  has two sides in regulating defense reaction (Chamnongpol et al., 1998; Govrin & Levine, 2000). Generally,  $H_2O_2$  is involved in the stimulation of several defense reactions, such as induction of defense genes, phytoalexin synthesis, and hypersensitive response (Chen, et al., 1993). In tomato, accumulation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> at the early stage is linked with resistance to *B. cinerea* in the ABA-deficient tomato mutant sitiens (Asselbergh et al., 2007). Specifically, upon Botrytis infection, accumulation of ROS in epidermal cells triggered the epidermal hypersensitive response (HR)-mediated defense response and cell wall fortification via the phenylpropanoid pathway. Concurrently, in the mesophyll cells, the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle is constantly replenished by overactivation of the glutamine synthetase/glutamate synthase (GS/GOGAT) cycle and the y-aminobutyric acid (GABA) shunt, thus controlling the defense-associated HR and slowing down the infection-induced senescence (Seifi et al., 2013). On the contrary, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> accumulation is involved in successful infection by *Botrytis* at later stages of the infection. In Arabidopsis, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is positively correlated with necrosis produced by *B. cinerea* (Govrin & Levine, 2000). Increased  $H_2O_2$  levels by salicylic acid pretreatment or  $H_2O_2$ pretreatment increased leaf susceptibility to *Botrytis* in broad beans (Khanam et al., 2005). In secondary metabolism, phenolics can contribute to cell wall thickening to physically protect the plant against pathogen attack (Chérif et al., 2007). Increased production of phenolic compounds is one of the best characterized responses to different stresses, and higher content of phenolics leads to a higher resistance to B. cinerea (Wurms et al., 2003). The

hormones such as SA, JA and ethylene (ET) have been known to play vital roles in defense against B. cinerea. For instance, the effect of SA in immune responses is plant-species dependent. SA application significantly improved the resistance to *B. cinerea* in tomato leaves (Angulo et al., 2015), while accumulation of SA in Arabidopsis bik1 mutant was shown to have a positive correlation with susceptibility to B. cinerea (Veronese et al., 2006). JA signaling pathway has positive effects in inducing plant resistance against *B. cinerea*. Arabidopsis mutants with enhanced endogenous JA levels displayed enhanced resistance to B. cinerea (Bonaventure et al. 2007; Coego et al., 2005). In contrast, JA-knockout mutants with decreased JA levels showed increased susceptibility to Botrytis species (Thomma et al., 1998). ET signaling pathway is an essential component in plant defense against necrotrophic pathogens, which can be triggered by pathogen invasion or PAMP recognition (Shakeel et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2011). In Arabidopsis, mutations conferring ethylene insensitivity, such as ethylene insensitive (ein2 and ein3) and ethylene receptor1 (etr1), led to an alteration in ET signaling and resulted in enhanced susceptibility to B. cinerea. While, overexpression of ethylene response factor (ERF1) increases resistance to the pathogen infection (Berrocallobo et al., 2002; Ferrari et al., 2003). Generally, the hormone signaling pathway does not respond to pathogen invasions alone, crosstalk between different hormone signaling pathways are necessary to fine-tune plant defenses (AbuQamar et al., 2017).

## 1.3.3 Defense mechanisms to *B. cinerea* in strawberry

In strawberry, information about defense mechanisms against B. cinerea is mostly obtained from flowers and fruits, the information on leaf infection is limited, hence this part is mainly based on the results from flowers and fruits. The defense mechanism can be divided into passive (preformed) and active (induced) defenses. A schematic overview of known strawberry defense mechanisms is shown in Figure 1.5. When challenged by a *B. cinerea* infection, cuticle and cell wall as physical barriers play important roles in responding to the pathogen. A clear relationship between skin strength or fruit firmness and susceptibility to pathogen infection was reported by Barritt (1980) and Gooding (1976). For chemical barriers, Terry et al. (2004) reported that crude extracts of strawberry flowers at post-anthesis, especially the achenes, showed greater antifungal activity than the white bud and full bloom stages, and confirmed that antifungal compounds, many of which are phenolic compounds, are inhibitory to *B. cinerea*. Several studies have also found a positive correlation between the concentration of proanthocyanidins (PAs) and resistance to B. cinerea. Hébert et al. (2001, 2002) observed that strawberry cultivars with higher levels of PAs, which are mainly free and bound catechin and epicatechin, were more resistant to Botrytis infection. Induced defenses include cell wall reinforcement, accumulation of secondary metabolites, phytohormones production, oxidative burst, and so on. For example, the surroundings of

strawberry infection sites display a higher concentration of proanthocyanins, which possibly function to restrict fungal growth (Feucht et al., 1992; Jersch et al., 2018). Strawberries generally accumulate ROS around *Botrytis* infection sites, which can serve as an effective defense against the pathogen but also can lead to cell death and benefit necrotrophic fungi (Prusky & Lichter, 2007; Tomas-Grau et al., 2018). It was reported that strawberry produces proteins with antifungal activities, and antimicrobial products, such as diterpenoid phytoalexins, upon pathogen infection. For instance, overexpression of an *F. × ananassa* gene (*FaPE1*) that encodes pectin methyl esterase related to formation of the cell wall architecture in *Fragaria vesca*, increased strawberry resistance to *B. cinerea* (Osorio et al., 2008). The accumulation of catechin-derived procyanidins was fundamental to inhibit *B. cinerea* growth in immature strawberry fruits (Puhl & Treutter, 2008). Exogenous application of SA at appropriate concentrations to strawberry fruits increased resistance to *B. cinerea*, and effectively inhibited postharvest decay (Babalar et al., 2007).





# 1.4 Plant responses to light

Light is one of the most crucial environmental factors for the entire life cycle of plants. It is needed not only as an energy source for photosynthesis but also for a fine-tuned regulation

of growth and development. To perceive and respond to the ever-changing light environment, plants have five families of photoreceptors: phytochromes (phy), cryptochromes (cry), phototropins, Zeitlupe family, and the UVB photoreceptor UVR8 (Figure 1.5). With these photoreceptors, plants can sense light signals from the environment to guide their development, such as germination, vegetative growth, organ orientation and transition to flowering.

## 1.4.1 Plant photoreceptors

#### 1.4.1.1 Phytochromes

Red (600-700 nm) and far-red (700-800 nm) light are sensed by phytochromes in plants (Figure 1.6a). The phytochrome molecule is a 240 kDa apoprotein that exists as a dimeric chromopeptide with a N-terminal region and a C-terminal output region. The amino-terminal domain that binds a phytochromobilin tetrapyrrole chromophore is thought to define the photosensory activity of the phytochrome molecule. The carboxy-terminal region functions in dimerization and presumably contributes to relaying the light signal to downstream signaling events (Burgie & Vierstra, 2014). In the model plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*, there are five phytochromes: PhyA, PhyB, PhyC, PhyD, and PhyE, and all of them perceive red and far-red light (Clack et al., 1994; Kami et al., 2010). All phytochromes exist under two photoconvertible forms: Pr, the red light-absorbing phy and Pfr, far-red light-absorbing phy. The biologically inactive (Pr) form is transformed into an active (Pfr) form upon absorption of red light. In turn, Pfr is rapidly back-transformed to the inactive Pr following far-red light irradiation or slowly by thermal reversion (Burgie et al., 2014; Burgie & Vierstra, 2014). Thus the spectral photon flux distribution in the red and far-red wavelengths known as red:far-red ratio is strongly correlated with the equilibrium between the two forms.



**Figure 1.6** Light absorption spectrum, chromophore structure and domain organization of plant photoreceptors. A: phytochromes; B: cryptochromes; C: LOV proteins, phototropins and Zeitlupes; and D: UVR8. HKRD, histidine kinase-related domain; PAS, Per-Arndt-Sim domain; GAF, cGMP phosphodiesterase/adenyl cyclase/Fh1A domain; F, F=box domain; β-propeller domains (B1-B7) (Galvão & Fankhauser, 2015).

Phytochromes mediate different processes through the whole life cycle of plants, including induction of seed germination, seedling de-etiolation, flowering time, fruit quality, root elongation, tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses, as well as the shade avoidance syndrome (Ballaré & Pierik, 2017; Courbier & Pierik, 2019; Demotes-Mainard et al., 2016). Low red:far-red ratio is reported to promote seed germination, stem and petiole elongation and leaf length increase. In Arabidopsis, a low red:far-red ratio causes leaves to bend upward by altering the petiole angle, and leads to reduced branching by inhibition of bud outgrowth. Through its influence on branching, leaf area and leaf orientation, the red:far-red irradiance can indirectly alter photosynthesis at the scale of the whole plant (Demotes-Mainard et al., 2016). Furthermore, far-red light or *phyB* mutation can either promote or reduce drought tolerance, depending on the species. For instance, decreased drought

tolerance by delaying stomatal closure was found in *phyB* mutants of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (González et al., 2012). Whereas in rice (*Oryza sativa*), *phyB* mutants promote its tolerance by decreasing stomatal density under drought conditions (Liu et al., 2012). Moreover, plants that are exposed to low red:far-red ratios or *phyB* mutants are more susceptible to herbivores or pathogens (Cerrudo et al., 2012; Islam et al., 1998; Kazan & Manners, 2011). This is mainly correlated to changes in leaf morphology, lower chlorophyll content, and down-regulation of the jasmonate and salicylic acid signaling pathways under low red:far-red ratios (Ballaré, 2014; Demotes-Mainard et al., 2016).

In strawberry (*Fragariaxananassa*), two phytochrome genes *FaPHYA* and *FaPHYB* have been identified (Kadomura-Ishikawa et al., 2013). Positive effects of red mulch in fruit yield and quality possibly indicated the effective role of phytochromes in inducing physico-chemical properties in strawberry (Casierra-posada et al., 2011). End-of-day far-red light strongly promotes flowering while red light has an opposite effect, blue light results in a weak promoting effect, suggesting phytochromes are major photoreceptors in the photoperiodic control of flowering in woodland strawberry (*Fragaria vesca*) (Rantanen et al., 2014). In everbearing strawberries, blue LEDs resulted in earlier flowering compared to red light (Yoshida et al., 2012). Furthermore, end-of-day far-red light improved phytochrome levels in short-day strawberry, leading to an alteration in flowering (Zahedi & Sarikhani, 2016; 2017). Irradiation with blue light during the night phase (16:00 to 08:00) promoted flowering and fruiting by decreasing endogenous gibberellic acid levels and increasing endogenous cytokinin levels in everbearing strawberry (Magar et al., 2018).

#### 1.4.1.2 Cryptochromes

Cryptochromes are photoreceptors that perceive UV-A (315-400 nm) and blue (400-500 nm) radiations with two wavelengths optima (370 and 450 nm) (Figure 1.6b). They are flavoproteins with structural homology to photolyases. Unlike photolyases, cryptochromes have no enzymatic activity to repair UV-damaged DNA, and display a carboxy-terminal region (Lin & Todo, 2005). This terminal region with variable extensions is essential for the photoreceptor function and is not found in photolyases. The amino-terminal domain of the cryptochrome molecule contains two types of chromophores: a light-harvesting pterin at one site and a catalytic FAD at another site (Yang et al., 2000). In the dark, Cry mainly exists as a monomer. Upon absorption of blue light, photons that convey light input information are accepted by the FAD chromophore, thus leading to Cry-active dimer formation. The photoactivated Cry interacts with downstream proteins to regulate different biological processes (Chaves et al., 2011; Shao et al., 2020). In Arabidopsis, three cryptochromes have been identified, Cry1, Cry2 and Cry3. In strawberry, *FaCry1* and *FaCry2* have been

isolated in *Fragaria×ananassa* (Kadomura-Ishikawa et al., 2013). Cry1 and Cry2 are both localized in the nucleus, and Cry1 can transfer to the cytosol upon blue light irradiance while Cry2 stays in the nucleus (Cashmore et al., 1999; Yu et al., 2007). *Arabidopsis* Cry3 is a DASH (*Drosophila, Arabidopsis, Synechocystis, Homo*)-type cryptochrome with photolyase activity, which is specific to single-stranded or looped duplex DNA (Pokorny et al., 2008).

It is well documented that Cry1 controls dormancy in barley, plays an important function during de-etiolation in Arabidopsis (Barrero et al., 2014; Kami et al., 2010). While Cry2 is important in photoperiodic control of Arabidopsis flowering, and mediates leaf senescence in soybean (Meng et al., 2013; Kami et al., 2010). Alteration of cry1 and cry2 sequences or expression can remarkably influence agronomic traits in crop species, such as germination, biomass development, and fruit metabolic composition (Mawphlang & Kharshiing, 2017). Additionally, these two photoreceptors regulate other aspects of plant growth and development, including the development of guard cell and stomatal opening, programmed cell death, entrainment of the circadian clock, root growth, shoot length, and shade avoidance. Moreover, they are also responsible for the responses to abiotic and biotic stresses, such as invasion by bacterial, pathogen or pests (Fantini & Facella, 2020; Huché-Thélier et al., 2016; Wang & Lin, 2020).

#### 1.4.1.3 Phototropins and zeitlupe family

Phototropins are also flavoproteins that sense blue and UV-A lights (Figure 1.6c). They have a molecule mass of 120 kDa with a N-terminal photosensory part and a C-terminal AGC-type Ser/Thr protein kinase region. The amino-terminal part contains two flavin mononucleotide (FMN) chromophores that bind light oxygen voltage (LOV1 and LOV2) domains (Suetsugu & Wada, 2013). Phototropins are the only photoreceptors bearing two LOV domains, and these two domains are supposed to have different properties and functions, LOV1 as a dimerization domain and LOV2 as light-regulated kinase (Briggs, 2007; Christie, 2007). Two phototropins exist in Arabidopsis: phot1 and phot2. Phot1 predominates under low-fluence light and phot2 mainly responds to high-fluence light (Huché-Thélier et al., 2016). They both localize at the plasma membrane with overlapping functions in regulating several developmental processes to light. Phot1 and Phot2 both contribute to phototropism, including hypocotyl bending, stem and root growth, leaf flattening (Esmon et al., 2006; Inoue et al., 2008), as well as chloroplast movement and stomatal opening (Ma et al., 2001). However, phot2 is also responsible for the chloroplast light avoidance response (Łabuz et al., 2012). In strawberry, FaPHOT2 was reported to be involved in blue-light induced anthocyanin accumulation (Kadomura-Ishikawa et al., 2013).

In Arabidopsis an additional family of LOV domain photoreceptors processes the UV-A/blue light signals. This family contains Zeitlupe (ZTL), Flavin-binding Kelch F-box (FKF), and LOV Kelch Protein2 (LKP2), they are collectively stated as Zeitlupes (Figure 1.6c) (Suetsugu & Wada, 2013). Unlike the phototropins, Zeitlupes harbor a single FMN-binding LOV domain at the N-terminal region followed by an F-box and six Kelch repeats at the C-terminal site (Ito et al., 2012). Despite the analogous photochemical properties to phototropin LOV domain, the LOV domains of ZTL, FKF1, and LKP2 fail to return back to their dark state (Cheng et al., 2003). The F-box is generally known to target a protein for degradation, and the Kelch domain is required for protein-protein interaction, presumably with the F-box substrate. Through these proteins, Zeitlupe family regulates the circadian clock and the photoperiodic control of the flowering pathway (Banerjee & Batschauer, 2005; Briggs, 2007; Somers, 2001).

#### 1.4.1.4 UVR8

Ultraviolet-B radiation (UV-B; 280-315 nm) is an intrinsic part of the sunlight and is perceived by UV RESISTANCE LOCUS8 (UVR8) photoreceptor (Figure 1.5d). UVR8 is a  $\beta$ -propeller protein with seven blades. Rather than depending on a prosthetic chromophore, UVR8 uses a number of specific tryptophan residues (W233, W285, and W337) for light sensing, particularly Trp285, which plays an important role in UV-B-triggered signaling. UVR8 is localized in the cytoplasm and nucleus, existing as an inactive homodimer, and it is dissociated into two active monomers upon UV-B irradiation (Christie et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2012; Heijde et al., 2013; Rizzini et al., 2011). The activated monomers then travel from the cytosol into the nucleus to trigger the signal transduction pathway. Following UV-B irradiation, active monomeric UVR8 is recycled to its inactive homodimeric initial state (Jenkins, 2014). Thus, the reversible dynamic photocycle between monomers and homodimer allow plants to continuously perceive and respond to surrounding UV-B levels. Through UVR8 sensing UV-B radiation, plants can trigger large changes in gene expression leading to morphological adaptations and protectant flavonol biosynthesis to reduce UV-B damage (Rizzini et al., 2011). Moreover, UVR8 also regulates plant phototropism, stomatal movement, synchronization with the circadian clock and cross talk with hormones (Fehér et al., 2011; Tossi et al., 2014; Vandenbussche et al., 2014; Yadav et al., 2020).

#### 1.4.2 Light quality regulates plant growth and morphology

Blue and red lights are typically used for plant growth in horticultural production owing to their great efficiency to promote photosynthesis. A wide range of wavelengths drives photosynthesis as they are absorbed by chlorophyll and additional pigments belonging to the carotenoids. Yet, the chlorophylls have two absorption peaks in the vicinity of 450 nm (blue

light region) and 660 nm (red light region) and hence the light energy absorbed by these pigments is very efficiently used in photosynthesis.

Phytochromes and cytochromes have an important role in controlling leaf morphology, internode length and branching. Thus, red and blue light are effective at controlling these responses. Generally, blue light controls cell division and represses hypocotyl internode elongation, resulting in a reduction of plant height (Huché-Thélier et al., 2016). In contrast, stem elongation and petiole extension are promoted by low red/far-red ratios (Demotes-Mainard et al., 2016; Schuerger et al., 1997). Both blue/red ratio and red/far-red ratio play important roles in these processes. In tomato, numerous studies have shown that higher blue/red ratios decrease tomato plant height (Liu et al., 2011; Nanya et al., 2012; Wollaeger & Runkle, 2015). However, conflicting results have been observed on cucumber seedlings. Plant height decreased along with the increase of blue light proportion from 0B:100R% to 75B:25R%, while 100% B light yielded much taller plants (Hernández & Kubota, 2016). In lettuce, red LEDs stimulated the elongation of hypocotyls and cotyledons of seedlings, however, red light alone induced abnormal leaf shapes (Son & Oh, 2013). This effect could be prevented by adding at least 15 mmol  $m^{-2} s^{-1}$  of blue light to the red light spectrum (Hoenecke et al., 1992). In fully-green strawberry (Fragariaxananassa Duch.), elongation growth response to light was controlled by phytochromes with two distinct modes. In the period of the first leaf to emerge, end-of-day far-red light induced petiole elongation. With the development of successive leaves, a second type of response with exposure to red, far-red, mixtures of the two at low intensity was found to promote petiole elongation (Vince-Prue et al., 1976). Red LED alone was reported to induce elongation of the flowering stem and increase of whole plant dry weight in 'Elkat' strawberry (Samuoliene et al., 2010).

On the other hand, far-red light promotes seedling growth by increasing leaf expansion and whole-plant assimilation. As mentioned above, photosynthetic pigments strongly absorb blue and red light but reflect or transmit far-red radiation which is weakly or not effective at promoting the photosynthetic reaction (Casal, 2013). Therefore, the light environment under the plant canopy is characterized by a low red:far-red ratio resulting in the shade-avoidance syndrome (Gommers et al., 2013). The shade-avoidance response of plants is regulated by phyB and typically involves elongation of internodes, petioles, and hypocotyls (Ballaré & Pierik, 2017; Courbier & Pierik, 2019; Keuskamp et al., 2010). For instance, low red:far-red light increased stem length in *Arabidopsis* (Finlayson et al., 2010) and *Zinnia elegans*, *Cosmos bipinnatus*, *Dendranthema × grandiflorum*, *Anthirrhinum majus*, *Petunia × hybrida* (Cerny et al., 2003), and promoted petiole elongation in *Cucurbita pepo* (Holmes & Smith, 1977). In ornamental plants such as geranium, petunia, and snapdragon, plant height linearly increased as the red:far-red ratio decreased (Park & Runkle, 2017)

The effects of blue light or red light on branching are species-dependent, with stimulation or inhibition of bud outgrowth, or no effect observed. In *Alternanthera*, blue light induced the largest number of leaves per plant in comparison to white and red light (Macedo et al., 2011). In contrast, blue light reduced the leaf number of cucumber seedlings (Hernández & Kubota, 2016). Inhibition of bud outgrowth under low red:far-red light has been reported in *Solanum lycopersicon, Rosa hybrida, Trifolium repens, Panicum virgatum* and leads to reduced branching (Girault et al., 2008; Lötscher and Nösberger, 1997; O'Carrigan et al., 2014; Williamson et al., 2012). Red light prolonged the vegetative phase in tomato by increasing the number of leaves before flowering (Cao et al., 2016). Overall, under protected cultivation the choice of the ratio red/far-red/blue in lighting sources can steer morphology.

# **1.4.3** The influence of light quality on primary and secondary metabolites, and pigments

Primary metabolites are chemicals closely linked to plant productivity and quality, and loss of these compounds leads to plant death. Secondary metabolites are chemical compounds that are distinct from the intermediates and products of primary metabolism, they act to improve the fitness of an organism and help it adapt to an unpredictable environment (Lambers et al., 2008). Many of these compounds are key chemicals for plant defense against viruses, pathogens, and herbivores, as well as major donors to color, flavor, and aroma of plants (Bennett & Wallsgrove, 1994; Khalid et al., 2019; Shah & Smith, 2020). The content of primary and secondary metabolites is considerably influenced by light quality and depends on plant species and developmental stage.

The primary metabolites derived from photosynthesis are soluble carbohydrates such as sucrose, glucose and fructose. The metabolism of carbohydrates in plants or fruits is affected by the light spectrum. Red light is reported to improve the contents of fructose and glucose, and combination of red and blue light increases total carbohydrate in tomato seedling leaves (Li et al., 2017). Another study on celery showed that the soluble sugar content was highest in response to red/blue (3:1) light, and reduced with a reduction of red/blue ratio (Gao et al., 2015). Moreover, red light is effective in promotion of hexose content in green vegetables and sprouts, though a plant species dependency was noted (Samuoliene & Duchovskis, 2008). In tomato fruits, Liu et al., (2010) indicated that red/blue (2:3) resulted in the highest soluble sugar content, whereas Dong et al. (2019) found the highest tomato fruit sugar content under red/blue (3:1). So, also here genotype effects might be present.

Secondary metabolites are strongly modulated by the light spectrum (Landi et al., 2020). Phenolic acids and flavonoids are essential secondary metabolites allowing plants to adapt to biotic and abiotic environmental changes. Their concentration in plant organs is dependent

on the season in open-field production and differs at different growth stages (Lynn & Chang, 1990). Plant phenolics are not only responsible for leaf, flower and fruit colors, but also act as antioxidants and ultraviolet screen. Their synthesis upon light quality also depends on the plant species (Taulavuori et al., 2016). Red light clearly improved the total phenolic content in cranberry fruit (Zhou & Singh, 2002) as well as in the *Chrysanthemum* cultivars *Bolero* and *Tappino*, but not in the other cultivars as reported by Zheng and Van Labeke (2017). In lettuce, Li and Kubota (2009) showed the enhanced accumulation of phenolics in red leaf lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L. 'Red Cross') by red light, while negative effects on the total phenolics were found in two green lettuce cultivars (*Lactuca sativa* L. 'Grand Rapids TBR' and 'Sunmang') (Son & Oh, 2013). Blue light irradiation improved the phenolic content in red leaf lettuce seedlings (Johkan et al., 2010) and melon seedlings (Jing et al., 2018). Both blue and red light are probably needed to modulate the accumulation of phenolics in basil (Taulavuori et al., 2016).

Plants accumulate UV-absorbing compounds such as flavonoids to protect cells and prevent damage by UV radiation (Shah & Smith, 2020). Therefore, accumulation of flavonoids by UV-B light is observed in several species, such as *Medicago* and lettuce "Revolution" (Phillips et al., 1995; Tsormpatsidis et al., 2008). Nevertheless, UV-B radiation does not increase the content of flavonoids in pepper (Hoffmann et al., 2015), and even strongly decreased the level of flavonoids in *Alnus incana* (Kotilainen et al., 2008). On the other hand, blue light was also reported to increase the flavonoids content in melon seedlings (Jing et al., 2018).

Anthocyanins, as important members of the flavonoid group, play key roles in plant defense and signaling as well act as protective agents against UV radiation and oxidative damage by scavenging reactive oxygen species (Kefeli et al., 2003; Lattanzio et al., 2006). UV-A and blue light perceived by the cryptochromes are an important signal to regulate their biosynthesis (Ninu et al., 1999). In particular, UV-A positively influenced anthocyanin content in grape (Kataoka et al., 2003) and lettuce (Tsormpatsidis et al., 2008), blue light increased anthocyanin level in lettuce (Li & Kubota, 2009), tomato (Giliberto et al., 2005) and strawberry (Kadomura-Ishikawa et al., 2013).Yet, red light resulted in enhanced anthocyanin biosynthesis in cranberry fruits (Zhou & Singh, 2002), while far-red light caused downregulation of anthocyanin accumulation in lettuce (Li & Kubota, 2009).

Chlorophyll together with carotenoids are the main pigments for plant photosynthesis and blue, red and far-red lights have been applied in modulating the synthesis of these phytochemicals. Generally, blue and red light enhance chlorophyll production, and far-red light causes a decrease in chlorophyll contents (Huq et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2004; Li et al., 2010; Miyashita et al., 1997; Moon et al., 2006; Tanaka et al., 1998; Tripathy & Brown,

1995). Carotenoids are orange and yellow pigments. They can provide protection when plants are under excessive light, thus limiting damage to proteins and membranes (Bergquist, 2006; Bergquist et al., 2007). Blue light can increase total carotenoids (Johkan et al., 2010; Kopsell & Sams, 2013; Ohashi-Kaneko et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2015), however, no difference was observed in cherry tomato seedlings under blue light compared to red, green, orange, and combinations (Liu et al., 2012). Zheng and Van Labeke (2017) also reported no differences in total carotenoids in red, blue and red+blue grown *Chrysanthemum*. So, the effect of light quality on carotenoid synthesis is dependent on the plant species.

In strawberry, carbohydrate content and pigment ratio (Chla/b) of plants increased, and fruit production and quality were enhanced when plants were grown under red and blue LEDs compared to red light (Díaz-Galián et al., 2020; Samuoliene et al., 2010). Blue light induced higher biomass accumulation, increased fruit yield as compared to red light (Nadalini et al., 2017). The flat expression of two phytochrome genes (*FaPHYA* and *FaPHYB*) in strawberry during fruit development revealed no relationship with the initiation of anthocyanin accumulation in ripening fruits (Kadomura-Ishikawa et al., 2013). Furthermore, red LED light resulted in less anthocyanin content in strawberry fruit compared to fluorescent light (Nadalini et al., 2017).. In addition, postharvest blue light treatment improved sensory quality of strawberry fruit by increasing levels of volatiles, such as acetic acid hexyl ester and methyl isovalerate, compared to darkness (Campbell et al., 2020). On the other hand, UV-C treatment at harvest reduced fruit resistance to *B. cinerea* by increasing the enzyme activities of phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) and polyphenol oxidase (PPO), and also the expression of several pathogenesis-related proteins (Pombo et al., 2011).

It is clear that the spectral composition of the light sources used in greenhouses or plant factories will influence the levels of these secondary metabolites in plant tissues. So choices with respect to which plant compound one wants to stimulate for a given species will impose an additional layer of complexity that should be considered when designing light recipes for crop production.

## 1.4.4 The effects of the circadian clock on plant behavior

As photosynthetic organisms, plants are particularly dependent on sunlight which is restricted to a limited time schedule of the day-night cycle. To time their physiology and behavior, plants have evolved an internal timekeeper, the endogenous clock. This circadian clock system that confers 24 h rhythms to biological processes includes three common modules: input, circadian oscillators, and outputs. Input pathways convert external cues (light, temperature) to circadian oscillators to reset and synchronize the clock with the local environment. Through receiving timing cues from input pathways, oscillators produce an

internal estimate of time that regulates the output processes. Output pathways under circadian clock regulation that exhibit a rhythmic response to a constant input are defined as 'gating'. This allows outputs to occur at specific times of the day or to coordinate with environmental changes such as day/night transitions (Huang & Nusinow, 2016).

The circadian clock plays an extremely important role in regulating diverse aspects of plant growth and development, such as germination, growth, leaf movements, flowering and pollination (Yakir et al., 2007). For example, the elongation of the Arabidopsis hypocotyl is under a circadian pattern immediately upon germination, with maximal growth rate in the evening and minimal in the morning (Dowson-Day & Millar, 1999). At cellular level, physiological processes such as enzyme activity, carbon dioxide fixation, hormone pathways, metabolic activities, and stomatal opening are recognized to be clock regulated (Yakir et al., 2007). Production and scavenging of hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  exhibit time-of-day phases in Arabidopsis. Specifically, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production is highest at noon, and reaches trough levels at midnight. In parallel with the peak and bottom of  $H_2O_2$  levels, catalase activity peaks at noon, and dips at midnight (Lai et al., 2012). Moreover, dial oscillations in ethylene levels have been documented in rice (Lee et al., 1981), bean, Kalanchoe daigremontiana (Kapuya & Hall, 1977) and Arabidopsis (Thain et al., 2004). When plants' endogenous rhythms are well matched with the environmental cycles, the circadian clock promotes pigments, photosynthesis and growth, thus leading to improved survival and competitive advantage of the plant.

The proper matching between circadian clock and external environment not only enhances the ability of plant to sense unfavorable conditions around but also allows the clock to temporally gate the responses to environmental stresses in a timely manner. Thus, plant responsiveness to both abiotic and biotic stresses is under circadian control. For example, rhythmic changes in chilling resistance and heat resistance were reported in cotton by Rikin et al. (1993). The cotton leaves were most sensitive to cold during the light period and most resistant during the dark period, while the heat-resistant phase was developed in the light period and heat-sensitive phase was observed in the evening (Rikin et al., 1993). Similarly, defense responses of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to infection by *Pseudomonas syringae* are regulated by the circadian clock. It was found that plants presented a time-based oscillation over the day in their resistance to *P. syringae* with a peak resistance at dawn. This temporal resistance pattern was disrupted when the clock gene, *CCA1 (CIRCADIAN CLOCK ASSOCIATED 1)* or *ELF (EARLY FLOWERING) 3*, was misexpressed, thus supporting a direct role of the circadian clock in defense regulation (Bhardwaj et al., 2011). In addition, the plant circadian clock regulates the susceptibility to the necrotrophic fungal pathogen, *Botrytis* 

*cinerea*, which is driven by jasmonate signaling pathway in Arabidopsis. The resistance peak was present at dawn, then decreased continuously to midnight (Ingle et al., 2015).

Similarly to other stresses, the activation of defense can also regulate clock activity besides being an output of the circadian clock. Defenses activated by infection with both virulent and avirulent *P. syringae* are able to shorten the circadian period in Arabidopsis (Zhang et al., 2013). What is more, the rhythmic expression of *CCA1* is altered in plants infected with *Hyaloperonospora arabidopsis* Emwa1 (Wang et al., 2011).

Together, these feedback regulations are also important for an appropriate balance between development and resistance by reallocating the energy from costly environmental resistance responses to plant primary metabolism and growth which is definitely crucial for plant fitness and competitive advantage (Seo & Mas, 2015).

# 1.5 Light quality and plant defense

Light is a fundamental environment signal that acclimatizes plants to their surroundings. As introduced above, many plant developmental and physiological processes are regulated by light signals. Also, light exerts influence on plant resistance to various pathogens (Alsanius et al., 2019; Roberts & Paul, 2006). Since plants perceive light signals via various photoreceptors, specific photoreceptors are shown to be involved in plant defense responses (Cerrudo et al., 2012; Demkura & Ballaré, 2012; Jeong et al., 2010; Xie et al., 2011).

Red:far-red ratios are perceived by phytochromes in plants. Plant defense responses against insects and necrotrophic pathogens are mainly modulated by JA, and SA is a core regulatory hormone regulating defense response against biotrophic pathogens (Glazebrook, 2005; Turner et al., 2002). Red light or high red:far-red ratio was reported to increase resistance to several pathogens in different plant species. On the contrary, low red:far-red light inhibits plant immunity via JA and SA signaling pathways (Table 1.1). Several studies also have demonstrated that plants lacking phyB or exposed to low red:far-red had decreased levels of resistance against herbivores/chewing insects and/or pathogens by reducing volatile organic compounds (VOCs) and/or downregulating JA/SA signaling pathways (Cortés et al., 2016; De Wit et al., 2013; Keymer et al., 2017; Moreno et al., 2009). Moreover, low red:far-red light conditions also led to reduced numbers of nodules and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), which have beneficial interactions with plant roots to overcome stressful conditions (Ferguson et al., 2010; Keymer et al., 2017; Nagata et al., 2016; Suzuki et al., 2011).

Light	offoct	Plant				
condition		species	pathogens	comparison	reference	
	↑	Broad bean		White NUV blue green	(Islam et al., 1998);	
red				far-red dark	(Rahman et al., 2002);	
				lai lou, uaix	(Khanam et al., 2005b)	
Low	I	Arabidopsis	Botrytis cinerea	Ambient light	(Cerrudo et al., 2012)	
red:far-red	*	/ Tablaopolo		White light	(De Wit et al., 2013)	
red	1	tomato		Dark, yellow, blue	(Xu et al., 2017)	
Far-red	$\downarrow$	Arabidopsis		White light	(Courbier et al., 2020)	
red	¢	cucumber	Corynespora	-red	(Rahman et al., 2010)	
			cassiicola			
Red (400-700 nm)	Ť	rice	Pyricularia oryzae	290-330nm, dark	(Arase et al., 2000)	
red	↑×↓	rice	Pyricularia oryzae	Natural and white lights	(Shirasawa et al., 2012)	
red	1	rice	Bipolaris oryzae	Natural light and dark	(Parada et al., 2015)	
rod	*	Broad bean	Alternaria	White, dark, 400-500 nm,	(Rahman et al., 2003)	
Teu	I		tenuissima	450-550 nm, >780 nm		
red	↑.	cuember	Sphaerotheca	White, purple, blue, green,	(Wang et al., 2010)	
100	I	00011001	fuliginea	yellow	(Wang of all, 2010)	
High	↑	cucumber	Sphaerotheca	Natural light	(Shibuva et al., 2011)	
red:far-red	I		cucurbitae		(	
red	1	Arabidopsis	Pseudomonas	White light	(Islam et al., 2008)	
red	1	tomato	syringae pv. tomato	Dark, purple, green	(Yang et al., 2015)	
red	1	tobacco	DC 3000		(Moyano et al., 2020)	
red	↑.	watermelon	Meloidogyne	White light	(Yang et al., 2015; 2018)	
	I		incognita			
red	1	tomato	Meloidogyne spp.		(Mutar & Fattah, 2013)	
red	1	tomato	Pseudomonas	White light, dark	(Nagendran & Lee, 2015)	
	'	tomato	cichorii	······		

Tabla				ما ام مر ما				الم الم		4 -	-1:44 - 11 - 11 - 1	مر م به م ما 4 م مر	
I able	1.1	Effects	or rec	i and io	w rea:ra	r-rea ra	atio on	plant	resistance	το	amerent	patnogen	iS.

Specifically, in rice it was shown that phytochromes are required for age-related resistance to *Pyricularia oryzae* (syn: *Magnaporthe oryzea*) by studying a *phyAphyBphyC* mutant. Phytochromes indirectly up-regulate pathogenesis-related class 1 (PR1) gene expression by modifying SA- and JA-dependent defense pathways (Xie et al., 2011). In Arabidopsis, phyA and phyB are also required for the light-dependent, HR associated lesion formation and PR1 gene expression, thus directly regulating *A. thaliana* resistance (Genoud et al., 2002). Systemic acquired resistance (SAR) which acts via the SA signaling pathway was shown to be down-regulated in *phyA phyB* double mutants compared with wild-type (Griebel & Zeier, 2008). Furthermore, microarray studies showed that the expression of many plant disease resistance genes is regulated by the activity of phytochromes (Devlin et al., 2003; Tepperman et al., 2001). On the other hand, far-red light pretreatment increased susceptibility to the necrotrophic pathogen *Botrytis cinerea* by downregulating jasmonate responses in *Arabidopsis* (Cerrudo et al., 2012).

The blue-light receptor CRY1 was positively involved in R protein-mediated resistance to avirulent *Pseudomonas syringae* with increased PR gene expression in Arabidopsis (Wu & Yang, 2010). Comparative proteomics analysis of *cry1* mutant and wild-type plants illustrates that expression of several defense-related proteins were altered in the mutant plants (Phee et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2008), moreover, the expression of *PR* genes was reported to be significantly up-regulated in the mutants of downstream components of CRY1 signaling pathway (Kim et al., 2002; Mayer et al., 1996), suggesting a correlation between CRY1 function and plant resistance. Additionally, CRY2 and PHOT2 are required for resistance (R) protein-mediated plant defense against Turnip Crinkle Virus (TCV) by maintaining the stability of the R protein in Arabidopsis (Jeong et al., 2010). The photoreceptors PHOT2, and CRY1 regulated Arabidopsis resistance to cucumber mosaic virus (CMV) infection by mediating antioxidative enzymes and protecting the integrities of chloroplast and mitochondria, and the syntheses of SA and ET are also involved in this process (Zhou et al., 2017).



**Figure 1.7** Summarizing overview of the regulation of plant hormones by UV-B. in the left-hand box, UV-B stimulates the biosynthesis or signaling of stress hormones ABA, JA, SA, and NO leading to photoprotection from UV-B light. on the right-hand box, UV-B suppresses the biosynthesis or signaling of the expansion stimulating hormones auxins, GA, and perhaps brassinosteroids (BR). This leads to growth alteration. Ethylene can be induced during UV-B stress, but its signal appears down-regulated upon photomorphogenic UV-B exposure (Vanhaelewyn et al., 2016).

UV-B radiation that is perceived by the photoreceptor UVR8 has significant effects on plant growth and defense. The positive role of UV-B in regulating plant defenses against biotic stress was reported, but it also depends on plant species as well as biotic stresses (Ballaré et al., 2012; Ballaré, 2014; Paul et al., 2012). For instance, ecologically meaningful doses of UV-B radiation were shown to increase Arabidopsis resistance to *Botrytis cinerea*, and UVR8

played an important role in this effect by controlling the expression of the sinapate biosynthetic pathway (Demkura & Ballaré, 2012). In Lactuca sativa, a zero UV-B environment suppressed the population growth of Myzus persicae, while, the severity of B. cinerea persistence was decreased under both environments with and without UV-B light (Paul et al., 2012). On the other hand, the effects of UV-B on plant-biotic stress interactions can be direct or indirect. For example, in Arabidopsis-herbivores interactions, UV-B light directly affected caterpillars of Spodoptera littoralis, while UV-B caused a great reduction in aphid population by mediating plant process, which is in an indirect way (Vandenbussche et al., 2018). Moreover, the effects of UV-B light on plant growth and defense greatly depends on the control of, and interactions with hormonal pathways (Figure 1.7). This can be dependent or independent on UVR8. Specifically, UV-B promotes the biosynthesis of ABA, JA, SA, and nitric oxide (NO) to perform photoprotection, while down-regulating auxins and gibberellins (GA) to inhibit plant growth. Ethylene can be either up-regulated for stress response, or down-regulated for plant development (Vanhaelewyn et al, 2016). In addition, a functional overlap between UVR8 and phytochromes is existing, this allows plant to deal with two great challenges: shade-avoidance syndrome (SAS) and defense syndrome (DS). Upon the interplay between UV-B and red:far-red signaling, plants fine tune growth and defense to optimize resource utilization in patchy canopy environments (Ballaré & Austin, 2019; Mazza & Ballaré, 2015; Vanhaelewyn et al., 2016).

Chapter 2 Leaf Age and Light Quality Influence the Basal Resistance against *Botrytis cinerea* in Strawberry Leaves

## This chapter is based on:

Lijuan Meng, Monica Höfte, Marie-Christine Van Labeke (2019). Leaf age and light quality influence the basal resistance against *Botrytis cinerea* in strawberry leaves. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 157: 35-45.

# Abstract

In this study, the effects of both leaf age and light quality on leaf resistance against *Botrytis* cinerea were investigated. Strawberry plants were grown in a growth chamber equipped with white, blue, red or red+blue light-emitting diodes (LEDs) at a photosynthetic photon flux (PPF) of 100  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. The effect of leaf age and light quality on leaf morphology, resistance to *B. cinerea*, hydrogen peroxide levels, metabolites and pigments was studied. Leaf number increased under red light, while leaf petiole length was reduced by red+blue light. Leaf resistance to B. cinerea dramatically increased with leaf age from 1- to 4-week-old leaves but decreased again in 5-week-old leaves. Red light significantly improved leaf resistance, while white and blue-light treated leaves were the most susceptible to B. cinerea at all leaf ages. Hydrogen peroxide levels positively correlated with disease severity and were influenced by both leaf age and light quality. They were lowest in 4-week-old leaves and in red light-grown leaves, irrespective of leaf age. Chlorophyll and carotenoids levels negatively correlated with disease severity and increased with leaf age but were lowest in blue light-grown leaves. Total phenolics and flavonoid levels were very high in the very susceptible 1-week-old leaves and considerably lower in the older leaves. Red light stimulated total phenolics in 1- to 4-week-old leaves. Proline levels were strongly stimulated by blue light, especially in 1 and 5-week-old leaves. Overall, low hydrogen peroxide levels and high chlorophyll and carotenoids levels appear to be the best indicators for leaf resistance to B. cinerea in strawberry leaves. Moreover, leaf age should be taken into account when assessing the effect of light quality on disease resistance.

# 2.1 Introduction

Of all the environmental cues, light is probably the most important one. It is not only the energy source for photosynthesis but also acts as an environmental signal to regulate growth and development in both plants and fungi (Kami et al., 2010; Purschwitz et al., 2006). In order to cope with the fluctuating light environment, plants and fungi have various photoreceptors to sense and respond to the ambient light conditions and fine-tune their adaptation throughout their life cycle. It is therefore no surprise that new light technologies such as light emitting diodes (LEDs) which allow the application of specific wavelengths (e.g. red, blue and combinations) are increasingly studied with respect to all aspects of plant production (Choi et al., 2015; Heo et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2011; Massa et al., 2008; Nadalini et al., 2017; Nhut et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2017).

Bioactive compounds are important for the plant to interact with its environment for adaptation and defense. For example, phenolic compounds, flavonoids, carotenoids and anthocyanins are strongly modulated by light quality but effects are species dependent (Alokam et al., 2002; Heo et al., 2012; Huché-Thélier et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2013; Taulavuori et al., 2016). Generally, far-red up-regulates genes that are involved in the biosynthesis of anthocyanins and flavonoids in *Arabidopsis* (Izaguirre et al., 2006). In contrast the anthocyanin level is enhanced under higher red/far-red ratios in *Stellaria longipes* (Alokam et al., 2002). Blue light increases phenolics and flavonoids in tomato (Kim et al., 2013), in roses (Ouzounis et al., 2014) and in lettuce (Ouzounis et al., 2015). Phenylalanine ammonia-Iyase (PAL), which is the first enzyme in the phenylpropanoids pathway, is enhanced by the combination of red and blue light in lettuce (Heo et al., 2012). Moreover, shorter wavelengths, in the range of blue and UV-light induce different genes in the flavonoid pathway and involve UV-B, UV-A/blue (cryptochrome) and phytochrome photoreceptors (Feinbaum et al., 1991; Fuglevand et al., 1996; Jenkins, 1997;Wade et al., 2001).

The phenylpropanoid metabolite pathway is also an important indicator of the basal defense response of plants. Peroxidases (POD) are involved in the cell-wall-building processes such as oxidation of phenolic compounds, suberization, and lignification of host plant cells during the defense reaction against pathogenic agents (Datta & Muthukrishman, 1999; Mohammadi & Kazemi, 2002). ROS production is also an early response in plant-pathogen interaction. However, there are several systems to scavenge  $H_2O_2$  in plants, among which the ascorbate/phenolics/POD system has an important  $H_2O_2$  scavenging function in the vacuoles and apoplast (Takahama & Oniki, 1997).

Leaf anatomy, developmental and physiological changes are controlled by leaf age, such as leaf thickness, leaf dry mass, carbon flow, chlorophylls, and metabolism (Pantin et al., 2012). Both primary and secondary metabolites show characteristic patterns evolving with leaf aging (Csepregi et al., 2017; Guimarães et al., 2020; Pontarin et al., 2020). In general, primary metabolites tended to be more concentrated in younger leaves to support growth. Similary, secondary metabolites such as phenolic compounds, peaked in the young leaves and decreased in relation to leaf age (Pontarin et al., 2020; Watanabe et al., 2013). Also, the development of leaf resistance (direct and indirect) changes with leaf age (Carisse & Bouchard, 2010; Farber & Mundt, 2016; Kobayashi et al., 2008; Radhika et al., 2008). Many plant species have high trichome densities on the young newly formed leaves to directly obstruct herbivore activity as they are soft and have high concentrations of nutrients (Yamawo et al., 2012). The indirect defense traits such as the quantity and/or quality of volatile emissions, usually function on young to middle-aged leaves. Thus, leaf aging plays an effective role in promoting the shift from direct to indirect defense (Kobayashi et al., 2008; Radhika et al., 2008; Radhika et al., 2008; Radhika et al., 2008; Radhika et al., 2008; Pontarin et al., 2008; Pontarin et al., 2008; Pontarinet et al., 200

Strawberry is a very popular economical fruit crop worldwide. In northern latitudes strawberry is mainly grown in greenhouses in which supplementary light is needed for the winter production. LED light has thus also potential for this crop. LED light, compared to fluorescent lamps, increased leaf photosynthetic rates, promoted plant growth and produced higher yields in strawberry (Hidaka et al., 2013). Furthermore, light quality has long been known as an important environmental factor in pathogen defense. An increasing number of studies showed that red light is able to improve plant defenses to biotic stresses by multiple regulatory pathways, such as  $H_2O_2$  generation, salicylic acid accumulation, expression of defense genes and suppression of leaf permeability and lesion formation (Islam et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2010). In broad bean, red light improved leaf resistance to B. cinerea, this could be explained by the production of antifungal compounds in living host cells, and enhanced host photosynthesis and protein synthesis (Khanam et al., 2005a; Rahman et al., 2002). Proline and polyphenol levels increased in blue LED light grown tomato leaves. Moreover, tomato leaves inoculated with B. cinerea were more resistant when incubated under blue LED light than under white light (Kim et al., 2013). Xu et al. (2017) showed that lesion development after inoculation with *B. cinerea* was significantly lower when tomato leaves were irradiated with red or purple light in comparison with blue light. However, a low red:farred ratio, which is indicative of shade, triggers the shade avoidance response in sunresponsive plants. This leads to a stimulation of elongation growth and suppression of salicylic acid- and jasmonate-dependent defense responses (Cerrudo et al., 2012; Moreno et al., 2009; Ballaré, 2014).

The broad host-range necrotrophic fungus, *Botrytis cinerea*, is one of the most destructive pathogens in strawberry production (Xu et al., 2000). *B. cinerea* can develop microscopic infections in epidermal cells of young strawberry leaves. These infections remain latent for a certain period but after sporulation they becomes a source of primary inoculum for fruit infections. Fungicides are the primary means to control grey mold, however, increased insensitivity of *B. cinerea* to a combination of chemical agents threatens the effective control (Hunter et al., 1987; Katan et al., 1989). Moreover, application of conventional fungicides is increasingly restricted because of residue risks up to the post-harvest phase of the strawberries (Williamson et al., 2007). Thus, specific light quality applications open a promising way for disease control due to changes in the plant defense system though no information on strawberry is available.

Light quality might have also a direct effect on the pathogen. In *B. cinerea*, at least eleven potential photoreceptors were found to perceive different light qualities, influencing tropism of direct growth, sexual development, protective mechanisms against stresses and timing for infection and survival (Schumacher, 2017). In detail, continuous black light (300-420 nm) retarded linear hyphal growth of *B. cinerea* while sporulation was stimulated by near ultraviolet light (NUV), slightly inhibited by red and yellow light but inhibited by blue and green light (Tan & Epton, 1973). Moreover, red light was reported to inhibit infected hypha formation and lesion development of *B. cinerea* on plant leaves, such as broad beans, grapevine, and tomato (Ahn et al., 2015; Islam et al., 1998; Xu et al., 2017).

In this study we hypothesized that both light quality and leaf age affect the basal resistance to *Botrytis cinerea* in strawberry leaves. Experiments were set-up to interpret effects of leaf age and effects of monochromatic red and blue and dichromatic red+blue on changes in resistance to *Botrytis*. Therefore, we measured levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, selected antioxidants (phenolics and flavonoids) and anti-oxidative enzymes (APX and POD), as well as pigments to study their roles in the resistance of strawberry leaves to *Botrytis*.

# 2.2 Materials and Methods

## 2.2.1 Plant material and experimental setup

Three successive experiments were set-up with strawberry (*Fragaria × ananassa* 'Elsanta'). For each experiment, 80 cold-stored young plants were transplanted in 0.3 L pots using a peat-based potting soil (Van Israel nv, Belgium). The plants were randomly subjected to four light quality treatments (20 plants per treatment) in a growth chamber where the air temperature was maintained at 20°C and RH averaged 70%. Fertigation (Soluplant, Haifa, The Netherlands, EC=1.5 dS/m, pH=5.7) was applied three times per week.



**Figure 2.1** Spectral distribution of LEDs used in the experiment: White LEDs (white), Blue LEDs (blue), Red LEDs (red), Red plus Blue (red+blue). Spectrum was measured with a JAZ spectroradiometer (Ocean optics, USA).

For the control treatment white LEDs (300-800 nm, Philips, The Netherlands) were used in experiment 1 and 2 while plasma lamps (Gavita, The Netherlands), were used as white light in experiment 3. The other treatments were blue (B, peak at 460 nm), red (R, peak at 660 nm), red+blue (RB, 50%/50%, peak at 460 nm and 660 nm). A photoperiod of 16 h and a photon flux density of  $\pm$  100 µmol m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> at plant level was provided. Light quality and light quantity were measured using a spectroradiometer (JAZ-ULM-200, Ocean Optics, US), and the spectral distribution of the light sources are shown in Figure 2.1. Light quality treatments were inside the same growth chamber and separated with non-reflective black screens.

New leaves were labeled on the date of emergence and sampled after respectively one week, two weeks, three weeks, four weeks and five weeks. Depending on the analysis leaves were immediately used (inoculation assays) or immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analysis (metabolites).

# 2.2.2 Plant morphology (Exp 1)

Leaves initiated and fully developed from plants in the first four weeks under light treatments were noted. Petiole lengths from sampled leaves with different ages were measured with a ruler. Leaf anatomy under different light treatments from week-1 to week-5 was studied by paraffin sectioning as described by Zheng (2017). The sections were stained with staining

solution (1% astrablue, 0.5% chrysoidine, and 0.5% acridinere) and imaged with a ColorView III camera and edited with the software package CELL-F (Olympus Soft Imaging Solutions).

# 2.2.3 Botrytis cinerea inoculation and disease rating (Exp 2 and 3)

*B. cinerea* strain R16 (Faretra & Pollastro, 1991) was used for leaf inoculation and was cultured on potato dextrose agar (PDA, Becton, Dickinson, and Company) medium in Petri dishes. After 10 days, conidia were washed from the plates with ¼ potato dextrose broth (PDB, Becton, Dickinson, and Company) solution containing 0.01% (v/v) Tween 20 (MERCK, Germany). After removing the mycelium fragments, spore titers were determined microscopically using a Thoma counting chamber. A final conidia concentration of 5×10<sup>5</sup> spores mL<sup>-1</sup> was used for the inoculation.

Twelve one-cm-diameter leaf discs per leaf with four replicates (each replicate was one plant from which one leaf was taken) per treatment were cut the day before inoculation and placed in disposable plates with water. The next day, each disc was inoculated with 10  $\mu$ L droplets of conidial suspension on the adaxial leaf surface. Incubation was at 24 °C under dark conditions. Disease symptoms were scored after 4 to 5 days, and disease ratings or disease index were expressed according to Curvers et al. (2010) and De Vleesschauwer et al. (2010). All inoculation experiments were repeated twice with similar results.

# 2.2.4 Measurements of pigments (Exp 1)

Pigments were measured according to Chen et al. (2004) with slight modifications. Twenty leaf discs per leaf (0.8 cm in diameter) were punched and then immersed in 80% ethanol (VWR Chemicals) in 15-mL tubes with cap. Total chlorophyll was extracted in the dark at room temperature on a shaker platform for 24h. The extracted chlorophyll was measured using a spectrophotometer (Infinite M200, TECAN Group Ltd., Switzerland) at  $\lambda$  = 470nm, 647nm and 664 nm. The total chlorophyll and carotenoids content was calculated according to Lichtenthaler and Buschmann (2001).

# 2.2.5 Hydrogen peroxide and metabolites (Exp 3)

Determination of hydrogen peroxide was performed as described by Junglee et al. (2014). Homogenized leaf material (30-40 mg) was extracted in 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 5.8) with 1% TCA (Trichloroacetic acid, Carl Roth) and 1 M KI (Potassium iodure, Ucb, Belgium) at 4°C. After centrifugation at 15,000 *g* for 15 min at 4°C, the supernatant was measured spectrophotometrically at  $\lambda$  = 350 nm (Infinite M200 TECAN), leaf hydrogen peroxide concentration was determined based on a standard curve obtained with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (VWR Chemicals) and was calculated as µmol H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> mg<sup>-1</sup> FW. Leaf proline content was measured according to Bates et al. (1973). Plant leaves (1 g) were extracted with 10 mL 3% (w/v) sulfosalicylic acid (ACROS ORGANICS, USA). After filtration, 1 mL acid ninhydrin (SERVA Electrophoresis GmbH, USA) and 1 mL glacial acetic acid (Carl Roth) were added to the extracts (1 mL) and this mixture was kept at 95°C for 1 h in a water bath, then the reaction was stopped in an ice-bath. The formed chromophore was extracted from the acid aqueous solution by cold toluene (2 mL) and the absorbance was measured at  $\lambda = 520$  nm (Infinite M200 TECAN). The proline content was expressed as µmol proline g<sup>-1</sup> FW.

Total phenolics and flavonoids were analyzed according to Hong et al. (2008). Homogenized leaf material (50 mg) was stirred in 10 mL of 80 % methanol and sonicated for 30 min. The suspension was centrifuged for 15 min and the supernatant was collected for the determination. To determine the total phenolics an aliquot of 200  $\mu$ L reacted with Folin-Ciocalteu (SIGMA-ALDRICH) (1:10) reagent and 7.5% Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (Sodium carbonate, MERCK, Germany) for 2 h in the dark at room temperature. The reaction product was measured at  $\lambda$  =765 nm (Infinite M200, TECAN Group Ltd., Switzerland) and the total phenolic concentration was expressed as mg gallic acid g<sup>-1</sup> FW. To determine the flavonoids an aliquot of 200  $\mu$ L reacted with 60  $\mu$ L of 5% NaNO<sub>2</sub> (Sodium nitrite, Carl Roth) in 800  $\mu$ L distilled water for 5 min, then 120  $\mu$ L of 10% AICl<sub>3</sub> (Aluminum chloride, MERCK, Germany)was added to react for 6 min. At last, 1 M NaOH (Sodium hydroxide, Carl Roth) (400  $\mu$ L) and distilled water (400  $\mu$ L) was added to finish the reaction. Absorption of the reaction at  $\lambda$  = 510 nm was measured (Infinite M200, TECAN Group Ltd., Switzerland) and total flavonoid content was calculated as rutin equivalents g<sup>-1</sup> FW.

The determination of anthocyanins was performed according to Pirie and Mullins (1976) with minor modifications. Leaf material (50 mg) was extracted in 2 mL of 1% (v/v) HCI-methanol. Homogenate was centrifuged at 19,000 g for 15 min and diluted with 1% (v/v) HCI-methanol to 4 mL. Absorbance was measured at  $\lambda$  = 530 nm and 600 nm and anthocyanin content was expressed as the changes of 0.1 unit of difference between OD 530 nm and OD 600 nm.

## 2.2.6 Antioxidant enzymes (Exp 2)

For the ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and guaiacol peroxidase assays, leaves were homogenized with 2 mL ice-cold 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.1) including 0.1 mM EDTA (Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, Carl Roth), 10% PVPP (Polyvinylpolypyrrolidone, AppliChem, Germany) and 1 mM L-ascorbic acid. After cold extraction for 15 min, the homogenates were centrifuged at 4 °C for 20 min. The supernatant was used for the determination of antioxidant enzymes. The activity of APX was assayed using the method of Nakano and Asada (1981) by recording the rate of ascorbate oxidation at  $\lambda$  = 290 nm. POD was analyzed according to Chance and Maehly (1955) by estimating the increase in absorbance at  $\lambda$  = 436 nm.

# 2.2.7 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed by 1-way ANOVA, and comparisons of the relationship between light quality, leaf age and light quality × leaf age were carried out by 2-way ANOVA. Post-hoc comparisons for statistical analysis were calculated using Tukey HSD test ( $p \le 0.05$ ). Disease rating was compared by Kruskall-Wallis test ( $p \le 0.05$ ). Correlation was conducted by Pearson's correlation coefficients ( $p \le 0.05$ ). Different letters indicate significant different values at  $p \le 0.05$ . All analysis was performed using the SPSS statistical software version 25 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA). To highlight the relevance of physiological parameters with respect to the disease index, we applied the conditional formatting tool in Excel resulting in a visual representation comparable to heatmaps.

# 2.3 Results

## 2.3.1 Plant morphology

Light quality affected plant morphology (Figure 2.2). Red light significantly increased the number of leaves per plant, while a combination of red and blue LED light decreased leaf initiation after a 4-week light treatment compared to white light (Figure 2.2A). In addition, the petiole length was affected by the light quality, irrespective of leaf age (Figure 2.2B). Leaf petiole length was repressed by red+blue LEDs ranging from 24% for 3-week-old leaves to 65% in 5-week-old leaves when compared to white light. Monochromatic blue and red light alone only reduced petiole length in 5-week old leaves. Leaf thickness and anatomy was not affected by the light treatments, this for the studied leaf ages (1-week-old to 5week-old leaves, Figure S2.1).



**Figure 2.2** Effect of light quality on leaf initiation for the first four weeks (A) and petiole length (B) from 1-week-old to 5-week-old leaves. Week 1, week 2, week 3, week 4, and week 5 in figures represent leaf age from 1-week-old to 5-week-old, respectively. Different letters indicate significant differences between values at  $p \le 0.05$ . Values are presented as means  $\pm$  S.D. (A: n = 20; B: n = 5).

#### 2.3.2 Resistance against B. cinerea

Leaf age analysis showed that leaf resistance against *B. cinerea* increased gradually and significantly with increasing leaf age until 4-week-old leaves, while it notably decreased in 5-week-old leaves (Table 2.1).

The effect of light quality during leaf development on resistance to *B. cinerea* was explored by assessing lesion development on leaf discs after 4 or 5 dpi under dark condition. Red and red+blue light significantly enhanced the resistance against *B. cinerea* in leaves up to 3-week-old when compared to white light (Figure 2.3A). The lesions of 4-week-old leaves developed slowly and red light grown leaves hardly showed symptoms at 4 dpi (Figure 2.3A). At 5 dpi, lesion development on 4-week-old blue light grown leaves increased while lesions hardly developed for red light grown leaves when compared to white light (Figure 2.3B). For 5-week-old leaves susceptibility increased compared to 4-week-old leaves. Here, the disease rating was the highest in leaves grown under red+blue and lowest under red light (Figure 2.3A). Overall, red light enhanced leaf resistance against *B. cinerea*.



**Figure 2.3** Light quality affects resistance against *B. cinerea* in strawberry. Leaves were punched and inoculated with *B. cinerea* spores and then kept in the dark for 4 or 5 d. A, Effects of light quality on strawberry leaves aged from week 1 to week 5. Disease evaluation was conducted 4 d post inoculation. B, Effects of light quality on 4-week-old leaves assessed at 5 d post inoculation. Disease rating was evaluated using four scoring categories (0, resistant; 1, slightly spreading lesion; 2, moderately spreading lesion; 3, severely spreading lesion). W, white; B, blue; R, red; BR, red+blue. Different letters indicate statistically significant differences (Kruskall-Wallis test,  $p \le 0.05$ ) between light quality treatments.

## 2.3.3 Hydrogen peroxide

Leaf age considerably affected  $H_2O_2$  levels in strawberry leaves. The youngest, 1-week-old leaves had the highest level of  $H_2O_2$ , while the level decreased with increasing leaf age till 4-week-old leaves. The lowest  $H_2O_2$  level was found in 4-week-old leaves, while it increased
from 4-week-old to 5-week-old (Table 2.1). Under red light  $H_2O_2$  was significantly lower for all leaf ages, a reduction of respectively 34.9%, 26.3%, 24.6%, 14.3% and 44.2% was found in 1-week-old to 5-week-old leaves, when compared to white light (Figure 2.4A). In 1-week-old and 4-week-old leaves, the highest  $H_2O_2$  level was observed under red+blue, while for 5-week-old plants, the greatest  $H_2O_2$  content was found in blue light grown leaves. Overall, blue and red+blue light increased  $H_2O_2$  level, while red light decreased  $H_2O_2$  remarkably (Table 2.1).



**Figure 2.4** Effects of light quality on hydrogen peroxide (A) content in strawberry leaves from 1-weekold to 5-week-old, and correlation between disease index and hydrogen peroxide (B). Different symbols mean different leaf ages:  $\circ$ , 1-week-old;  $\diamond$ , 2-week-old;  $\bigtriangledown$ , 3-week-old;  $\triangle$ , 4-week-old;  $\Box$ , 5week-old; colors show the light quality treatment: white (white color); blue (blue color); red (red color) and red+blue (purple color). Values are presented as means of four replicates with standard deviation shown by vertical bars. Different letters indicate statistical differences between the light quality treatments based on Tukey's test (p ≤ 0.05).

The effects of leaf age and light quality on the innate  $H_2O_2$  content were correlated with *Botrytis* resistance in strawberry (Figure 2.4B). Disease index (%) had a high positive correlation with  $H_2O_2$  (r = 0.673) in strawberry leaves. One-week-old leaves had the greatest disease index and highest  $H_2O_2$  level, while 4-week-old leaves had the lowest disease index with the lowest  $H_2O_2$  level.

### 2.3.4 Metabolites and antioxidant enzymes

A higher concentration of total phenolics was found in 1-week-old leaves, while it decreased by 59.7% for 2-week-old leaves and then remained at the same level for older leaves (Table 2.1). Independent of leaf age, higher concentrations of total phenolics were found in 1-week to 4-week-old leaves grown under red light, while no significant differences for the other light treatments were observed (Figure 2.5A). No effects of light quality on total phenolics were found in 5-week-old leaves.

Disease index moderately correlated with total phenolics (r = 0.581) (Figure 2.5B). This positive correlation is mainly due to the high levels of phenolics in the most susceptible 1-week-old leaves.

Flavonoids were highest in 1-week-old leaves, and then decreased by 69.6% for 2-week-old leaves. The lowest flavonoid level was in 4-week-old leaves while it increased again for 5-week-old leaves (Table 2.1). With respect to light quality, red+blue light grown leaves had the highest flavonoid content from 1-week-old to 3-week-old (Figure 2.5C). Irrespective of leaf age, red+blue light resulted in the highest flavonoid content, while blue and red light had intermediate levels and a significant lower content was found for leaves that developed under white light (Table 2.1). A moderate correlation was found between disease index and total flavonoid (r = 0.581) (Figure 2.5D). Again, this positive correlation was mainly due to the high flavonoid levels in the susceptible 1-week-old leaves.

Blue light significantly increased proline content for all leaf ages (Figure S2.2A). No differences in proline content were found for leaves that developed under red, red+blue and white light with exception for 1-week-old leaves where proline content was significant lowest under red+blue and 3-week-old leaves where proline was lowest under red light (Figure S2.2A). Overall, blue light increased proline content, while red+blue light decreased it significantly (Table 2.1). Leaf age also affected the proline content with higher proline levels in 1-week-old and 5-week-old leaves (Table 1). There is a weak positive correlation between disease index and proline content with r = 0.390 (Figure S2.2B).

**Table 2.1** Effects of light quality and leaf age on disease index (%), H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, total phenolic, total flavonoid, proline, APX, POD, total chlorophyll, carotenoid, chl a/b and anthocyanin. Data are analyzed in a 2-factorial way to analyze the overall effect of light quality and of leaf age. LQ: light quality; LA: leaf age.

Light quality	Disease index %	H2O2 (µmol/mg FW)	Total phenolic (mg g <sup>-1</sup> FW)	Total flavonoid (mg g <sup>-1</sup> FW)	<b>Proline</b> (µmol/mg FW)	<b>APX</b> (µmol/min⋅mg Protein)	<b>POD</b> (µmol/min⋅mg Protein)	Total chlorophyll (µg ml <sup>-1</sup> )	Carotenoid (µg ml <sup>-1</sup> )	ChI a/b	Anthocyanin (unit×10 <sup>3</sup> /g FW)
white	46.7a	0.884b	8.0b	9.3c	0.106b	1.430a	0.330a	38.0b	5.87a	1.93b	11.3b
blue	49.6a	0.993a	8.5b	10.4b	0.192a	1.027b	0.276a	30.9c	4.95b	2.25a	10.9b
red	12.9c	0.627c	10.9a	10.4b	0.099bc	1.498a	0.339a	41.8a	5.88a	1.86b	12.8a
red+blue	30.4b	1.074a	8.8b	11.8a	0.077c	1.673a	0.344a	38.7b	5.69a	1.95b	13.9a
LQ	***	***	***	***	***	***	ns	***	***	***	***
Leaf age											
1-week-old	69.1a	1.241a	20.4a	24.7a	0.164a	2.148a	0.195cd	23.1d	3.64c	2.17a	10.8c
2-week-old	52.4b	0.848b	8.2b	7.5bc	0.074b	1.076cd	0.260c	35.9c	5.40b	2.26a	14.5a
3-week-old	20.8cd	0.800bc	5.9b	6.6cd	0.099b	1.570b	0.612a	33.5c	4.94b	2.13a	11.6bc
4-week-old	8.2d	0.733c	5.6b	6.4d	0.095b	0.771d	0.133d	43.6b	7.03a	1.95b	11.9bc
5-week-old	23.9c	0.847b	6.1b	7.6b	0.152a	1.440bc	0.417b	50.8a	6.97a	1.49c	13.2ab
LA	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***	***
LQ×LA	**	***	**	**	***	***	ns	ns	***	***	***

Different letters indicate statistical differences based on 2-way ANOVA using Tukey's test ( $p \le 0.05$ ).

ns means no statistical differences.

\*\* indicates significant difference at p < 0.01.

\*\*\* indicates significant difference at p < 0.001.



**Figure 2.5** Effects of light quality on total phenolic (A), and total flavonoid (C) content in strawberry leaves from 1-week-old to 5-week-old, and correlations between disease index and total phenolic (B) and total flavonoid content (D). Different symbols mean different leaf ages:  $\circ$ , 1-week-old;  $\diamond$ , 2-week-old;  $\bigtriangledown$ , 3-week-old;  $\triangle$ , 4-week-old;  $\Box$ , 5-week-old; colors show the light quality treatment: white (white color); blue (blue color); red (red color) and red+blue (purple color). Values are presented as means of four replicates with standard deviation shown by vertical bars. Different letters indicate statistical differences between the light quality treatments based on Tukey's test (p ≤ 0.05).

Additionally, antioxidative enzymes ascorbate peroxidase (APX) and guaiacol peroxidase (POD) were studied (Figure S2.3). As a whole, lower APX activity was observed in leaves grown under blue light, while no significant changes were found under red and red+blue light compared to white (Table 2.1). APX activity also fluctuated with leaf age with the highest activity found for 1-week-old leaves, and the lowest for 4-week old-leaves (Table 2.1). POD activity was not affected by light quality, but was significant influenced by leaf age. The highest POD activity was found in 3-week-old leaves, while the lowest was found in 4-week-old leaves (Table 2.1).



**Figure 2.6** Effects of light quality on total chlorophyll (A) and carotenoids (C) content and their correlations with disease index from 1-week-old to 5-week-old strawberry leaves. Data shown are mean values ( $\pm$  S.D.) from four replicates. Different symbols mean different leaf ages:  $\circ$ , 1-week-old;  $\diamond$ , 2-week-old;  $\bigtriangledown$ , 3-week-old;  $\triangle$ , 4-week-old;  $\Box$ , 5-week-old; colors show the light quality treatment: white (white color); blue (blue color); red (red color) and red+blue (purple color). Different letters indicate significant differences between values (Tukey test, p ≤ 0.05).

### 2.3.5 Leaf pigments and anthocyanin

Total chlorophyll was mediated by leaf age with lowest chlorophyll in 1-week-old leaves and a gradual increase with increasing leaf age from 1 week to 5 weeks (Table 2.1). Blue lightgrown leaves had a significantly lower total chlorophyll content at all leaf ages. The other light qualities did not cause marked changes in total chlorophyll content, except for 2-weekold leaves where the highest chlorophyll content was found under red (Figure 2.6A). Overall, the highest content of total chlorophyll was found in leaves grown under red light, followed by red+blue and white and lowest under blue (Table 2.1). However, there was no interaction between leaf age and light quality (Table 2.1). The Chl a/b ratio decreased with leaf aging, leaves up to 3-week-old had the highest ratio, then it fell from 3-week-old to 5-week-old leaves (Table 2.1). The Chl a/b ratio was highest under blue light, while no difference was found between the other treatments. A negative correlation between total chlorophyll and disease index was found (r = -0.684) (Figure 2.6B).

Carotenoids increased with leaf age, with the lowest level in 1-week-old leaves and the highest level in 4 and 5-week-old leaves (Table 2.1). Blue light resulted in a lower carotenoids content in 1-week-old to 4-week-old strawberry leaves, while no marked differences were present between the other treatments relative to white (Figure 2.6C). No significant changes were observed in 5-week-old leaves. As a whole, blue light lowered the level of carotenoids (Table 1). There was a negative correlation between disease index and carotenoids with r = -0.660 (Figure 2.6D).

Anthocyanin content differed according to leaf age and light quality treatment (Figure S2.2C). No clear effect of light quality on anthocyanin level with respect to leaf age could be observed. Irrespective of the light quality, the highest content of anthocyanin was present in 2-week-old leaves followed by 5-week-old and the lowest level was found for 1-week-old leaves (Table 2.1). Overall, red and red+blue light enhanced the anthocyanin content (Table 2.1). There is no significant correlation between disease index and anthocyanin (Figure S2.2D).

## 2.4 Discussion

# 2.4.1 Effects of light quality on leaf initiation and petiole elongation in strawberry

Light quality notably influenced both leaf initiation and petiole elongation in strawberry. Leaf initiation rate as determined by the number of leaves is a major parameter for plant growth. In strawberry, this parameter was significantly enhanced in plants grown under red light, while the combined red+blue treatment resulted in the lowest leaf initiation rate (Figure 2.2A). Leaf initiation is mainly driven by light irradiance through the availability of photosynthates, while effects of light quality on leaf initiation are unclear and seem to be species-dependent. Macedo et al. (2011) found that blue light induced the largest number of leaves/plant in *Alternanthera*, when compared to white, red and green light. In contrast, Hernández and Kubota (2016) showed that blue light reduced the number of leaves. Also, red light prolonged the vegetative phase in tomato by increasing the number of leaves before flowering (Cao et al., 2016).

In strawberry, red+blue light reduced petiole length, while petiole length was not suppressed by blue or red light (Figure 2.2B). Internode and petiole length are mediated by cryptochromes and phytochromes. Both red/far-red ratio and blue/red ratio impact these traits (Casal, 2000; Hernández & Kubota, 2016). Van leperen et al. (2012) showed that petiole lengths of cucumber plants under monochromatic red light were 34% longer than under the combination of 30B:70R. In cherry tomato, plants grown under red light almost doubled their plant height compared to the 50B:50R treatment (Liu et al., 2011). Also strawberry petioles were shorter under the combined 50B:50R treatment (Figure 2.2A). This effect is probably due to an antagonistic interaction between phytochromes and cryptochromes (Brown et al., 1995; Nhut et al., 2003).

### 2.4.2 The effects of leaf age and light quality on *B. cinerea* resistance

Basal resistance against *B. cinerea* in strawberry is considerably influenced by both leaf age and light quality. Leaf resistance varied along with leaf ages with the highest resistance in 4week-old leaves (Table 2.1), while red light dramatically improved leaf resistance independent of leaf age (Figure 2.3).

Plant and leaf developmental age are important determining factors of stress responses. Plants exhibit complex temporal and spatial variability of leaf development. The developmental phase can be linked to stress susceptibility as during leaf development a range of physiological, biochemical and structural characteristics change (Coleman, 1986). Here, we defined leaf age by recording the time from visible initiation. Strawberry leaves of different developmental age were studied for their influence on resistance against B. cinerea. Strawberry leaf resistance to B. cinerea gradually increased with developmental stage, and peaked at week 4, then decreased significantly from week 4 to week 5 (Table 2.1). Likewise, Sirjusingh et al. (1996) observed that the resistance of geranium leaves to B. cinerea continuously increased as leaf age increased from 1-week-old to 4 weeks, and declined from 4-week-old to 10-week-old. Although B. cinerea and Podosphaera aphanis that causes powdery mildew on strawberry are different in lifestyle and infection strategy, Amsalem et al. (2006) as well as Carisse and Bouchard (2010) also reported that young strawberry leaves were more susceptible to infection by P. aphanis than older ones and this susceptibility of plants was reported to depend on the thickness of the cuticle (Jhooty & McKeen, 1962). These studies indicate the important role of leaf developmental stage in plant defense responses.

Several studies have focused on the effects of different light qualities on the resistance of plant leaves after inoculation with *B. cinerea* (Ahn et al., 2015; Islam et al., 1998; Kim et al., 2013, Xu et al., 2017). However, the influence of light quality on basal host resistance of plant leaves against *B. cinerea* has hardly been studied. Here, we investigated the effect of pre-treatment under different light qualities on the establishment of resistance in strawberry leaves with different leaf ages to *B. cinerea*. Our results demonstrated that red light pre-treatment has a major effect on up-regulating leaf resistance to the necrotrophic pathogen *B.* 

57

*cinerea* (Figure 2.3), while blue light resulted in a reduced resistance to *B. cinerea*. Strawberry leaves under red+blue light showed an intermediate response (Table 2.1). Previously, Islam et al. (1998) found that a pretreatment with red light for 24 h greatly enhanced the resistance of broad bean to *B. cinerea*, while no significant difference was observed under blue light compared to white. Moreover, this pretreatment under red light notably inhibited infection hypha formation of *B. cinerea* on broad bean leaflets 48 h after inoculation. A low red/far-red ratio which leads to inhibition of phytochrome B severely depressed *Arabidopsis* resistance to *B. cinerea* (Cerrudo et al., 2012). Xu et al. (2017) irradiated detached tomato leaves inoculated with *B. cinerea* with different light qualities and found that red and purple light inhibited lesion development.

### 2.4.3 Hydrogen peroxide

Hydrogen peroxide levels were affected by both leaf age and light quality and inversely correlated with *B. cinerea* resistance.

Leaf age played an important role in defining hydrogen peroxide level in strawberry leaves, with a decrease from 1-week-old to 4-week-old leaves followed by an increase in 5-week-old leaves. Hydrogen peroxide, as the most stable ROS, regulates many plant developmental processes, such as seed germination, root hair growth and senescence (Singh et al., 2016). In relation to leaf development, Bieker et al. (2012) showed that  $H_2O_2$  levels were higher in young oilseed rape leaves than in old leaves, which is in accordance with our results. In *Arabidopsis*, overall  $H_2O_2$  levels increased when plants started to bolt and flowering indicating that the increase in  $H_2O_2$  appears to be a systemic signal (Bieker et al., 2012; Zimmermann et al., 2006). The increase in  $H_2O_2$  levels from 4-week-old to 5-week-old leaves may also serve a signaling role in strawberry.

In this study, a significant accumulation of  $H_2O_2$  was observed in blue light grown leaves with higher susceptibility to *Botrytis*, while decreased  $H_2O_2$  was found in leaves grown under red light with higher resistance (Table 2.1). In plants,  $H_2O_2$  has two sides in regulating defense reaction (Chamnongpol et al., 1998; Govrin & Levine, 2000). Generally,  $H_2O_2$  is involved in the induction of several defense reactions, such as induction of defense genes, phytoalexin synthesis, and hypersensitive response (Chen et al., 1993). On the other hand,  $H_2O_2$ accumulation is also involved in successful infection by necrotrophic pathogens such as *Botrytis*. Upon *Botrytis* infection,  $H_2O_2$  was generated in and around the penetrated cell wall as well as in the plant plasma membrane, leading to an oxidative burst and hypersensitive response. These oxidative processes resulted in host cell death and contributed to the disease progress (Temme & Tudzynski, 2009). Govrin and Levine (2000) reported that  $H_2O_2$ levels positively correlated with necrosis produced by *B. cinerea* and its growth in *Arabidopsis*. In broad beans, salicylic acid-pretreatment enhanced  $H_2O_2$  generation and its accumulation increased leaf susceptibility to *Botrytis*. Moreover,  $H_2O_2$  pretreatment also enhanced lesion formation by *B. cinerea* in broad bean (Khanam et al., 2005a). In strawberry, it is therefore possible that the higher  $H_2O_2$  level in blue-light-leaves reinforced programmed cell death caused by *Botrytis* infection, thus contributing to the disease progress. In contrast, the lower level of  $H_2O_2$  in leaves grown under red light inhibits lesion formation, thus increasing leaf resistance to *B. cinerea*. Interestingly, the study of Xu et al. (2017) with detached tomato leaves inoculated with *B. cinerea* revealed that red light inhibited the oxidative stress caused by disease stress when compared to darkness. Red light rapidly decreased the hydrogen peroxide content to a lower level and inhibited the increase of the superoxide production rate.

### 2.4.4 Metabolites

In strawberry, it is noteworthy that much higher phenolic and flavonoid levels were observed in 1-week-old leaves compared to older leaves (Table 2.1). With respect to light quality, red light increased phenolics significantly, while red+blue light increased flavonoid levels in 1 to 3-week-old leaves (Figure 2.5A and 2.5C). Proline levels were mainly influenced by light quality. Blue light significantly increased proline content at all leaf ages.

Phenolic compounds are essential secondary metabolites in plant disease resistance (Ashry & Mohamed, 2011), and their synthesis upon light spectrum is species-specific (Taulavuori et al., 2016). In strawberry, red light clearly boosted the synthesis of total phenolics, which is in agreement with the influence of red light on the Chrysanthemum cultivars Bolero and Tappino, but different with the other Chrysanthemum cultivars reported by Zheng and Van Labeke (2017). Moreover, both blue and red light are probably needed to regulate the accumulation of phenolics in basil (Taulavuori et al., 2016). In addition, increased accumulation of phenolic compounds is one of the best characterized responses to different stresses (Chérif et al., 2007; Demkura et al., 2010). Phenolics that occur constitutively and function as preformed antimicrobial compounds can directly inhibit spore germination and mycelial growth of pathogenic fungi but also contribute to cell wall thickening to physically protect the plant against pathogen attack (Chérif et al., 2007). Wurms et al. (2003) reported that higher constitutive concentrations of phenolics contributed to the higher constitutive resistance against *B. cinerea* in kiwifruit cultivar Actinidia chinensis "Hort 16A". Accordingly, the highest resistance in red light strawberry leaves in this study might be attributable, in part, to higher total phenolic levels. However, the correlation analysis showed that total phenolic levels had a moderately positive relationship with the disease index. This is due to the fact that 1-week-old leaves, which are very susceptible to *B. cinerea*, had very high total

59

phenolic levels, indicating that also leaf age played an important role in phenolic content. Consequently, total phenolic levels in strawberry leaves are not a dominant factor that decides basal resistance against *Botrytis*.

Flavonoids are low molecular weight polyphenolic substances produced by plants to protect against pathogens, herbivores, and oxidative cell injury (Agati et al., 2012; Cook & Samman, 1996). The flavonoid content in strawberry leaves varied along with leaf developmental stages, consistently decreasing from 1-week-old to 4-week-old leaves followed by an increase in 5-week-old leaves. Most strikingly, total flavonoid content was much higher in young (1-week-old) than in older leaves (Table 2.1). Likewise, it was observed that flavonol concentrations were higher in young, compared to old leaves in *Sinapis alba* (Reifenrath & Müller, 2007) and more mature plants of *Spinacia oleracea* (Bergqust et al., 2005). There was a moderate positive correlation (r = 0.581) between disease index and flavonoids, which is mainly explained by the high flavonoids content in the susceptible one-week-old leaves.

Blue light significantly increased proline levels, especially in one week and five-week-old strawberry leaves (Figure S2.2A). Blue light also increased proline levels in tomato leaves and stems (Kim et al., 2013) and in *Chrysanthemum* leaves (Zheng & Van Labeke, 2017a). The positive effects of blue light on tomato disease resistance to *B. cinerea* observed by Kim et al. (2013) are probably due to a direct inhibitory effect of blue light on mycelium growth, as shown by Xu et al. (2017) rather than by plant-mediated defense mechanisms.

### 2.4.5 Leaf pigments

Total chlorophyll and carotenoid levels were positively influenced by leaf age and negatively influenced by blue light (Table 2.1 and Figure 2.6A and 2.6C).

Decreased chlorophyll was one of the most striking phenomena in strawberry leaves grown under blue light. It is reported that chlorophyll involved in photosynthesis is regulated by phyB or red and far-red lights, and low red/far-red ratio or reduced *phyB* expression decreases chlorophyll concentration in many species (Distefano et al., 2013; Heraut-Born et al., 1999; Tucker, 1981). Therefore, the lower chlorophyll content under blue may be due to lack of red light. Furthermore, *phyB* mutants or plants exposed to low red:far-red light with decreased *phyB* expression exhibited increased susceptibility to insects or pathogens (Cerrudo et al., 2012; Islam et al., 1998; Kazan & Manners, 2011b). Moreover, the pale color of leaves due to a lower chlorophyll content contributes to the enhanced sensitivity of plants to pathogen and herbivores (Demotes-Mainard et al., 2016). As a consequence, lower chlorophyll content in young leaves or under blue light, to some extent, led to the increased leaf susceptibility to *B. cinerea* in strawberry. In addition, the chl a/b ratio is modified by

environmental factors and varies according to light conditions (Lichtenthaler, 1987). Many studies have reported that both monochromatic blue and higher proportion of blue light in plant lighting tend to increase the chl a/b ratio (Hogewoning et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2015; Huché-Thélier et al., 2016), which is in line with our results. Plants with less chlorophyll are reported to have higher absorbance of blue light (Abadía et al., 1999), indicating plants highly adapt to light environment. Comprehensively, the lower chlorophyll content in young leaves or in blue light-grown strawberry leaves leads to the higher sensitivity to *B. cinerea*. Since there was a good negative correlation (r = -0.684) between disease index and total chlorophyll, its concentration in strawberry leaves plays a significant role in determining the susceptibility to grey mold depending on both leaf age and light quality.

Carotenoids are not only essential pigments for photosynthesis but also efficient antioxidants protecting plants against oxidative stresses (Stahl & Sies, 2003). A significant decrease was found in carotenoids in blue light grown-strawberry leaves compared to the other treatments, while no difference was observed in cherry tomato seedlings under blue light compared to red, green, orange, and combinations (Liu et al., 2012). Zheng and Van Labeke (2017) also reported no total carotenoids differences in red, blue and red+blue growth *Chrysanthemum*. It can be concluded that carotenoids synthesis regulated by light quality is dependent on plant species. Carotenoids are involved in ROS scavenging and also in reducing the generation of radicals and singlet oxygen (Stahl & Sies, 2003). The ROS generated in blue light-grown leaves is probably not efficiently scavenged due to lower carotenoids levels in these leaves. This may be one of the reasons why leaves grown under blue light have a higher susceptibility to *Botrytis*, which also can be confirmed by the negative correlation between disease index and carotenoids (r = -0.660).

#### Chapter 2



**Figure 2.7** Effect of leaf age and light quality on various plant parameters. Color codes are given based on the values and corresponding statistical grouping given in Table 1 using the conditional formatting tool in Excel. Green: low levels; Orange: intermediate levels; Red: high levels; Dark red: very high levels.

## 2.5 Conclusion

Leaf developmental stage is an intrinsic property of plants, while light quality is an environmental factor. In this study, it is clearly shown that leaf age and light quality are two forces that considerably influence leaf resistance to *B. cinerea*. Leaf resistance consistently increased from 1-week-old to 4-week-old leaves but decreased in 5-week-old leaves independent of light quality, while red light significantly improved leaf resistance in each leaf developmental stage. The three parameters that best correlated with basal leaf resistance to *B. cinerea* are low hydrogen peroxide levels and high total chlorophyll and carotenoids levels (Figure 2.7). However, Figure 2.7 also shows that contrasting effects of leaf age and light quality on parameters on *B. cinerea* leaf resistance. In general, our study reveals that leaf age should be taken into account when assessing the effect of light quality on disease resistance.



## 2.6 Supplementary material

**Figure S2.1** Cross-sections of strawberry leaves grown under white (A, E, I, M,Q), blue (B, F, J, N, R), red (C, G, K, O, S), red+blue (D, H, L, P, T) LED lights and aged from 1-week-old to 5-week-old. Week 1: A, B, C, D; week 2: E, F, G, H; week 3: I, J, K, L; week 4: M, N, O, P; week 5: Q, R, S, T. UE: upper epidermis; LE: lower epidermis; PP: palisade parenchyma; SP: spongy parenchyma; DC: druse crystals; La: lacunae; St: stomata.



**Figure S2.2** Effects of light quality on proline (A), anthocyanin (C) and their correlations with disease index in 1-week old to 5-week old strawberry leaves. Data shown are mean values ( $\pm$  S.D.) from four replicates. Different symbols mean different leaf ages:  $\circ$ , 1-week-old;  $\diamond$ , 2-week-old;  $\bigtriangledown$ , 3-week-old;  $\triangle$ , 4-week-old;  $\Box$ , 5-week-old; colors show the light quality treatment: white (white color); blue (blue color); red (red color) and red+blue (purple color). Different letters indicate significant differences between values (Tukey test, p ≤ 0.05).



**Figure S2.3** Effects of light quality on APX (A), POD (C) and their correlations with disease index in 1-week old to 5-week old strawberry leaves. The mean and SD of the activities from four replicates are presented. Different symbols mean different leaf ages:  $\circ$ , 1-week-old;  $\diamond$ , 2-week-old;  $\bigtriangledown$ , 3-week-old;  $\triangle$ , 4-week-old;  $\Box$ , 5-week-old; colors show the light quality treatment: white (white color); blue (blue color); red (red color) and red+blue (purple color). Different letters indicate significant differences between values (Tukey test, p ≤ 0.05).

Chapter 3

Timing of Light Quality Affects Susceptibility to *Botrytis cinerea* in Strawberry Leaves

## This chapter is based on:

Lijuan Meng, Marie-Christine Van Labeke, Monica Höfte (2020). Timing of light quality affects susceptibility to *Botrytis cinerea* in strawberry leaves. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology* 211: 111988.

## Abstract

Light plays an essential role in the outcome of plant-pathogen interactions. In this study, the effect of pre- and post-inoculation light quality on Botrytis cinerea disease development in strawberry leaves was investigated. Circadian variations in leaf susceptibility to Botrytis cinerea were tested by inoculating at 5 h, 12 h, or 16 h after the start of photoperiod. The effects of 4 h and/or 12 h of red or blue light combined with white light in a 16 h photoperiod on leaf susceptibility and metabolites were studied. Light presence significantly decreased leaf susceptibility to Botrytis irrespective of light quality. Leaf susceptibility to B. cinerea showed significant circadian variations. Susceptibility was highest in leaves inoculated 12 h after the start of photoperiod followed by incubation in the dark. When disease development took place under the light regime, the shorter the light period after inoculation the stronger the disease symptoms. Twelve hours of red light radiation in a 16 h photoperiod increased, while 12 h blue light radiation decreased leaf resistance, resulting in alterations in the circadian variation of leaf susceptibility. These alterations correlated with changes in leaf metabolites, such as hydrogen peroxide, total phenolics and hexoses. Overall, we conclude that twelve hours of red light followed by white light in a 16 h photoperiod efficiently increased leaf resistance to B. cinerea.

## 3.1 Introduction

Light is an essential environmental factor in almost all ecosystems by being a source of energy, information as well as stress. Light is crucial for successful competition and survival in nature. Plants perceive information about light via photoreceptors that regulate growth and development, defense responses, and the circadian clock (Ballaré, 2014; Kami et al., 2010). Arabidopsis presents a diurnal variation in susceptibility to B. cinerea, and inactivation of phytochrome B by light with a low red/far-red ratio reduced its resistance by down-regulation of defense marker gene expression (Cerrudo et al., 2012; Ingle et al., 2015). By contrast, red light irradiation enhances disease resistance in plants. Red light irradiance induced resistance to Botrytis cinerea in broad bean (Islam et al., 1998). Khanam et al., (2005a) further confirmed this induction by red light, and hypothesized that induction of antioxidant enzyme catalase activity contributes to elicitor-dependent production of antifungal compounds by living host cells. A study on the development of broad bean leaves and red light-induced resistance against *B. cinerea*, concluded that the induced resistance by red light possibly depends on host photosynthesis and protein synthesis (Rahman et al., 2002). In strawberry, induced resistance against *B. cinerea* by red light correlated with decreased hydrogen peroxide levels (Meng et al., 2019).

Likewise, filamentous fungi maintain a multifaceted regulatory network to sense light as a signal to induce adaptive responses, to guide growth and to control development (Schumacher, 2017). In *B. cinerea*, light, or its absence, triggers absolute responses with exclusive production of conidia in the light and exclusive sclerotia formation in constant darkness. Interestingly, more conidia are formed by cultures that are incubated in light-dark cycles than in constant light. Tan & co-workers performed extensive experiments with different light qualities and showed that both conidial and sclerotial development were reduced by blue light, whereas near-UV alone led to the conidiation (Tan & Epton, 1973, 1974). Moreover, Islam et al. (1998) found that near-UV, blue and far-red light marginally inhibited germ tube growth and induced negative phototropism with increasing numbers of penetrating germ tubes. Red light, however, increased germ tube elongation and induced positive phototropism, which resulted in a high proportion of germ tubes merely growing across the surface of the host tissue. Taken together, the importance of light with respect to the outcome of plant-pathogen interaction involves its effects on both the host response and virulence of the attacking pathogen (Roden & Ingle, 2009).

In nature, day and night are cycled in 24 hours. To adapt to this day/night cycle, plants have accordingly evolved a time-keeper, the circadian clock, that regulates their physiology, behavior, and response. The proper matching between the plant circadian clock and the

70

external environment not only enhances the ability of plants to sense harsh conditions but also allows to temporally gate the responses to environmental stresses in a timely manner. Thus, plant responsiveness to both abiotic and biotic stresses is under circadian control. For example, rhythmic changes in chilling and heat resistance were reported in cotton by Rikin et al. (1993). Cotton leaves were most sensitive to cold during the light period and most resistant during the dark period, while the heat-resistant phase developed in the light period and the heat-sensitive phase was observed in the evening. Similarly, defense responses of Arabidopsis thaliana to infection by Pseudomonas syringae are regulated by the circadian clock. Plants show a time-based oscillation over the day in their resistance to *P. syringae* with a peak resistance at dawn. This temporal resistance pattern was disrupted when the clock gene, CCA1 (CIRCADIAN CLOCK ASSOCIATED 1) or ELF 3, was miss-expressed, thus supporting a direct role of the circadian clock in defense regulation (Bhardwaj et al., 2011). In addition, the plant circadian clock regulates the susceptibility to B. cinerea, which is driven by the jasmonate signaling pathway in Arabidopsis. A resistance peak occurred at dawn, then decreased continuously to midnight (Ingle et al., 2015). In turn, activation of defense responses by pathogens can regulate the plant clock activity. Zhang et al. (2013) firstly showed that defenses activated by infection with both virulent and avirulent Pseudomonas syringae were able to shorten the circadian period in Arabidopsis. The coreclock regulator, CCA1 was altered in its expression in plants when infected with the downy mildew pathogen Hyaloperonospora arabidopsis Emwa1 (Wang et al., 2011). Therefore, the circadian regulation is of importance in the outcome of plant-pathogen interactions.

Light qualities with different spectra influence plant defense responses. In strawberry, monochromatic red light predominantly inhibited disease symptoms caused by *Botrytis cinerea* (Meng et al., 2019). However, for several crops it has been reported that leaves that develop under monochromatic red light display a dysfunctional photosynthesis with a lower CO<sub>2</sub> fixation (Hogewoning et al., 2010). Therefore, it is important to know if a shorter red light treatment during the photoperiod could still induce this resistance to *Botrytis*, while reducing the potential negative effects on primary metabolism.

In our previous research (Meng et al., 2019), we only tested the effects of pretreatment with different light qualities on leaf resistance to *B. cinerea* since inoculated leaves were incubated in constant darkness. In addition, leaves were always inoculated 5 h after the start of the photoperiod, so the influence of time of inoculation on disease resistance was not assessed. Based on the information given above and our previous research, three research questions were formulated. First, how does the disease develop if inoculated leaves are incubated under light/dark cycles? Second, does the circadian clock have an effect on leaf susceptibility depending on the time of inoculation? Third, how many hours of red or blue

71

light are needed in the photoperiod to have an effect on disease resistance? According to these questions, we explored the effects of light/dark incubation on the infection with *Botrytis cinerea* in this study. Moreover, circadian variation in leaf susceptibility and leaf metabolism was investigated, and the effects on leaf resistance of 4 h or 12 h light quality treatments in a 16 h photoperiod were tested.

## 3.2 Materials and Methods

## 3.2.1 Plant material and light experiments

Strawberry (*Fragaria × ananassa* 'Elsanta') plants were used throughout this study. Coldstored young plants were potted in 0.3 L pots using a peat-based potting soil (Van Israel nv, Belgium) and grown in a climate room under a photoperiod of 16 h at 20°C and an average relative humidity of 60%. The photosynthetic photon flux density of the light treatments was 100 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. The plants were fertilized with Soluplant nutrition (Haifa, The Netherlands, EC=1.5 dS/m, pH=5.7) three times a week. Light treatments were separated by nonreflective dark screens.

In experiment 1, four light treatments were applied: a control with sun-like white light (300-900 nm, Gavita light-emitting plasma lamps, The Netherlands) and three LEDs treatments: blue light (B, peak at 460 nm, Philips, the Netherlands), red light (R, peak at 660 nm, Philips, The Netherlands), and red+blue light (RB, 60%/40%, peak at 460 nm and 660 nm, CID -800 programmable LED lighting system, CID Bio-Science USA) (Figure 3.1A, Figure S3.1).

In experiment 2, three light treatments were applied: white light (16 h), white (12h) followed by 4 h blue light and white (12 h) followed by 4 h red light. White light was provided as sunlike wide spectrum light LED growth light (NS1, Valoya, Finland) (Figure 3.1B, Figure S3.1).

In experiment 3, three light treatments were applied: white light (16 h), blue light (12h) followed by 4 h white light, and red light (12h) followed by 4h white light. White light was provided as sun-like wide spectrum light LED growth light (NS1, Valoya, Finland) (Figure 3.1C, Figure S3.1).

In the three experiments, strawberry plants were exposed to the indicated light treatments for 2 weeks until sampling.



**Figure 3.1** Experimental set-up used in this study. Light treatments and *B. cinerea* inoculation times are shown. In the three experiments, the photoperiod was 16 h and the dark period 8h. A. Experiment 1: four light qualities were tested (16 h W, 16 h B, 16 h R, and 16 h R+B) and *B. cinerea* was inoculated 5 h after the start of the photoperiod. B. Experiment 2: plants were exposed to three different light regimes at the end of the photoperiod (12 h W + 4 h W, 12 h W + 4 h B, 12 h W + 4 h R) and inoculated with *B. cinerea* 5 h, 12 h or 16 h after the start of the photoperiod (12 h W + 4 h W, 12 h B + 4 h W, 12 h R + 4 h W) and B. cinerea was inoculated 5 h, 12 h or 16 h after the start of the photoperiod. In all experiments *B. cinerea* was inoculated on leaf discs prepared from 2-week-old leaves. Inoculated leaf discs were incubated under the same light regime or in the dark.

#### 3.2.2 Disease assays

Conidia were collected from 10-day-old *B. cinerea* strain R16 (Faretra & Pollastro, 1991) cultures grown on potato dextrose agar medium (PDA, Becton, Dickinson, and Company) at 24 °C. A suspension was prepared by flooding culture plates with sterilized ¼ potato dextrose broth (PDB, Becton, Dickinson, and Company) containing 0.01% (v/v) Tween 20 (MERCK, Germamy). After filtering the mycelium fragments over cheesecloth, the spore concentration was adjusted to  $5 \times 10^5$  spores/ml with a haemocytometer. Four individual plants were used for each inoculation assay, this was repeated three times (n = 12). Of each plant, two-week-old fully developed strawberry leaves were used for the inoculation. Twenty-four leaf discs (1-cm-diameter) from each leaf were randomly divided into two incubation treatments, incubation in the light cycle or incubation in the dark. Leaf discs were inoculated with 10 µL droplets of the *B. cinerea* spore suspension on the upper leaf surface. For

incubation in the light cycle microplates were placed back to the respective light treatments after inoculation.

Four individual plants were used for each inoculation assay, this was repeated three times with different plants (n = 12). Of each plant from each light treatment (Figure 3.1), two-week-old fully developed strawberry leaves were sampled for the inoculation. Twenty-four leaf discs (1-cm-diameter) from each leaf were randomly divided into two identical groups and inoculated with 10  $\mu$ L droplets of the *B. cinerea* spore suspension on the upper leaf surface. After inoculation, one group of leaf discs was immediately placed back to the respective light treatments in Figure 3.1, the other group was immediately placed in the dark.

Depending on the experiment one or three time sampling points during the light cycle were taken. In experiment 1, the inoculation was conducted 5 hours after the start of the photoperiod (10:00). In experiment 2 and 3, leaves were inoculated 5 h, 12 h and 16 h after the start of the photoperiod (10:00, 17:00 and 21:00).

Disease severity and lesion spreading were recorded four days post inoculation. Disease ratings were expressed using four scoring categories for the lesion developments: 0, resistant; 1, slightly spreading lesion; 2, moderately spreading lesion; 3, severely spreading lesion.

### 3.2.3 Determination of leaf metabolism

Leaf material (2-week-old) was collected in Experiment 3 every four hours over a 24 h light/dark period at 0 h, 4 h, 8 h, 12 h, 16 h, and 20 h after the start of photoperiod. Leaf material was ground in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until analysis.

Leaf H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels were determined with 1% TCA and 1 M KI in potassium phosphate buffer (pH 5.8) (Junglee et al., 2014). Leaf material was extracted in 80% methanol for total phenolic and total flavonoid analysis. Phenolics were measured according to the Folin-Ciocalteu method and flavonoids were determined using the aluminum chloride method (Hong et al., 2008). The leaf chlorophyll and carotenoid content were extracted in 80% acetone for 24 h. The supernatant was measured with a spectrophotometer (Infinite 200, Tecan Group Ltd. Switzerland) (Chen et al., 2004) and leaf chlorophylls and carotenoids were extracted in 80% ethanol for 3 h at 45°C and the supernatant was purified with PVPP (Polyvinylpolypyrrolidone, AppliChem, Germany). The concentration of glucose, fructose and sucrose in filtered (0.45 µm, Millipore) diluted samples were quantified using Ultra-Performance Liquid Chromatography (UPLC) with a PA20 column (Christiaens et al., 2016).

## 3.2.4 Trypan blue staining

*B. cinerea* hyphae in infected plant tissues were visualized with trypan blue staining according to Canessa et al. (2013) with small modifications. Briefly, leaf discs were washed in absolute ethanol with gentle agitation to remove chlorophyll. Thereafter, leaves were incubated in trypan blue (ACROS, Organics) staining solution for 30 min, destained and transferred into a 50% glycerol solution. Bright-field microscopy was performed with an Olympus BX-51 microscope and images were captured with a ColorView III camera and edited with the software package CELL-F (Olympus Soft Imaging Solutions).

## 3.2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS System (SPSS 25.0, SPSS Inc, Chicago, USA). Disease rating data were analyzed by Kruskall-Wallis test followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test ( $p \le 0.05$ , n=12). Friedman two-way ANOVA was used to compare dark-incubated treatments with light-incubated treatments. Significant differences were calculated at p < 0.001. For leaf metabolism assays post-hoc comparisons were conducted using Tukey HSD test ( $p \le 0.05$ , n=5).

## 3.3 Results



# 3.3.1 Influence of light quality before and during infection on disease symptom development (Experiment 1)

Light Treatments

**Figure 3.2** Effect of light quality (white, blue, red, red+blue) on disease symptoms of strawberry leaf discs inoculated with *Botrytis cinerea* 5 h after the start of the light period (at 10:00). Strawberry leaves were grown under white, blue, red and red+blue light conditions. After inoculation, leaf discs were incubated in the dark or under the original growth light conditions (incubation under light regime). Disease severity was assessed four days post inoculation using a 0-3 scoring system (0, resistant; 1, slightly spreading lesion; 2, moderately spreading lesion; 3, severely spreading lesion). Different letters indicate statistically significant differences among the treatments (n=12, Kruskall-Wallis followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test,  $p \le 0.05$ ).

Leaf discs inoculated with *B. cinerea* and incubated under dark conditions showed significantly more disease symptoms than leaf discs incubated under light, irrespective of the light quality (Figure 3.2). Red light-grown leaves were the least susceptible to *B. cinerea*, while blue light-grown leaves were the most susceptible. Leaves that had developed under white or red+blue light showed an intermediate susceptibility. Disease development on inoculated leaf discs exposed to white, blue or red+blue light was similar, but clearly lower on red light exposed leaf discs.

# 3.3.2 Influence of 4 h end-of-day light quality treatment and time of inoculation on disease development (Experiment 2)

Time-of-day differences in susceptibility to *B. cinerea* were observed for all treatments (Figure 3.3A-C) while disease severity was influenced by the presence/absence of light during incubation (Figure 3.3). As in Exp 1, disease development was stronger if post-inoculation conditions were in the dark compared to leaves that remained under their respective light regimes.

The highest susceptibility to *Botrytis* was found for dark-incubated leaves that were inoculated 12 h after the start of the photoperiod. However, when inoculated leaves remained under their respective light regimes, the highest susceptibility to *Botrytis* was observed 16 h after the start of the photoperiod (start of the night phase), followed by 12 h white light after the start of photoperiod, and was lowest when leaves were inoculated after 5 h of white light (Figure 3.3A-C).

Overall, susceptibility of the strawberry leaves to *B. cinerea* was highest 12 h after the start of the photoperiod followed by post-inoculation in the dark. If disease development took place under the light regime, the shorter the light period after inoculation the stronger the disease symptoms (Figure 3.3D).

A four hour end-of-day light quality treatment had multiple effects on leaf resistance to *B. cinerea* (Figure S3.2). In general, four hours of blue light had no significant positive or negative influence on leaf resistance, but it reduced disease symptoms when inoculation took place 16 h after the start of photoperiod and leaves were incubated under the same light regime (Figure S3.2C). Four hours end-of-day radiation of red light had variable effects depending on the time of inoculation and dark or light incubation (Figure S3.2). Overall, no significant differences were observed on leaf resistance by 4 h blue or red light at the end of photoperiod irrespective of inoculation time (Figure S3.2D).



**Figure 3.3** Effect of time of inoculation with *B. cinerea* (5 h, 12 h, or 16 h after the start of the photoperiod) on disease symptoms of strawberry leaves grown under different light conditions: A. 12 h W + 4 h W, B. 12 h W + 4 h B, C. 12 h W + 4 h R, D. Overall disease symptoms independent of light conditions. Disease severity was assessed four days post inoculation using a 0-3 scoring system (0, resistant; 1, slightly spreading lesion; 2, moderately spreading lesion; 3, severely spreading lesion). Different letters (without prime for dark incubation and with prime for incubation under light regime) show significant difference among the treatments (n=12, Kruskall-Wallis followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test,  $p \le 0.05$ ). For all treatments, differences in disease severity between incubation in dark or under light regime were significant (Friedman Test, p < 0.001).

# 3.3.3 Influence of 12 h light quality treatment at the start of the photoperiod and time of inoculation on disease symptoms (Experiment 3)

The effect of prolonged light quality application (12 h) at the start of photoperiod on leaf susceptibility to *Botrytis* was investigated. Leaves were inoculated during the light quality treatment (10:00 h, 5 h after the start of the photoperiod), when light quality changed back to white light (17:00 h, 12 h after the start of the photoperiod) or after 4 h of white light (21:00 h, 16 h after the start of the photoperiod (Figure 3.1C). A noticeable decrease in leaf basal resistance under 12 h B + 4 h W, and an increase under 12 h R + 4 h W were noted in all treatments when infection developed in the dark (Figure 3.4A-C).



**Figure 3.4** Effect of 12 h light quality treatments at the start of photoperiod and different times of inoculation on disease severity. A, inoculation at 5 h after the start of photoperiod; B, 12 h after the start of photoperiod; C, 16 h after the start of photoperiod; D, overall disease symptoms independent of inoculation time. Disease severity was assessed four days post inoculation using a 0-3 scoring system (0, resistant; 1, slightly spreading lesion; 2, moderately spreading lesion; 3, severely spreading lesion). Different letters (without prime for dark incubation and with prime for incubation under light regime) show significant difference among the light treatments (n=12, Kruskall-Wallis followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test,  $p \le 0.05$ ). For all treatments, differences in disease severity between incubation in dark or under light regime were significant (Friedman Test, p < 0.001).

However, blue and red light had different influential patterns when leaves remained under the light regime after inoculation. Blue light significantly increased disease severity in leaves inoculated 5 h after the start of the photoperiod, while red light reduced disease development in comparison with white light (Figure 3.4A). When leaves were inoculated 12 h and 16 h after the start of the photoperiod, only red light had a notable effect and decreased disease ratings (Figure 3.4B and C).

Again, disease symptoms were more severe in dark-incubated leaf discs as opposed to those incubated under the light regime. Overall, 12 h blue light significantly increased leaf susceptibility to *Botrytis*, while 12 h red light resulted in a decrease. When disease

developed under the light regime, only 12 h red light significantly reduced leaf susceptibility (Figure 3.4D).

Twelve hours of blue or red light at the start of photoperiod altered the effect of inoculation time on leaf susceptibility to *B. cinerea* in light-incubated leaves when compared to the white light treatment. White light-treated and incubated leaves were most resistant when inoculated 5 h after the start of the photoperiod, while red or blue light-treated and incubated leaves were most resistant when inoculation took place 12 h after the start of the photoperiod (Figure S3.3A-C). Overall, only a significant decrease in disease severity was observed in leaves inoculated 16 h after the start of photoperiod and incubated in the dark (Figure S3.3D).

# 3.3.4 Influence of 12 h light quality treatment at the start of photoperiod on diurnal variations in leaf metabolism

We explored the diurnal variations in hydrogen peroxide, flavonoids, phenolics, pigments and sugars in strawberry leaves subjected to the different light treatments in Exp. 3 (Figure 3.5 and S3.4).

Under white light, leaf hydrogen peroxide levels peaked at midnight (4 h after the start of night) and were lowest at both 8 and 16 h after the start of photoperiod. The diurnal fluctuation of hydrogen peroxide levels disappeared when given 12h blue light and altered when given 12 h red light irradiance in the photoperiod. Irrespective of sampling times, the overall level of hydrogen peroxide was highest in the leaves from 12 h B + 4 h W, followed by 12 h W + 4 h W. The leaves grown under 12 h R + 4 h W lights had the lowest overall level of hydrogen peroxide (Figure 3.5A).

For each light treatment, the level of total phenolics peaked at 4 h after the start of photoperiod. Strawberry leaves treated with 12 h blue light had significant lower phenolic levels at 8 h and 12 h after the start of the photoperiod compared to 12 h white light. The overall levels of total phenolics in leaves exposed to 12 h blue light were considerably lower compared to white light-exposed leaves, independent of sampling time (Figure 3.5B).

The circadian fluctuation of hexoses was greatly influenced by 12 h blue/red light treatments. Strawberry leaves from 12 h blue or red light treatments showed different peaks from those from white light. Twelve hours of red light significantly increased the overall level of hexoses in strawberry leaves compared to white light, irrespective of sampling time (Figure 3.5C).



**Figure 3.5** Diurnal variations of leaf metabolism in strawberry plants subjected to the different light qualities in Exp. 3. A, hydrogen peroxide; B, total phenolics; C, hexoses; D, sucrose. For each light treatment, leaves were sampled at 0h, 4h, 8h, 12h, 16h, and 20h after the start of the photoperiod. Data present the average levels from five replicates  $\pm$  standard deviation. Different small letters with colors (black: 12 h W + 4 h W; blue: 12 h B + 4 h W; red: 12 h R + 4 h W) indicate statistically significant differences among sampling times for each light treatment based on Tukey's test (p ≤ 0.05, n=5). \* indicates significant effects from 12h blue or red light compared to 12h white light. The capital letters following legends show the significant difference between overall levels for each light treatment, irrespective of sampling times (Tukey's test, p ≤ 0.05).

Twelve hours of blue or red light statistically increased the sucrose level at 4 h and 8 h after the start of photoperiod compared to white light. No overall significant differences in sucrose levels were found between the light treatments (Figure 3.5D). The levels of flavonoids and pigments showed significant diurnal variations, but were not influenced by the different light treatments (Figure S3.4).

# 3.3.5 Influence of light quality incubation on the infection processes of *Botrytis*

Light incubation irrespective of light quality greatly decreased the elongation of mycelium after spore germination compared to dark incubation. No large differences in spore germination were observed among the different incubations (Figure 3.6).

On dark-incubated leaf discs, spores started to germinate at 4 hpi. At 8 hpi, all observed spores had germinated, and the tubes developed into infectious hyphae (penetration). On light-incubated leaf discs, most spores had germinated at 8 hpi, but hyphae development was not yet observed. At 10 hpi, the mycelium from spore germination further developed in the dark incubation. The germinated tubes from light incubations started to extend, the length was around 100  $\mu$ m. At 12 hpi, the germinated tubes from light incubations formed infectious hyphae and started to penetrate into the leaf.



**Figure 3.6** The infection process by *Botrytis* spores on leaf discs was observed at 4 hpi, 6 hpi, 8 hpi, 10 hpi, and 12 hpi using trypan blue staining. After spore inoculation, the leaf discs were parallelly incubated in the dark, and under white, blue, and red LED lights until sampling for trypan blue staining. Afterwards, the stained leaf discs were checked under microscope and images were captured with a ColorView III camera and edited with the software package CELL-F. Scale bar is 100 µm. The red arrows indicate germinated spores, blue arrows indicate infectious hyphae. (Note: the blue background in the figure is the residue of trypan blue staining protocol).

## 3.4 Discussion

### 3.4.1 Influence of light on disease symptoms caused by Botrytis cinerea

This work revealed that strawberry leaves inoculated with *B. cinerea* showed less disease symptoms when incubated in the light compared to incubation in the dark (Figure 3.2, 3.3, and 3.5). Blue light treatment before inoculation increased disease severity in dark-incubated leaves, but this was not the case when leaves were incubated under the same light regime. Red light treatment enhanced leaf resistance to *B. cinerea* in both dark and red light-incubated incubated leaves (Figure 3.2).

As an important environmental factor in almost all organisms, light influences the outcome of plant-pathogen interactions with direct effects on both the defense response in the host and the virulence of the attacking pathogen (Roden & Ingle, 2009). On one hand, light with different wavelengths has been reported to influence plant resistance to *B. cinerea* (Ahn et al., 2015; Islam et al., 1998; Kim et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2017). In strawberry, blue LED light irradiance increased leaf susceptibility, while red light decreased the susceptibility to *B. cinerea* (Meng et al., 2019). On the other hand, pathogen virulence is also directly mediated by light. The presence of light and deletion of the photoreceptor BcWCL1 (the orthologs of White Collar complex in *B. cinerea*) reduced disease symptoms caused by *B. cinerea* (Canessa et al., 2013). Therefore, the decreased disease severity in light incubation is the result from the effect of light on both strawberry and *B. cinerea*. This reduced disease severity by light presence is in agreement with the report in Arabidopsis that light/dark incubation caused 19% reduction in lesion area by *B. cinerea* in comparison with dark/dark conditions (Canessa et al., 2013).

In our study, strawberry leaves developed from blue light displayed a notable increased susceptibility to *B. cinerea* in dark incubation, while this increase in susceptibility disappeared when leaves were incubated under blue light/dark conditions, suggesting a direct effect of blue light on *Botrytis* infection. In *Botrytis*, at least eleven potential photoreceptors sense (near)-UV, blue, green, red, and far-red light signals, thus triggering various morphological changes (Schumacher, 2017). Moreover, continuous black light retarded mycelium growth of *B. cinerea* while sporulation was stimulated by near ultraviolet light (NUV), slightly inhibited by red and yellow light but inhibited by blue and green light (Tan & Epton, 1973). Likewise, Kim et al. (2013) described that blue LED light irradiance after inoculation with *B. cinerea* considerably inhibited symptom development in tomato compared to white LED light, resulting from the direct inhibition of blue light on *Botrytis* infection. Red light was much more efficient in decreasing disease development irrespective of light presence, because of its predominant enhancement of leaf basal resistance and

slight inhibition of *B. cinerea* (Meng et al., 2019; Tan & Epton, 1973). Red light is a promising light quality for plant production as it induced disease resistance in various crops, such as tomato resistance to both *B. cinerea* and *Pseudomonas syringae*, the resistance of bean and Arabidopsis to *B. cinerea*, and cucumber resistance to powdery mildew (Cerrudo et al., 2012; Khanam et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2015).

# **3.4.2** Effect of duration of light quality treatment on disease symptoms and plant resistance

Twelve hours of red light in a 16 h photoperiod increased leaf resistance in inoculated leaves under both dark and light/dark incubations, while 4 h red light was not sufficient (Figure 3.4 and S3.1). Twelve hours of blue light combined with 4 h white light increased leaf susceptibility to *Botrytis* (Figure 3.4).

Red light or a high percentage of red light in light combinations is reported to suppress disease development. The enhanced plant resistance to pathogens under red light is correlated with plant antioxidant systems such as total phenolics, and salicylic acid-mediated defense mechanisms (Meng et al., 2019; Shibuya et al., 2011). Red light or a high ratio of red light combined with far-red light increased resistance of cucumber plants to powdery mildew, and this was due to the induction of salicylic acid (SA) biosynthesis and expression of SA-regulating *PR-1* and *WRKY* genes (Shibuya et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2010). Moreover, red light restricted the spread of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato DC3000 (Pto DC3000) on tobacco plants by delaying the programmed cell death process (Moyano et al., 2020). Conversely, a reduced red:far-red ratio inhibited salicylic acid-dependent disease resistance to Pto DC3000 by the repression of SA-inducible kinases and defense-related genes in Arabidopsis (De Wit et al., 2013). Low red/far-red ratios reduced Arabidopsis resistance to B. cinerea via jasmonic acid (JA)-dependent responses (Cerrudo et al., 2012 and 2017; De Wit et al., 2013; Fernández-Milmanda et al., 2020). In these cases, phytochrome B inactivation by far-red light reduced plant immunity by upregulating JAZ10, one of the transcriptional regulators that repress JA responses through regulation of a sulfotransferase (ST2a) transcription (Cerrudo et al., 2017; Fernández-Milmanda et al., 2020; Moreno et al., 2009). Moreover, Courbier et al. (2020) recently reported that far-red light improved soluble sugar contents and B. cinerea disease severity via a JA-dependent pathway in tomato leaves. Therefore, it is likely that the development of Botrytis symptoms under red light was inhibited through a phytochrome-mediated JA-dependent signaling pathway. In contrast, blue light (12 h radiation in 16 h photoperiod) failed to activate PhyBinduced plant resistance as phyB perceives the changes in the red:far-red ratio (Ballaré, 2014), thereby leading to notably reduced leaf basal resistance.

Light quality has effects on leaf morphology, leaf physiology, photosynthesis, and leaf resistance. Among the different light gualities, red and blue light attract a lot of attention in artificial lighting research, as they play pivotal roles in plant development and in photosynthesis with the highest quantum yield under red light (McCree, 1971; Wang et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2018). However, photosynthesis is impaired in plants grown for prolonged periods (weeks) under monochromatic red light, which can be inverted by a small fraction (7%) of blue light (Hogewoning et al., 2010; Trouwborst et al., 2016). Hence, effects of different ratios of red+blue light are largely documented. Nevertheless, a red/blue (1:1) light combination neutralized the resistance enhancement by red light and the resistance attenuation by blue light in strawberry (Meng et al., 2019). Furthermore, red and/or blue light combined with white LED improves the output and nutritional quality of crops (Dong et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2019). Taken together, white light combined with red or blue light were used in this study. White LED exhibits obvious advantages on the optimization of plant light source and spectra, with a continuous spectrum and enhanced utilization rate. Previous studies demonstrated that white LED light guarantees a good quality and high yield of crops such as lettuce, tomato, and wheat in comparison with red, or red-blue LED light sources (Dong et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2013; Lu et al., 2012). However, studies about the effects of white LED combined with red or blue light on leaf resistance are limited. This study firstly documented that white LED combined with red LED increased leaf resistance in strawberry, which provides an important reference value for establishing lighting system in plant production for high yield, high quality as well as high resistance.

# 3.4.3 Diurnal effects on leaf resistance against *Botrytis cinerea* and correlation with circadian variations in leaf metabolism

Leaf resistance against *B. cinerea* showed diurnal variations in strawberry. There is increasing evidence that the circadian clock is important in regulating plant innate immunity. Ingle et al. (2015) documented that Arabidopsis resistance to *B. cinerea* peaked at dawn, thereafter resistance decreased during the light period, and bottomed when leaves were inoculated 15 h to 18 h after dawn, when light period turned to the dark. Accordingly, we investigated strawberry leaf resistance with inoculation at 5 h, 12 h, and 16 h after the start of photoperiod. Leaf susceptibility was highest when inoculated at 12 h after the start of photoperiod followed by dark incubation. When incubated under light/dark conditions, leaf displayed the highest resistance at 5 h after the start of photoperiod, intermediate resistance at 12 h after the start of photoperiod (Figure 3.3). This is partly in line with the demonstration by Ingle et al. (2015) in Arabidopsis. Light has previously been discussed to negatively affect the virulence of *B*.
*cinerea*, with reduced disease symptoms on strawberry leaves infected under diurnal conditions versus dark. However, the time-of-day variation in the success of *B. cinerea* infection is not simply due to the presence or absence of light (Ingle et al., 2015). The microbial clock in *B. cinerea* also played a role in the outcome of infection, and the pathogen was most virulent to Arabidopsis when inoculated at dusk (Hevia et al., 2015).

It should be noted that the time of inoculation does not correspond to the time of infection, as spore germination and penetration of plant tissue by *B. cinerea* hyphae must first occur. This process is influenced by several factors, including conidia concentration (Leroch et al., 2013), nutrient supplements (Audenaert et al., 2002), and plant surface (Holz et al., 2004). Therefore, we performed trypan blue staining in our study, and showed that this process takes place approximately 8 hpi in dark incubation and 12 hpi in light incubation irrespective of light quality (Figure 3.6). For the dark incubation, if inoculation was conducted 12 h after the start of photoperiod, then penetration occurred during midnight (20 h after the start of photoperiod), when strawberry leaves had the highest hydrogen peroxide content in the diurnal cycle. This benefited the successful infection, as  $H_2O_2$  levels positively correlated with necrosis induced by *B. cinerea* (Govrin & Levine, 2000; Meng et al., 2019), thus leading to the greatest susceptibility at 12 h after the start of photoperiod in this study.

Circadian changes in leaf resistance may be partially explained by variations in leaf metabolites. Plants employ different mechanisms to defend themselves against pathogens at different times of the day (Zhang et al., 2013). This is partially due to the circadian regulation of reactive oxygen species, hormone signaling, sugars, and leaf metabolism in plants, as they all play a role in plant defense (Atamian & Harmer, 2016; Farré & Weise, 2012; Lu et al., 2017; Moghaddam & Ende, 2013). Here, we explored the diurnal variations of hydrogen peroxide, flavonoids and phenolics, sugars, and pigments, which all influence leaf basal resistance to *B. cinerea* in strawberry (Meng et al. 2019). Twelve hours of blue or red light in the photoperiod changed the circadian variations of hydrogen peroxide, total phenolics and hexoses (Figure 3.5). These can be the reasons for the increase in leaf basal susceptibility by 12 h blue light and decrease by 12 h red light in the photoperiod (Figure 3.4), as higher overall levels of hydrogen peroxide were found in leaves from 12 h B + 4 hW, and lower overall levels in leaves from 12 h R + 4 h W (Figure 3.5A). Moreover, the lower overall level of total phenolics in 12 h B + 4 h W light-leaves also may have contributed to the increase in leaf susceptibility, while higher hexose levels may have contributed to the decrease in leaf susceptibility from 12 h R + 4 h W (Figure 3.5B and C), as hexoses are needed to fulfill the energy and carbon requirements for the resistance response after infection (Truernit et al., 1996). The leaves from 12 h R + 4 h W with inoculations at 12 h and 16 h after the start of photoperiod displayed lower disease symptoms under light/dark

87

incubation compared to white light, this could be due to the low levels of hydrogen peroxide at 20 h after the start of photoperiod (8 hpi) and the highest total phenolic levels at the end of the dark period (8 hpi), respectively (Figure 3.5A and B).

# 3.5 Conclusion

Light is an important environmental factor that influences both the host and the pathogen during plant-host interactions. Red light increased leaf resistance to Botrytis irrespective of post-inoculation conditions. Four hours of red or blue light radiation in a 16 h photoperiod failed to alter leaf resistance, while a longer radiation of 12 h red or blue light succeeded in increasing or decreasing leaf resistance to Botrytis, respectively. Strawberry leaves showed significant diurnal variations in their susceptibility to *Botrytis*. The susceptibility was highest 12 h after the start of photoperiod followed by a dark post-inoculation phase, which coincides with the highest level of hydrogen peroxide at 8 hpi when the penetration happened. When disease development took place under the light regime, the shorter the light period after inoculation the stronger the disease symptoms. The alteration in circadian variations of leaf susceptibility by 12 h red or blue light radiation was linked to the changes in leaf metabolites. Higher hydrogen peroxide level and low total phenolics content in leaves derived from 12 h B + 4 h W light may have contributed to the increase in leaf susceptibility, while lower hydrogen peroxide, higher contents of total phenolics and hexoses may have contributed to the decreased leaf susceptibility of leaves developed under 12 h R + 4 h W light combination.



# 3.6 Supplementary Material

**Figure S3.1** Relative spectral photon description of LEDs used for strawberry growth in all three experiments: White LED (white), Blue LED (blue), Red LEDs (red), Red plus blue (red+blue). Spectrum was measured with a JAZ spectroradiometer (Ocean optics, USA).



**Figure S3.2** Effect of 4 h light quality treatments at the end of photoperiod on disease symptoms at different times of inoculation. A, inoculation at 5 h after the start of photoperiod; B, 12 h after the start of photoperiod; C, 16 h after the start of photoperiod; D, overall disease symptoms independent of inoculation time. Different letters (without prime for dark incubation and with prime for incubation under light regime) show significant difference among the treatments (n=12, Kruskall-Wallis followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test,  $p \le 0.05$ ). For all treatments, the difference between incubation in dark or under light regime was significant (Friedman Test, p < 0.001).



**Figure S3.3** Effect of time of inoculation with *B. cinerea* (5 h, 12 h, or 16 h after the start of the photoperiod) on disease symptoms of strawberry leaves grown under different light conditions: A. 12 h W + 4 h W, B. 12 h B +4 h W, C. 12 h R + 4 h W, D. Overall disease symptoms independent of light conditions. Different letters (without prime for dark incubation and with prime for incubation under light regime) show significant difference among the treatments (n=12, Kruskall-Wallis followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test,  $p \le 0.05$ ). For all treatments, the difference between incubation in dark or under light regime was significant (Friedman Test, p < 0.001).



**Figure S3.4** Strawberry leaves display diurnal variations in flavonoids (A), Chlorophyll a (B), Chlorophyll b (C), carotenoids (D), and 12h blue or red light have no effects on these diurnal variations. Leaves were sampled every four hours at 0h, 4h, 8h, 12h, 16h, and 20h after the start of photoperiod from each light treatment. Data present the average content from five replicates ± standard deviation. Different letters indicate statistically significant differences among treatments based on Tukey's test (p  $\leq 0.05$ , n=5).

Chapter 4 Phenotypic Variation of *Botrytis cinerea* Isolates is Influenced by Spectral Light Quality

## This chapter is based on:

Lijuan Meng, Hanna Mestdagh, Maarten Ameye, Kris Audenaert, Monica Höfte, Marie-Christine Van Labeke (2020). Phenotypic variation of *Botrytis cinerea* isolates is influenced by spectral light quality. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11: 1233.

## Abstract

Botrytis cinerea, a fungal pathogen that causes grey mold, displays a high degree of phenotypic diversity. Light-emitting diodes (LEDs) with specific light spectrum, which are increasingly used as lighting resource for plant greenhouse production, can also have an effect on the pathogens in this production system. In this study, we investigated the phenological diversity in fifteen B. cinerea isolates upon different light treatments. Daylight, darkness and LED lights with different wavelengths (white, blue, red, blue+red) were chosen as treatments. The fifteen Botrytis isolates differed in their mycelial growth rate, conidia production and sclerotia formation. Light quality had a limited effect on growth rate. All isolates sporulated under daylight treatment, red light resulted in lower sporulation, while white, blue, and blue+red light inhibited sclerotia formation in all isolates, and sporulation in most, but not all isolates. Pathogenicity of the Botrytis isolates was studied on two-week-old strawberry (Fragaria x ananassa 'Elsanta') leaves grown under white, blue and red LED lights. The isolates differed in virulence on strawberry leaves, and this was positively correlated to oxalic acid production by *B. cinerea in vitro*. Red LED light improved leaf basal resistance to all the tested Botrytis isolates. Blue light pretreatment resulted in decreased leaf resistance to some isolates. Furthermore, we used image analysis to quantify the virulence of the different *Botrytis* isolates based on changes in photosynthetic performance of the strawberry leaves: chlorophyll fluorescence ( $F_v/F_m$ ), chlorophyll index (Chlldx) and anthocyanin content (modified anthocyanin reflection index, mArildx).  $F_v/F_m$  showed a strong negative correlation with disease severity and can be an indicator for the early detection of grey mold on strawberry leaves.

## 4.1 Introduction

*Botrytis cinerea* Pers.:Fr the causal agent of grey mold disease is a filamentous, heterothallic fungus with a necrotrophic life style (Alfonso et al., 2000). This pathogen has a wide host range and infects more than 1000 plant species worldwide including vegetables, ornamentals, and fruits, leading to important yield and quality losses (Elad et al., 2016). *Botrytis cinerea* is a highly versatile pathogen. As a necrotroph, it can extract nutrients from dead or senescent plant material, but it can also infect living tissues via direct penetration or through natural openings or wounds (Williamson et al., 2007). Additionally, it can also grow saprophytically. *Botrytis* can be isolated from different plant species in nature and infection can be reproduced in the laboratory on a wide range of hosts. Yet, a certain degree of host specialization exists in this pathogen (Muñoz et al., 2002; Thompson & Latorre, 1999). For example, Cotoras and Silva (2005) reported that *B. cinerea* strains isolated from tomato were more virulent on tomato leaves than isolates from grapes. Furthermore, a study of 490 isolates from open-field crops by microsatellite loci suggested the occurrence of host-specific divergence of *B. cinerea* in perennial hosts (Asadollahi et al., 2013).

Botrytis cinerea isolates show phenotypic and genetic variability. Differences in colony morphology, mycelial growth, sporulation intensity, sclerotia formation, and pathogenicity have been described (Di Lenna et al., 1981; Khazaeli et al., 2010; Kumari et al., 2014; Kuzmanovska et al., 2012; Martinez et al., 2003; Pande et al., 2010). B. cinerea produces a battery of extracellular enzymes, including pectinases and pectin methylesterases (Reignault et al., 1994). Botrytis isolates with different pathogenic capabilities on various host produced different amounts of extracellular pectic enzymes (Di Lenna et al., 1981). High genetic diversity in B. cinerea populations has been revealed using a multiplicity of molecular techniques, such as PCR detection of transposable elements (Martinez et al., 2008), RFLP analysis of PCR-amplified loci (Baraldi et al., 2002; Muñoz et al., 2002), PCR amplification of microsatellite loci (Asadollahi et al., 2013; Isenegger et al., 2008), and randomly amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis (Alfonso et al., 2000; Pande et al., 2010). Disease control is difficult because the pathogen has a broad host range and it can survive as mycelium and/or conidia or as sclerotia for extended periods. In addition, B. cinerea isolates differ in their sensitivity to fungicides and fungicide resistance is quickly obtained (Kretschmer & Hahn, 2008).

*B. cinerea* has eleven photoreceptors including two cryptochromes, four LOVs (light, oxygen, voltage), two opsins and three phytochromes to respond to different light conditions varying from near-UV, blue, green, red and far-red light (Schumacher, 2017). Blue light is sensed by the proteins that bind flavin via LOV or FAD (flavin adenine dinucleotide) domains such as

96

BcWCL1 and BcWCL2 (the orthologs of White Collar complex in *B. cinerea*), and BcVVD1 (the orthologs of vivid in *B. cinerea*) (Rodriguez-Romero et al., 2010). BcWCL1 interacts with BcWCL2 in the nuclei, forming the White Collar complex (WCC), which is required to respond to white light (Schumacher, 2012). Opsins are transmembrane proteins using retinal to sense green light, and phytochromes are histidine kinases using bilin to perceive red/far-red light (Rodriguez-Romero et al., 2010). Based on the light perception by these photoreceptors, *B. cinerea* senses surrounding light as a decision-tool for morphogenesis, as a guide for directed growth, as a stress factor for protection, and also as a time giver for the circadian clock (Schumacher, 2017). Studies have described the impact of light on mycelial growth, conidiation, sclerotial development, and tropic response, however, unclear results have been reported caused by *B. cinerea* isolate variability and different experimental conditions (Schumacher, 2017).

Strawberry (Fragaria x ananassa) is an important soft fruit crop that is popular all over the world. Grey mold is a serious disease in strawberry production and leads to important economic losses (Debode et al., 2015; Petrasch et al., 2019). B. cinerea can infect all plant parts of strawberry including leaves, fruits, flowers, petioles, and stems at every growth stage (Petrasch et al., 2019; Williamson et al., 2007). In year-round greenhouse strawberry production, light- emitting diodes (LED) are increasingly applied to increase the day length as well as the light intensity in winter. LED lighting offers the possibilities of spectral modulation thus influencing both morphology and metabolite content of the leaves. Commercial LED lamps typically combine blue and red wavelengths as these are highly absorbed by chlorophyll and thus promote photosynthesis and biomass production (Okamoto et al., 1996). Application of LED lighting also opens the possibilities to increase the strawberry's resistance to B. cinerea. Indeed, we previously showed that leaves that develop under monochromatic red light are more resistant to Botrytis infection compared to white, blue, and blue+red lights (Meng et al., 2019). Yet, in aforementioned study only one Botrytis strain was investigated. Hence, the investigation of the diversity in light-response of different B. cinerea isolates is of importance for the LED light application in greenhouse production.

Given the facts described above, we hypothesized that *B. cinerea* isolates will differentially respond to different light qualities. Therefore, we investigated the light-modulated phenotypic diversity of fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates. We characterized their pathogenicity on strawberry leaves under white, blue and red LED lights and hypothesized that a pretreatment of leaves with red light would reduce disease susceptibility irrespective of the isolate. To assess the virulence of the different *Botrytis* strains on strawberry leaves in an objective way, we investigated the potential of image-based early detection to quantify changes in the

97

photosynthetic performance of the leaves (quantum efficiency of photosystem II, chlorophyll index) and/or leaf defense compounds (modified anthocyanin reflection index).

# 4.2 Materials and Methods

## 4.2.1 Botrytis cinerea isolates

Fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates were used in this study (Table 4.1). Four *Botrytis cinerea* isolates (B1, B2, B6 and B7) are well-documented laboratory strains. Eleven gray mold isolates were collected from tomato, lettuce, apple and grape in Belgium. Purified isolates were cultivated on Potato Dextrose Agar (PDA, Becton, Dickinson, and Company) and subjected to long-term storage in 20% glycerol at  $-80^{\circ}$ C.

Botrytis isolates*	Host plant	Origin/geographic origin	References	
B1 (R16)	Grape	Result of the crossing SAS56×SAS405	(Faretra & Pollastro, 1991)	
B2 (Bd90)	Grape	Bordeaux (France)	(Reignault et al., 1994)	
В3	Lettuce	Belgium, 2018	this study	
B4	Tomato	Belgium, 2018	this study	
B5	Lettuce	Belgium, 2018	this study	
B6 (B05.10)	Grape	Haploid strain resulted from a treatment with benomyl in Germany	(Quidde et al., 1998)	
B7 (A336)	Grape	mutant of Bd90, from Bordeaux (France)	(Hamada et al., 1994)	
B8	Lettuce	Belgium, 2018	this study	
В9	Lettuce	Belgium, 2018	this study	
B10	Apple	Belgium, 2018	this study	
B11	Grape	Belgium, 2018	this study	
B12	Lettuce	Belgium, 2018	this study	
B13	Tomato	Belgium, 2018	this study	
B14	Lettuce	Belgium, 2018	this study	
B15	Lettuce	Belgium, 2018	this study	

**Table 4.1** B. cinerea isolates used in this study.

\* Alternative names are indicated between brackets.

## 4.2.2 Light quality treatments to study Botrytis phenotypes

To investigate mycelial growth, sporulation and sclerotia production, the fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates were grown on PDA under different spectral light qualities at 20°C. Six different light regimes were established using (1) daylight, (2) white LEDs (300-800 nm, 29% B, 39% G,

27% R and 5% FR, Philips, The Netherlands), (3) blue LEDs (400-500 nm, peak at 460 nm), (4) red LEDs (600-700 nm, peak at 660 nm), (5) red + blue LEDs (75%/25%, peak at 660 nm and 460 nm) (Figure S4.1) and (6) dark as control. A photoperiod of 16 h and a photon flux density of 40  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> were provided by the LEDs. Natural daylight was provided at a lab bench (18 °C), with a natural day length of 15 h and average photon flux density of 10  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. The spectral light distribution and the light intensity were measured using a spectroradiometer (JAZ-ULM-200, Ocean Optics, US).

Mycelial plugs with 6 mm in diameter were inoculated in the center of Petri dishes (90 mm in diameter). The Petri dishes were assigned to one of the six light treatments. Six replicates per isolate and per light treatment were used. The radial growth per colony was measured daily on two perpendicular axes for 5 days or until it reached the edge of the plate. The growth rate (cm day<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated as the average growth length increase per day.

To assess the sporulation and sclerotia production, PDA plates inoculated with 6 mmmycelial plugs remained under the six light treatments for 15 days. Sporulation and sclerotia production were assessed visually and by microscopy. The class system was set as: Class 0 (no spores/sclerotia formation); Class I (very few spores/sclerotia formation); Class II (sparse sporulation/sclerotia formation); Class III (average amount spores/sclerotia formation); Class IV(many spores/sclerotia formation); Class V (abundant formation of spores/sclerotia). The classification system for sclerotia is illustrated in Figure S2. This was repeated three times with six replicates each time (n = 18).

## 4.2.3 Oxalic acid detection assay

Plugs of *B. cinerea* isolates were inoculated on Complete Medium (Canessa et al., 2013) and always maintained in the dark at 24 °C. This pH-indicating medium contains 0.1% bromothymol blue (SIGMA-ALDRICH) as indicator, and the medium color changes from green to yellow when an acid compound such as oxalic acid is produced. Medium acidification was evaluated after seven days by its effect on the medium pH. The pH was measured on the outside of the yellow circle using a flat pH electrode (SF113, VWR, Germany) which can test the pH directly via the surface of the medium. Four measurements were conducted for each plate and averaged, this was done in four replications per isolate.

## 4.2.4 Pathogenicity test on strawberry

Strawberry (*Fragaria* × *ananassa* 'Elsanta') leaves that developed under different light qualities were used for the pathogenicity tests with the fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates. The plants were potted in peat substrate (Van Israel nv, Belgium) and raised in a growth chamber with 70% relative humidity at 20 °C. The growth chamber was equipped with three light qualities:

white (W, 300-800 nm, Philips, The Netherlands), blue (B, peak at 460 nm, Philips, the Netherlands), and red (R, peak at 660 nm, Philips, The Netherlands) LED lights (Figure S4.1). A photoperiod of 16 h with the photosynthetic photon flux density at 100  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> was provided. The plants were fertilized with Soluplant (N:P:K:Ca 19-8-16-4, Haifa, The Netherlands, EC=1.5 dS/m, pH=5.7) three times per week.

All fifteen isolates were tested on strawberry leaves grown under white LED light, and a subset of ten isolates was tested on leaves that developed under blue and red LED lights. *Botrytis* isolates were cultivated on PDA in Petri dishes in dark (24 °C). After 7-10 days, conidia were washed from the plates with ¼ Potato Dextrose Broth (PDB) solution containing 0.01% (v/v) Tween 20. After removing the mycelium fragments, spore titers were determined microscopically using a Thoma counting chamber. A final concentration of  $5\times10^5$  spore mL<sup>-1</sup> was used for inoculation. Leaf discs of one-cm in diameter from two-week-old strawberry leaves were cut the day before inoculation and placed in disposable 24-well plates with water. Each leaf disc was inoculated with 10 µL droplets of conidial suspension on the adaxial leaf surface. Incubation was at 22 °C under dark conditions. Disease symptoms were scored after 3 days. A 0-3 ordinal rating scale was employed for disease rating and disease index was calculated. Six leaf discs per leaf with four biological replicates were used in this study.

#### 4.2.5 Image analysis

Non-invasive spectral phenotyping was applied to monitor the strawberry disease development by a platform that allows to visualize diverse physiological traits in real-time, based on specific absorption, reflection and fluorescence patterns in visible and near-infrared (NIR) wavelengths. The central part of the platform comprises a 3CCD 6Mp - 16 bit camera mounted on a Cartesian coordinate robot, equipped with 12 optical interference filters (CropReporter, PhenoVation B.V., Wageningen, Netherlands).

RGB (red green blue) images, reflectance spectra to calculate the anthocyanin index and chlorophyll index and the minimal fluorescence,  $F_0$ , and the maximum fluorescence,  $F_m$ , are captured by the camera. Images obtained from the phenotyping platform were processed via the "Data Analysis Software" program (PhenoVation B.V., Wageningen, the Netherlands).

The modified anthocyanin reflectance index (mArildx) was determined using following formula (Gitelson et al., 2009):

mAriIdx = 
$$\left(\frac{1}{\rho_{550nm}} - \frac{1}{\rho_{710nm}}\right)\rho_{770nm}$$

The chlorophyll index (Chlldx) was calculated using following formula (Gitelson et al., 2009):

$$\text{ChlIdx} = \left(\frac{\rho_{770nm}}{\rho_{710nm}} - 1\right)$$

where  $\rho_{550}$  is the reflectance in the first spectral band, which is maximally sensitive to anthocyanin content;  $\rho_{710}$  the reflectance in the second spectral band, which is maximally sensitive to chlorophyll content but not sensitive to anthocyanin content; and  $\rho_{770}$  the reflectance of the third spectral band, which compensates for leaf thickness and density.

The maximum quantum efficiency of photosystem  $\Pi(F_v/F_m)$  was calculated using following formula (Baker, 2008):

$$F_{\nu}/F_m = (F_m - F_0)/F_m$$

Between measurements, the 24-well plates were placed in the dark allowing immediate quantification of the minimal ( $F_0$ ), then saturating red light flashes of 3000 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> were given and maximal fluorescence ( $F_m$ ) was determined based on the OJIP induction curve according to the manufacturer's specifications (Björkman & Demmig, 1987; Kalaji et al., 2014).

#### 4.2.6 Statistical analysis

Data were tested for normal distribution using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test and for homoscedasticity of variances using Levene's test. The mycelial growth rate and disease rating among *B. cinerea* isolates were compared by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn test as the post hoc test. The effect of light quality on mycelial growth rate was analyzed by one-way-ANOVA. If significant differences were found, the Tukey test ( $p \le 0.05$ ) was carried out to establish significant differences between means, here a Bonferroni correction was applied when  $n \ge 10$ . The virulence of the *Botrytis* isolates assessed by the multispectral camera ( $F_v/F_m$ , ChIIdx, mAriIdx) were analyzed by one-way ANOVA for each light quality. As the light pretreatment affects both chlorophyll and polyphenol content (Meng et al, 2018), the effects of the light quality pretreatments were analyzed by ANCOVA using the images at the start (Day 0) as covariate, adjusted means were calculated using Bonferroni for confidence interval adjustment. All assumptions for performing ANCOVA including homogeneity of regression slopes were checked. All analyses were performed using SPSS version 26 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA).

# 4.3 Results

## 4.3.1 Phenotypic characterization of B. cinerea isolates

Significant differences in the mycelial growth rate were observed between the fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates, this for the dark control treatment (Figure 4.1, Table S4.1). B12 resulted in the lowest growth rate (0.45 cm/day) while B2 and B8 had a  $\pm$  3-fold higher growth rate (respectively 1.31 and 1.32 cm day<sup>-1</sup>).



**Figure 4.1** Mycelial growth rate of fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates in dark conditions. Data are presented as mean of six replicates with standard deviation. Different letters indicate statistical differences among *B. cinerea* isolates based on Kruskal-Wallis test with Bonferroni correction (Dunn test,  $p \le 0.0033$ ).

Light conditions greatly influenced the growth rate of *B. cinerea* (Figure 4.2, Table S4.1). For the isolates B2, B3, B4, B5, B7, B12, and B14, the mycelial growth was considerably higher under LED lights (white, blue, red, blue+red) compared to the dark and daylight treatment. The spectral quality of the LED treatment did not affect the growth rate of B2, B5, B7, B9, B10, B12, B13 and B15. However, compared to white LED light, a significant increase was observed in the growth rate of B8 under blue light, while red light enhanced the growth rate of B1, B11 and B14. The combination blue+red, decreased the mycelial growth of B3 and B11 considerably, while an increase was observed in B1. Additionally, B1 was the only isolate where the highest growth rate was observed in the dark while all other isolates had higher or equal growth rates than the dark treatment.

Sporulation and sclerotia formation varied among the fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates, and both were considerably affected by the light treatments used in this study (Figure 4.3). The fifteen isolates were grouped according to the presence/absence of sporulation and of sclerotia

formation under the light treatments (Figure 4.3). Four groups were defined based on their sporulation response. A first group clusters two lettuce and two tomato isolates (B3, B4, B13, B15) as they only produced spores under daylight and red LED light. A second group, including three lettuce and one grape isolate (B5, B8, B10, B14) sporulated in dark conditions as well as under daylight and red light. The third group (grape isolates B2 and B11) developed spores under daylight, red and blue light. The fourth group, including grape and lettuce isolates (B1, B6, B9, and B12) exhibited great variability in sporulation compared to the other isolates under the considered light conditions. Finally, the nonpathogenic mutant B7 (A366) forms a fifth group and produced spores in all six treatments.

No sclerotia formation was observed under white, blue, and blue+red LED lights, this for all isolates. Three groups could be distinguished based on the formation of sclerotia in dark, under daylight or under red light (Figure 4.3). No sclerotia were produced in B6 (B05.10) and B7 (A366) irrespectively the light or dark treatment, resulting in a first group. B1 (R16) formed a second group with only sclerotia formation in the dark. The third group is formed by the remaining twelve isolates including lettuce, tomato, apple and grape isolates, as they all produced sclerotia under dark, daylight, and red LEDs.



**Figure 4.2** Effects of light quality on the growth rate of fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates. Six light treatments were analyzed namely dark (D), daylight (DL), white (W), blue (B), red (R), and blue+red (BR).

Different letters indicate statistical differences between light treatments for each isolate based on Tukey's test ( $p \le 0.05$ ), except for B2 and B15 where a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test ( $p \le 0.05$ ) was performed.



**Figure 4.3** Classification of sporulation and sclerotia formation in the fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates after 15 days under six light treatments: dark, daylight, white, blue, red, and blue+red LED, and classification based on F<sub>v</sub>/F<sub>m</sub> values at 4 dpi from infection in white-light-leaves. Classes of sporulation and sclerotia presented are from three replications with 6 plates for each replicate (n = 18). The classes of sporulation and sclerotia formation); Class I (very few spores/sclerotia formation); Class II (very few spores/sclerotia formation); Class IV(many spores/sclerotia formation); Class V (abundant spore/sclerotia formation). The class of virulence is based on the significant letters of F<sub>v</sub>/F<sub>m</sub> at 4 dpi (Table 2) with exclusion of B6 which is indicated by a light grey color. The classes are: Class I (significant letters starting with a); Class II (significant letters starting with b); Class III (significant letters starting with c); Class IV(significant letters starting with d); Class V (significant letters starting with c). These classes are shown in colors (see the color bar).

Oxalic acid formation can be indicative as a virulence factor for *Botrytis* (Williamson et al., 2007). Media acidification due to organic acid formation was strongest for B4, B6, B12, B13 and B15 resulting in a decrease of more than 1.5 pH units compared to a non-inoculated control. The nonpathogenic mutant B7 (A366) did not acidify the medium in comparison to the control. All other isolates caused an intermediate acidification reducing the medium with 1 pH unit in comparison to the control (Figure 4.4). White, blue, and red LED irradiation had no significant effect on media acidification caused by different *Botrytis* isolates (Figure S4.8).

105



**Figure 4.4** Oxalic acid production of *B. cinerea* isolates was assessed based on changes in the medium pH. Control treatment (C) is medium without *Botrytis* inoculation, all isolates were grown in dark. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SE (n=4). Different letters indicate statistical differences between *B. cinerea* isolates. Non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test was performed with p ≤ 0.05.

## 4.3.2 Inoculation assays on strawberry leaves

First, fourteen *Botrytis* isolates were tested by spore inoculation on white LED lightdeveloped strawberry leaves. B6 could not be included because of its poor sporulation (Figure 4.5). Different degrees of virulence on strawberry leaves were observed between these 14 isolates. B4, B10, B13, and B15 were the most virulent, followed by B1, B2, B3, B5, B9, and B14. An intermediate virulence was observed for B8, B11 and B12. As expected, strawberry leaves were hardly infected by the non-pathogenic B7 (A366) strain.

#### Chapter 4



white-light-leaves

**Figure 4.5** Disease severity caused by fourteen *B. cinerea* isolates spore-inoculated on strawberry leaves grown under white LED lights. Disease rating was scored 3 days post inoculation using four scoring categories (0, resistant; 1, slightly spreading lesion; 2, moderately spreading lesion; 3, severely spreading lesion). B6 was not tested because not enough spores were produced. Different letters indicate statistical differences among the isolates performed by Kruskall-Wallis test followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction ( $p \le 0.0036$ , n = 4).

Second, ten *Botrytis* isolates were tested on strawberry leaves that were developed under blue and red LED lights. The isolates showed significant variations in their virulence (Figure S4.3A and B). B7 (A366) was again the least aggressive, while B1, B2, and B13 were the most aggressive isolates and B15 resulted in moderate disease rating on the leaves that had developed either under blue or red light. Strawberry leaves that originated from red light were more resistant against the tested *Botrytis* isolates compared to leaves from white or blue light (Figure 4.6). Blue-light-developed leaves were more susceptibility to B1, B2, B9, B12, B13, while no remarkable difference was noted for isolates B3, B8, B10, B15, when compared to white-light-developed leaves. The isolate B7 (A366) also remained non-virulent on blue or red-light-developed leaves (Figure S4.3A and B).

Overall, B8 (lettuce isolate) was the least aggressive *Botrytis* isolate on strawberry leaves irrespective of light treatments, while B13 (tomato isolate) was the most aggressive one. Interestingly, B15 (lettuce isolate) resulted in the strongest disease symptoms on leaves from white light, however, blue- and red-light-developed leaves displayed moderate resistance to B15.



**Figure 4.6**. Comparison of virulence per isolate (including B1, B2, B3, B8, B9, B10, B12, B13, B15) with respect to the light pretreatments of the strawberry leaves. For each *Botrytis* isolate, virulence was tested on strawberry leaves grown under white, blue, and red LED lights, spore-inoculated leaf discs were dark incubated after inoculation and disease severity was compared between white-, blue-, and red-light-developed leaves. Disease rating was scored 3 days post inoculation using four scoring categories (0, resistant; 1, slightly spreading lesion; 2, moderately spreading lesion; 3, severely spreading lesion). Different letters indicate statistical differences among the isolates performed by Kruskall-Wallis followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test ( $p \le 0.05$ ).

## 4.3.3 Image-based assessment of *Botrytis* infection on strawberry leaves

For the image-based assessments of the progress rate of the disease after spore inoculation, changes in both chlorophyll fluorescence imaging ( $F_v/F_m$ ) and stress indices (Chlldx and mArildx) were assessed during 5 days (Figure 4.7, S4.4, S4.5 and S4.6). The phenotyping of the plant resistance is shown from 0 to 4 dpi for three representative *Botrytis* isolates: the non-pathogenic B7 strain, the intermediate aggressive B12, and the most aggressive B13 isolate as determined by visual scoring on white-light-developed leaves (Figure 4.5).



**Figure 4.7**. The variations of  $F_v/F_m$ , ChIIdx, and mArildx from 0 to 4 dpi caused by *B. cinerea* isolates B7(A), B12 (B), and B13 (C) were correlated with the development of disease lesion on white-light-leaves. The corresponding images are presented underneath the figures. Disease lesion led to darker  $F_v/F_m$  image with lower value, yellower ChIIdx image with lower value, and brighter mArildx image with higher level. RGB images of the inoculated leaf discs upon *Botrytis* isolates (B7, B12, B13) are shown before the scale bar. One-way ANOVA was applied for the statistical analysis (Tukey test,  $p \le 0.05$ ),

and data are shown by box plots with the median. Different letters indicate significant differences among the time points.

The non-pathogenic B7 displayed a minor but significant decrease in  $F_v/F_m$  from 0.755 at 0 dpi to 0.637 at 4 dpi and hardly any change in ChIldx and mArildx (Figure 4.7A). For B12 a strong decline was observed in  $F_v/F_m$  from 3 dpi on, with values decreasing from 0.755 at 0 dpi to 0.263 at 4 dpi. Correspondingly, also ChIldx displayed a significant decrease, while mArildx increased considerably from 0 dpi to 4 dpi (Figure 4.7B). The isolates B8, B9, B11, and B14 showed similar temporal changes as the intermediate aggressive isolate B12 for  $F_v/F_m$ , ChIldx, and mArildx, except for the mArildx of B14 (Figure S4.4).

The most virulent isolate B13 caused the greatest decrease of  $F_v/F_m$ , this was already very strong at 3 dpi, while values further decreased to 0.172 at 4 dpi. Simultaneously a clear decrease in ChIIdx and increase in mArildx was found (Figure 4.7C). B1, B2, B3, B4, B10, and B15 grouped with B13 based on their virulence on strawberry leaves and they caused the same trends in  $F_v/F_m$  and ChIIdx. However, no significant increase was observed in mArildx for B1, B3, and B15.

The *Botrytis* isolates resulted in considerable variations in  $F_v/F_m$ , ChIIdx, and mArildx of the inoculated leaves at 4 dpi, this for all the pre-inoculation light quality regimes of the leaves (Table 4.2).

Leaves inoculated with the nonpathogenic strain B7 (A366) maintained the highest level of  $F_v/F_m$  and ChIldx, while the lowest levels of mArildx were observed, this irrespective of the light quality treatments. Leaf inoculation with the virulent B13 resulted in the strongest decrease of  $F_v/F_m$  for white-light-leaves, but not for the other light quality pretreatments. Here,  $F_v/F_m$  was lowest after B12 inoculation of leaves grown under both blue and red light. Leaf yellowing and chlorophyll content, assessed by ChIldx was lowest after B15 inoculation of white-light-leaves, B10 inoculation of blue-light-developed leaves, and B1 inoculation of red-light-developed leaves. Increase of anthocyanins (mArildx) was highest in both B9 and B13 in white-light-developed leaves, and in B12 in both blue- and red-light-developed leaves (Table 4.2).

Light pretreatment effects are thus clearly present and these effects are shown in Table 4.3. Overall red pretreated leaves have a significant higher  $F_v/F_m$  (p < 0.001) and ChIldx (p < 0.001), while no difference between blue and white pretreated leaves is found. Only for strains B1 and B13 this positive effect of red light to maintain higher  $F_v/F_m$  levels was not observed, while this was the case of B2 with respect to ChIldx. Overall, no significant effect of light pretreatment was found for mArildx (p = 0.41), indeed only for 3 out of 10 isolates an

110

effect of light pretreatment of the leaves was present, in B1 and B7 mArildx increased significantly while for B9 a significant decrease was found.

Additionally, overall comparison of anthocyanins with respect to the different light qualities (Table S4.2) or more specifically for three representative *B. cinerea* isolates (Table S4.3) were performed from 0 dpi to 4 dpi. Blue-light-developed leaves resulted in significant lower basal anthocyanin levels compared to leaves developed from white and red lights (Table S4.2). A higher anthocyanin content was observed in *Botrytis* isolates with higher virulence (Table S4.3).

As virulence of the isolates differed, correlations between the disease index and  $F_v/F_m$ , ChIldx, and mArildx were explored (Figure 4.8). High correlations between disease index and  $F_v/F_m$ , were found, this irrespective of the light quality pretreatment (all  $r \ge 0.978$ , Figure 4.8A). Stress indices resulted in lower though still significant correlations between the disease index and ChIldx although the correlation was lowest for red pretreated leaves (r > 0.917 for leaves from white light and blue light, while r is 0.824 for leaves from red light, Figure 4.8B). Correlations between disease index and mArildx were much lower (r < 0.699, Figure 4.8C).

We also checked the correlations between  $F_v/F_m$  and phenotypic characteristics of the different isolates such as growth rate (Figure 4.1) and medium acidification (Figure 4.4). Virulence and medium acidification were highly correlated (Figure S4.7A), while no correlation between virulence and mycelial growth rate was observed (Figure S4.7B).

Botrytis	white			blue			red		
isolates	F√F <sub>m</sub>	Childx	mArildx	F <sub>v</sub> /F <sub>m</sub>	Childx	mArildx	F <sub>v</sub> /F <sub>m</sub>	Chlldx	mArildx
B1	0.266±0.129 cde	1.635±0.357 bcde	1.590±0.234 ab	0.199±0.188 de	1.478±0.420 cd	1.456±0.323 b	0.342±0.130 d	2.072±0.389 c	1.860±0.439 ab
B2	0.318±0.169 bcd	1.780±0.375 bc	1.826±0.504 ab	0.148±0.097 de	1.383±0.275 cd	1.628±0.339 ab	0.376±0.157 cd	2.130±0.372 bc	1.761±0.376 abc
B3	0.218±0.066 de	1.517±0.183 cde	1.648±0.200 ab	0.350±0.248 bc	1.887±0.522 ab	1.519±0.458 b	0.498±0.153 bc	2.263±0.300 bc	1.435±0.379 bc
B4	0.223±0.116 de	1.441±0.264 de	1.567±0.348 ab	*	*	*	*	*	*
B5	0.275±0.067 cde	1.647±0.153 abc	1.820±0.423 ab	*	*	*	*	*	*
B7	0.637±0.042 a	2.243±0.194 a	1.095±0.280 c	0.599±0.038 a	2.166±0.209 a	0.841±0.214 c	0.712±0.022 a	2.765±0.275 a	1.320±0.314 c
B8	0.373±0.203 bc	1.719±0.368 bcd	1.457±0.269 abc	0.377±0.098 b	1.685±0.218 bc	1.289±0.220 bc	0.586±0.074 ab	2.434±0.254 ab	1.340±0.229 c
B9	0.301±0.095 cde	1.795±0.198 bc	1.845±0.245 a	0.206±0.082 cde	1.600±0.135 bcd	1.603±0.206 ab	0.502±0.102 bc	2.390±0.293 bc	1.365±0.259 c
B10	0.210±0.109 de	1.511±0.384 cde	1.722±0.507 ab	0.192±0.073 de	1.335±0.222 d	1.497±0.418 b	0.559±0.102 b	2.349±0.368 bc	1.478±0.394 abc
B11	0.444±0.090 b	1.881±0.187 b	1.523±0.213 abc	*	*	*	*	*	*
B12	0.263±0.071 cde	1.686±0.131 bcde	1.736±0.298 ab	0.095±0.038 e	1.573±0.161 bcd	2.017±0.394 a	0.354±0.071 d	2.149±0.207 bc	1.908±0.302 a
B13	0.173±0.108 e	1.489±0.178 cde	1.839±0.425 a	0.192±0.149 de	1.559±0.338 bcd	1.668±0.711 ab	0.387±0.176 cd	2.078±0.318 bc	1.736±0.635 abc
B14	0.375±0.080 bc	1.806±0.240 bc	1.440±0.320 abc	*	*	*	*	*	*
B15	0.222±0.109 de	1.378±0.282 e	1.400±0.490 bc	0.280±0.069 bcd	1.545±0.177 cd	1.605±0.445 ab	0.544±0.082 b	2.367±0.211 bc	1.491±0.353 abc

**Table 4.2** Effect of inoculation with different *Botrytis* isolates at 4 dpi on F<sub>v</sub>/F<sub>m</sub>, Chlldx, and mArildx in strawberry leaves grown under white, blue, and red LED lights.

The statistical analysis was conducted by one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction (p=0.0036 for white-light-leaves, and p=0.005 for blue- and red-light-leaves) followed by Tukey's test. Data were collected from approximate 24 leaf discs of four replicates at 4 dpi and presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D. Significant differences between *B. cinerea* isolates ware indicated with different letters. \* means that the isolates were not tested on blue- or red-light-leaves.

**Table 4.3** Effect of light quality on the virulence of the *B. cinerea* isolates assessed by chlorophyll fluorescence imaging ( $F_v/F_m$ ) and image-based indices (Chlldx, and mArildx) at 4 dpi. The assessment was performed for strawberry leaves that developed respectively under full spectrum white LED light (white), monochromatic blue LED (blue), and monochromatic red LED (red) light. As light quality influences metabolite levels in the leaves, ANCOVA was performed and adjusted means were calculated with Bonferroni as confidence interval adjustment and the covariates are the values of  $F_v/F_m$ , Chlldx, and mArildx at 0 dpi.

Botrytis	F√F <sub>m</sub>			Chlldx			mArildx			
isolates	white	Blue	red	white	blue	red	white	blue	red	
B1	0.234 a	0.385 a	0.349 a	1.613 a	1.053 b	1.832 a	1.598 ab	1.432 b	1.818 a	
B2	0.299 ab	0.108 b	0.413 a	1.786 a	1.441 a	1.842 a	1.816 a	1.626 a	1.749 a	
B3	0.215 b	0.508 a	0.514 a	1.510 b	1.913 a	2.225 a	1.633 a	1.526 a	1.452 a	
B7	0.639 b	0.592 c	0.714 a	2.327 ab	2.230 b	2.542 a	0.978 b	1.019 ab	1.261 a	
B8	0.395 b	0.379 b	0.577 a	1.724 b	1.647 b	2.376 a	1.464 a	1.290 a	1.342 a	
B9	0.306 b	0.208 c	0.498 a	1.882 b	1.596 c	2.264 a	1.779 a	1.702 a	1.374 b	
B10	0.207 b	0.182 bc	0.558 a	1.541 b	1.342 b	2.336 a	1.686 a	1.604 a	1.486 a	
B12	0.235 b	0.075 c	0.356 a	1.716 ab	1.581 b	1.974 a	1.735 a	2.045 a	1.826 a	
B13	0.176 a	0.204 a	0.312 a	1.490 b	1.572 b	2.164 a	1.875 a	1.663 a	1.763 a	
B15	0.189 c	0.306 b	0.545 a	1.449 b	1.545 b	2.597 a	1.379 a	1.598 a	1.486 a	

Data are means of 24 replicates. Different letters indicate significant differences for each isolate between the light treatments per parameter.



**Figure 4.8** Correlations between disease index and  $F_v/F_m$  (A), ChIldx (B), and mArildx (C) on strawberry leaves from white (in white), blue (in blue), and red (in red) LED lights. Values are presented as means with standard deviation shown by a vertical bar. The Pearson correlation r is shown in colors to indicate the corresponding light treatments.

# 4.4 Discussion

# 4.4.1 Phenotypic variability of *Botrytis cinerea* isolates is influenced by light quality

The fifteen *Botrytis* isolates in this study differed in their mycelial growth rate and in their ability to reproduce by conidia or form sclerotia (Figure 4.1, 4.2, and 4.3, Table S4.1). This intraspecies variation in *B. cinerea* is well documented (Martinez et al., 2003; Mirzaei et al., 2009) and can be influenced by environmental factors. As *Botrytis* is an important pathogen in greenhouse plant production, changes in the greenhouse environment might also lead to phenotypic variations. Here, we specifically focused on the increasing application of monochromatic red and blue light and its combination in lighting strategies with LED. Indeed, *B. cinerea*, possesses eleven photoreceptors to sense the surrounding light environment, which triggers various photoresponses influencing vegetative growth, sporulation, germination of spores and sclerotia formation (Schumacher, 2017). Generally, the short UV

A and B (300 - 420 nm) wavelengths retard the mycelial growth of *B. cinerea* (Tan & Epton, 1973). Here, the shortest wavelength we investigated was monochromatic blue light (460 nm) though this wavelength did not retard the growth rate of the studied isolates, in comparison to the full-spectrum white light. Light quality had a limited effect on the growth rate. Canessa et al. (2013) found that light reduced the daily growth rate of B05.10 (= B6) and attributed this to light-induced stress. It seems that our applied lower light intensities did not induce this light stress except for the strain B1 which showed the highest mycelial growth rate under dark conditions. The reduced mycelial growth rate under daylight might be explained by the lower temperature (18°C while 20°C in the climate rooms) as indicated by Tan and Epton (1973).

Early studies showed that sporulation happens exclusively in light, it is strongly stimulated by near-UV light and slightly stimulated by red light, while blue light is ineffective (Tan & Epton, 1973). This light dependent effect on sporulation was later confirmed for strain B05.10 (= B6) by Canessa et al. (2013) where broad spectrum light (400-720 nm) induced sporulation but blue light inhibited the formation of conidiophores. Also in our research all isolates sporulated under full spectrum daylight (from class I to class V). Monochromatic red light resulted in similar or lower sporulation in most isolates (12 out of the fifteen) when compared to daylight, this supported the role of red light in stimulating sporulation reported by Tan and Epton (1973). Sporulation under white LEDs was low, only B1 and B7 sporulated under this light source (both class II) although the light spectrum is very similar to daylight. However, daylight is rich in far-red light (700-800 nm, Figure S4.1), which promotes sporulation (Tan, 1975).

Here, the capacity of blue light to inhibit sporulation was only observed in nine of the fifteen isolates. Blue light stimulated sporulation in B6 (B05.10) and two other grape isolates (B2 and B11), in the nonpathogenic strain B7 (A366), and in two lettuce isolates (B9 and B12). The fact that B05.10/B6 produced very few spores (Class I) under blue light but also hardly sporulated under daylight, might indicate that despite its genetic stability (Canessa et al., 2013) the strain has mutated. This is also supported by the fact that this strain did not form sclerotia in the dark. Adding red light (600 - 700 nm) to the blue spectrum did not enhance sporulation as only three isolates sporulated under these conditions. Stewart and Long (1987) reported that *Botrytis* strains could also show varying degrees of sporulation in the dark. Although blind strains that exhibit the same phenotype under light and darkness are found in nature, this was not the case for our field collections. Only B7, the nonpathogenic mutant A366 produced conidia under each light quality as well as under dark conditions and, as described by Kunz et al. (2006), was not able to form sclerotia.

Early studies indicated that sclerotia formation for survival exclusively occurs in cultures in constant darkness. Yet, this can be affected by small broad light dosages. Fewer sclerotia were formed when irradiated for 30 min compared to 15 min, and none were observed when irradiated for more than 60 min. Furthermore, sclerotia formation was found to be promoted by red and infrared light (Tan & Epton, 1973). In this study, blue, blue+red, and white lights inhibited sclerotia formation in the fifteen *B. cinerea* isolates. This inhibition is due to the blue light fraction as under red light sclerotia were formed in twelve out of the fifteen isolates. In this study also daylight at a very low light fluence (10  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) induced sclerotia promotion which can be caused by the enrichment of the longer wavelengths (red light or the far-red light) in the indoor daylight spectrum (Tan & Epton, 1973).

It is clear that phenotypic responses of *B. cinerea* isolates to light quality are very diverse and sometimes conflicting with earlier publications. These conflicting results might be due to the fact that limited strains were studied though probably also light intensity might be an interacting factor with light quality. Also day length effects cannot be excluded, most studies apply a photoperiod of 12 h while in this research a photoperiod of 16 h, based on greenhouse lighting duration was applied.

#### 4.4.2 Virulence variation in B. cinerea

B. cinerea isolates in this study displayed significant variations in their virulence. Virulence diversity in B. cinerea isolates has been studied in various locations and on various plants around the world (Kerssies et al., 1997; Kumari et al., 2014; Martinez et al., 2005; Mirzaei et al., 2009). Variation in virulence of B. cinerea is often due to differences in cell wall degrading enzymatic activities and in the secretion of other virulence factors such as oxalic acid (Derckel et al., 1999). Higher oxalic acid accumulation leads to higher aggressiveness of the pathogen and reversely, lower secretion of oxalic acid is associated with lower virulence (Kunz et al., 2006; Sun et al., 2019). Various degrees of medium acidification caused by oxalic acid production of *B. cinerea* isolates were also observed in this study (Figure 4.4). B4, B13, and B15 with highest virulence on strawberry leaves secreted more oxalic acid. In contrast, B7 (A336), the nonpathogenic mutant, showed no oxalic acid production and did not cause disease. Medium acidification and virulence were highly correlated (Figure S4.7A). Yet also other virulence factors such as cell wall degrading enzymes, toxins, and secondary metabolites (Sharma & Kapoor, 2017) can explain differences in virulence. However, it seems that B. cinerea isolates with strong virulence favored less sporulation and produced more sclerotia (Figure 4.3).

# 4.4.3 Strawberry leaves developed under red light displayed enhanced resistance to *B. cinerea* isolates

Higher resistance to all the tested *B. cinerea* isolates (except for the non-pathogenic B7) was found in strawberry leaves grown under red LEDs (Figure 4.6). Meng et al. (2019) showed that red LED light increased strawberry leaf basal resistance against R16 (B1 in this study). Resistance improvement by red light was associated with lower hydrogen peroxide levels in the red-light-leaves of strawberry (Meng et al., 2019). It might also be linked to phytochrome modulated defense signaling where low red:far-red ratios repress the JA response to *Botrytis* (Ballaré, 2014; Cerrudo et al., 2012). In contrast, blue-light-leaves were more susceptible to some of the isolates, including B1, B2, B9, B12, and B13 (Figure 4.6) and had a lower level of anthocyanins compared to leaves grown under white and red lights (Table S4.2). Here, both the increased hydrogen peroxide level as well as the reduced anthocyanin level might explain the increased susceptibility (Bassolino et al., 2013; Meng et al., 2019).

# 4.4.4 $F_v/F_m$ is the best indicator for early detection of *B. cinerea* on strawberry leaves

Virulence of the *Botrytis* isolates on strawberry leaves derived from different light quality pretreatments was also assessed by imaging. The decrease in  $F_v/F_m$  synchronized with the development of lesion size, which was visualized on fluorescence images in dark red (Figure 4.7 and S4.4, S4.5). Strong correlations between  $F_v/F_m$  and disease index were observed in strawberry leaves derived from white (r = 0.985), blue (r = 0.97) and red (r = 0.978) LEDs (Figure 4.8).

 $F_v/F_m$  responded well to the development of *Botrytis* disease in strawberry leaves. Both biotic and abiotic stress factors decrease the efficiency of photosynthesis and suppress the variable fluorescence of dark-adapted chlorophyll-containing leaves correspondingly.  $F_v/F_m$ decreases along with the increasing effect of stresses (Gorbe and Calatayud, 2012; Rolfe & Scholes, 2010). This reduction in  $F_v/F_m$  suggests destructive changes in chloroplasts and photosystem II caused by *B. cinerea* infection. Here Chlldx was clearly not as sensitive as  $F_v/F_m$ , only at higher disease indices (> 50%) this parameter decreased. Furthermore,  $F_v/F_m$ could discriminate virulence of the *B. cinerea* isolates. Higher virulence resulted in a stronger decrease in  $F_v/F_m$ , and lower virulence in smaller  $F_v/F_m$  reduction. In this study, the infectious symptom by *B. cinerea* were predominantly observed at 2 dpi based on chlorophyll fluorescence image. Chaerle et al. (2007) also showed that chlorophyll fluorescence imaging can be used for early detection of *Botrytis* infection. Autofluorescence signals ( $F_{440}/F_{740}$ ) after *Botrytis* inoculation on grape berries could only be recorded 4 days after infection (Bélanger et al., 2011), which is a delay of 2 days in comparison with  $F_v/F_m$  and 1 day in comparison with Chlldx response.

Anthocyanins are water-soluble pigments responsible for the red colors in leaves. Different abiotic stresses enhance the biosynthesis of anthocyanins in leaves, and anthocyanins act as antioxidant and reactive oxygen scavengers (Landi et al., 2015). Heim et al. (1983) described that zones of anthocyanin accumulation often surround restricted lesions where a plant disease has been successfully contained, whereas low anthocyanin levels often occur in susceptible combinations of maize. Additionally, anthocyanins levels are negatively correlated with the susceptibility to B. cinerea in tomato fruit (Bassolino et al., 2013). B. cinerea infection causes hydrogen peroxide accumulation which leads to the accumulation of anthocyanin at the infectious site (Chalker-Scott, 1999; Govrin & Levine, 2000). In this study, foliar anthocyanins are indicated by mArildx. Along with the pathogen invasion, anthocyanins accumulated at the infectious site as visualized in Figure 4.7, S4.4 and S4.5. Despite the antioxidative role of anthocyanins responding to stresses, few studies focus on its development along with pathogen infection by imaging technology. Here the blue-lightleaves which had an increased susceptibility to Botrytis, showed significant lower basal anthocyanin levels compared to leaves derived from white and red lights (Table S4.2). On the other hand, B. cinerea isolates with higher virulence induced a higher anthocyanin content (Table S4.3), this was due to the higher accumulation of hydrogen peroxide caused by Botrytis infection. Furthermore, weaker correlations between Botrytis disease index and anthocyanin level are observed, compared to  $F_v/F_m$  and Chlldx. Therefore, it seems that Arildx is more a supporting observation, but less useful for the early detection.

## 4.4.5 Horticultural implications

*B. cinerea* causes significant losses in plant greenhouse production, storage, shipping and marketing, which makes control of grey mold very important (Michailides & Elmer, 2000; Karchani-Balma et al., 2008; González et al., 2009). To control this pathogen cultural, chemical and biological methods, as well as plant resistance breeding are used (Pande et al., 2006). However, the complexity and variability of this pathogen are reasons that make control difficult (Mirzaei et al., 2009). Awareness of the existence of pathogen variability together with the new insights in photobiological responses of both pathogen and plants may contribute to more efficient non-chemical methods of control. Here it is confirmed that red LED irradiance improved leaf resistance not only to one *B. cinerea* strain, but to all the isolates in this study. Therefore, red LEDs have potential to be used in plant production systems to control grey mold but this should be further investigated in greenhouse

conditions. Moreover, effects of red LED irradiance on *Botrytis* infections on strawberry flowers and fruits need to be assessed.

Many biotic stress symptoms start as spots or patches within a crop. Such symptoms could be discovered with imaging techniques at an early stage, when no visible symptoms are yet apparent. The possibility of early stress detection allows timely treatment to prevent pathogen spread within the crop and greenhouse, which would result in limited yield loss and reduced chemical usage. Today robots equipped with sensors are under investigation in greenhouse production. A UV-Robot with UV-C radiation is developed to control powdery mildew in horticulture (Mazar et al., 2018). This could also be equipped with imaging sensors, as early detection of disease is beneficial from both economic and environmental perspectives. In this study we evaluated imaging sensors in a highly controlled environment, without interference from other environmental factors such as wind, fluctuating light intensities, and temperature. Moreover, in horticultural production systems, not only environmental factors change dynamically but also crop-dependent factors such as leaf morphology and orientation, leaf waxes and hairs, and leaf density might influence the response. Therefore, the potential of early detection of grey mold by chlorophyll fluorescence imaging in horticulture needs further validation in a greenhouse environment (Gorbe & Calatayud, 2012; Mahlein, 2016).

# 4.5. Conclusion

Here it is clearly shown that *B. cinerea* isolates differently respond to different light qualities in phenotypes such as mycelial growth, sporulation, and sclerotia formation. Despite differences in virulence, red light considerably improved leaf basal resistance against all the tested *B. cinerea* isolates, while blue light pretreatment increased leaf susceptibility to some of them. Disease development caused by different *B. cinerea* isolates is highly correlated with  $F_v/F_m$  (maximal PSII quantum efficiency), meaning that this indicator can be used to objectively quantify *B. cinerea* disease severity and may also be useful for early detection of plant stress related to grey mold infection. Overall, red LED light has potential to control grey mold in greenhouse production, and image sensors could be developed into a new technology for early disease detection.



## 4.6 Supplementary material

**Figure S4.1** Relative spectral photon description of LEDs used for morphology test of *B. cinerea* isolates and strawberry growth: White LED (white), Blue LED (blue), Red LEDs (red), Red plus blue (red+blue). Spectrum was measured with a JAZ spectroradiometer (Ocean optics, USA).



**Figure S4.2** Classification of sclerotia production by *B. cinerea* isolates. A: Class 0 (no sclerotia formation); B: Class I (very few sclerotia formation); C: Class II (sclerotia formation sparse); D: Class III (average amount sclerotia formation); E: Class IV(many sclerotia formation); F: Class V (abundant sclerotia formation).



**Figure S4.3** Pathogenicity of ten *B. cinerea* isolates on strawberry leaves developed under blue and red LED lights by spore inoculation. Disease rating was scored 3 days post inoculation using four scoring categories (0, resistant; 1, slightly spreading lesion; 2, moderately spreading lesion; 3, severely spreading lesion). Different letters indicate statistical significance among the isolates performed by Kruskall-Wallis followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test with Bonferroni correction ( $p \le 0.005$ , n = 4).






**Figure S4.4** The variations of  $F_v/F_m$ , ChIldx, and mArildx from 0 to 4 dpi caused by B1, B2, B3, B4, B5, B8, B9, B10, B11, B14, and B15 were correlated with the development of disease lesion on white-light-leaves. The corresponding images are present underneath the figures. Disease lesion led to darker  $F_v/F_m$  images with lower value, yellower ChIldx images with lower value, and brighter mArildx images with higher values. One-way ANOVA was applied for the statistical analysis (Tukey test, p  $\leq$  0.05), and data were shown by box plots with the median. Different letters indicate significant differences among the time points.







**Figure S4.5** The variations of  $F_v/F_m$ , ChIldx, and mArildx from 0 to 4 dpi caused by B1, B2, B3, B7, B8, B9, B10, B12, B13 and B15 were correlated with the development of disease lesion on blue-light-leaves. The corresponding images are present underneath the figures. Disease lesion led to darker  $F_v/F_m$  images with lower value, yellower ChIldx images with lower value, and brighter mArildx image with higher values. One-way ANOVA was applied for the statistical analysis (Tukey test, p ≤ 0.05), and data were shown by box plots with the median. Different letters indicate significant differences among the time points.







**Figure S4.6** The variations of  $F_v/F_m$ , ChIldx, and mArildx from 0 to 4 dpi caused by B1, B2, B3, B7, B8, B9, B10, B12, B13 and B15 were correlated with the development of disease lesion on red-light-leaves. The corresponding images are present underneath the figures. Disease lesion led to darker  $F_v/F_m$  images with lower value, yellower ChIldx images with lower value, and brighter mArildx images with higher values. One-way ANOVA was applied for the statistical analysis (Tukey test, p ≤ 0.05), and data were shown by box plots with the median. Different letters indicate significant differences among the time points.



**Figure S4.7** The relationship between  $F_v/F_m$  and pH (**A**) and mycelial growth rate (**B**).  $F_v/F_m$  values observed at 4 dpi from infection in white-light leaves were used for the Pearson correlation (r). Values are presented as means with standard deviation shown by a vertical bar.



**Figure S4.8** Effect of light quality on medium acidification caused by fifteen *Botrytis* isolates. Control and inoculated plates were incubated under different light treatments (dark, white, red, and blue) in 16 h/8 h light/dark conditions. Medium pH was shown to indicate the degree of acidification. Data are shown as means  $\pm$  SE (n = 6). Different letters indicate significant differences between light treatments. One-way ANOVA for B2, B4, B5, B6, B7, B10, B11, and non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a post-hoc Dunn's test for the other isolates was performed with p ≤ 0.001.

<i>B. cinerea</i> Isolates	Growth Rate (cm day <sup>-1</sup> )											
	Dark		Daylight		White		Blue		Red		Blue+Red	
B1	1.26±0.02	ab	0.94±0.08	ef	0.86±0.10	ef	0.90±0.12	f	0.94±0.10	е	1.07±0.03	gh
B2	1.31±0.04	а	1.18±0.02	с	1.37±0.03	ab	1.37±0.03	а	1.40±0.09	ab	1.38±0.03	а
B3	0.99±0.04	efg	0.82±0.05	fg	1.29±0.05	cd	1.29±0.02	cd	1.29±0.04	cd	1.21±0.04	fgh
B4	1.14±0.10	def	1.06±0.05	d	1.32±0.08	bc	1.38±0.06	а	1.28±0.04	cd	1.32±0.03 abcd	
B5	1.19±0.02	cd	1.08±0.02	d	1.30±0.03	cd	1.27±0.08 cde		1.28±0.04	cd	1.31±0.02	cde
B6	1.24±0.02	abc	1.10±0.03	d	1.32±0.08	bc	1.23±0.10	de	1.40±0.09	ab	1.32±0.03 abcd	
B7	0.91±0.05	fg	0.84±0.10	fg	1.22±0.05	def	1.21±0.02	def	1.29±0.05	cd	1.28±0.04	cdef
B8	1.32±0.03	а	1.42±0.03	а	1.37±0.08	ab	1.57±0.06	а	1.37±0.03	ab	1.32±0.03	abc
B9	1.19±0.08	bcd	1.24±0.02	ab	1.47±0.08	а	1.43±0.14	а	1.47±0.03	а	1.35±0.10	а
B10	1.20±0.03	bcd	1.19±0.02	bc	1.32±0.03	bc	1.32±0.03	с	1.23±0.06	cd	1.33±0.06	а
B11	1.18±0.07	cd	1.20±0.00 abc		1.37±0.03	ab	1.42±0.10	а	1.45±0.13	а	1.20±0.13	efg
B12	0.45±0.04	g	0.49±0.02	g	0.59±0.03	f	0.59±0.07	f	0.62±0.08	е	0.66±0.09	h
B13	1.26±0.02	ab	1.19±0.05	с	1.28±0.05	cd	1.26±0.04	de	1.32±0.02	bc	1.26±0.04	def
B14	1.18±0.02	de	1.07±0.03	de	1.27±0.03 cde		1.28±0.02 cde		1.31±0.02	bc	1.28±0.02	cdef
B15	1.14±0.02	de	1.09±0.02	d	1.26±0.02 cde		1.22±002	ef	1.22±0.02	de	1.14±1.13	fgh

Table S4.1	Mycelial growth	rate of B. cinerea	isolates under	different light conditions.
------------	-----------------	--------------------	----------------	-----------------------------

Values are means of six replicates  $\pm$  standard deviation; different letters indicate significant differences based on Kruskal-Wallis test with Bonferroni correction (P  $\leq$  0.0033).

**Table S4.2** Overall anthocyanin content at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 dpi of leaves pretreated with different light qualities: white, blue, and red.

Light treatments	0 dpi	1 dpi	2 dpi	3 dpi	4 dpi	
white	1.356 a	1.266 a	1.327 a	1.459 a	1.580 a	
blue	1.129 b	0.960 c	1.072 b	1.271 b	1.560 a	
red	1.343 a	1.172 b	1.335 a	1.389 a	1.552 a	

As light quality influences metabolite levels in the leaves, ANCOVA was performed and the covariates are the values of Arildx at 0 dpi. Different letters indicate significant differences for overall isolates between the light treatments (One-way ANOVA, Tukey's test,  $p \le 0.05$ ).

**Table S4.3** Comparison of anthocyanin content between the representative *Botrytis* isolates: B7 (non-pathogenic strain), B12 (intermediate virulence), and B13 (highest virulence) for white-light-leaves, B7 (non-pathogenic strain), B15 (intermediate virulence), and B2 (highest virulence) for blue- and red-light leaves.

strain s	white				otroin	blue				red			
	1 dpi	2 dpi	3 dpi	4 dpi	S	1 dpi	2 dpi	3 dpi	4 dpi	1 dpi	2 dpi	3 dpi	4 dpi
B7	1.217 a	1.310 a	1.305 b	1.049 b	B7	0.787 b	0.738 b	0.844 b	0.871 b	1.217 a	1.179 b	1.296b	1.358b
B12	1.026 a	1.340 a	1.434 b	1.769 a	B15	0.908 b	1.067 a	1.209 a	1.607 a	1.109 a	1.258 b	1.326a b	1.558a b
B13	1.275 a	1.473 a	1.743 a	1.852 a	B2	1.180 a	1.151 a	1.445 a	1.585 a	1.287 a	1.605 a	1.523a	1.657a

Data are means of 24 replicates. To limit the influence of anthocyanin content in different individual leaves, ANCOVA was performed and the covariates are the values of mArildx at 0 dpi. Different letters indicate significant differences for each day (One-way ANOVA, Tukey's test,  $p \le 0.05$ ).

## **Chapter 5**

## **General Discussion and Future Perspectives**

### 5.1 General discussion

Greenhouse cropping systems have developed rapidly worldwide to meet the increasing demand for soft fruit, vegetables or ornamentals. Light is the most important environmental factor in these production systems. Supplementary light is applied to extend the day length as well as the growing season with the aim to maximize yield. LEDs as the newest type of artificial lighting are increasingly used as lighting source in greenhouses owing to their high efficiency in promoting plant growth and development as well as the energy advantages they have over conventional light sources. Moreover, LEDs with specific wavelengths can also influence plant resistance to various attackers, which is a promising aspect for environmental-friendly disease control in greenhouse production. On the other hand, also the attacking pathogens perceive light signals by means of their photoreceptors to fine-tune their adaptation. Therefore, supplementary lighting sources in greenhouse production play an inescapable role in the outcome of plant-pathogen interactions.

This doctoral research studied the influences of specific light qualities on strawberry, *Botrytis cinerea*, and their interaction. In this final chapter, we will discuss the main conclusions of the three experimental chapters and give some mechanistic insights. At last, some perspectives on future research are given.



**Figure 5.1** Overview of factors (leaf age, inoculation time, blue/red light, *Botrytis* isolates) studied in this thesis that influence leaf resistance to *Botrytis cinerea* in strawberry.

Based on the findings in this doctoral research, leaf age, inoculation time, and light quality (blue/red light) have significant effects on leaf resistance in strawberry. On the other hand,

*Botrytis* isolates with different virulence result in different disease severity, this indirectly affects leaf resistance (Figure 5.1).

Leaf age is an important determining factor of stress responses due to the link between stress susceptibility and a range of metabolic changes depending on leaf development (Coleman, 1986). In strawberry, leaf age significantly influenced leaf resistance to *B. cinerea*. Leaf resistance gradually and significantly increased from 1-week-old to 4-week-old leaves, and decreased in 5-week-old leaves (Table 1.1 in **Chapter 2**). Leaf resistance upon leaf age negatively correlated with  $H_2O_2$  and flavonoid levels, and positively correlated with the content of pigments such as chlorophyll and carotenoids (Table 1.1 in **Chapter 2**). This coincides with the knowledge that high  $H_2O_2$  levels benefit the successful infection by *B. cinerea* (Govrin & Levine, 2000). The correlation between leaf resistance and flavonoids is mainly explained by the high flavonoid content in the susceptible 1-week-old leaves. As for the pigments, lower chlorophyll content contributes to the enhanced sensitivity of plants to pathogens (Demotes-Mainard et al., 2016). Therefore, leaf age mediates leaf resistance by affecting the biosynthesis pathways of  $H_2O_2$ , flavonoids, and pigments.

The effect of inoculation time on leaf resistance is caused by effects of the circadian clock on leaf resistance. Plant responsiveness to both abiotic and biotic stresses is under circadian control. Timing of inoculation showed diurnal variation in leaf susceptibility to *B. cinerea*. Susceptibility was highest in leaves inoculated in the evening (12 h after the start of photoperiod) followed by incubation in dark (Figure 3.3 in **Chapter 3**). This higher susceptibility correlated with the highest  $H_2O_2$  levels, regulated by the circadian clock, at the moment of *B. cinerea* penetration (8 hours post inoculations, the shorter the light period after inoculation, the stronger the disease symptoms (Figure 3.3 in **Chapter 3**). This is due to the disease inhibition by the presence of light, which will be discussed later. On the other hand, the effects of the circadian clock on leaf resistance can be altered by changes in the environment, such as light signals (Gómez & Simón, 1995). In this study, 12 h of blue/red light in the photoperiod altered the circadian variation of leaf resistance. This was correlated with alterations in leaf metabolites, such as  $H_2O_2$ , total phenolics and hexoses.

Light quality significantly influences leaf resistance. In this doctoral research, blue and red light were studied. As leaf resistance and the strawberry leaf-*B. cinerea* interaction are the central focus of this doctoral research, we will primarily discuss the effect of light quality on the interaction between strawberry leaves and *B. cinerea*, but also refer to the phenotypic effects of light quality on strawberry and *B. cinerea*, separately.



**Figure 5.2** The effects of blue/red light on strawberry, *Botrytis cinerea*, and the outcome of their interaction. Red light increased leaf number, the contents of phenolics, chlorophyll and carotenoids, decreased  $H_2O_2$  levels in strawberry leaves, it stimulated sporulation and sclerotia formation in the fungus, and it enhanced leaf resistance to *B. cinerea*. Blue light decreased leaf number, the contents of phenolics, chlorophyll and carotenoids, increased  $H_2O_2$  levels in strawberry leaves, it stimulated sporulation and sclerotia formation in the sporulation and sclerotia formation in the fungus, and it decreased leaf number, the contents of phenolics, chlorophyll and carotenoids, increased  $H_2O_2$  levels in strawberry leaves, it inhibited sporulation and sclerotia formation in the fungus, and it decreased leaf resistance to *B. cinerea*.

The effects of light quality on plant resistance after inoculation with *B. cinerea* have been studied, while the influence of light quality on leaf basal resistance has hardly been investigated. First of all, the effects of pre-treatment with different light qualities on leaf basal resistance were explored in strawberry. Red light pre-treatment increased, while blue light decreased leaf basal resistance to *B. cinerea* (Table 2.1 and Figure 2.3 in **Chapter 2**). Secondary metabolites that play important roles in plant response to abiotic and biotic stresses are greatly modulated by the light spectrum (Bennett & Wallsgrove, 1994; Darko et al., 2014). Here, light quality considerably influenced the levels of  $H_2O_2$ , phenolics and flavonoids, proline, pigments, as well as activities of antioxidative enzymes. Leaf basal resistance was highly correlated with the contents of  $H_2O_2$ , total phenolics, chlorophyll and carotenoids (Figure 2.7 in **Chapter 2**). Blue-light-grown leaves with high susceptibility to *B. cinerea* resulted in high levels of  $H_2O_2$ , low contents of total phenolics, chlorophyll and carotenoids. On the contrary, red-light grown leaves with high resistance to *B. cinerea* resulted in low levels of  $H_2O_2$ , phenolics, pigments are important determining factors of the

#### Chapter 5

outcome of leaf-*B. cinerea* interaction. Light quality affects leaf basal resistance by regulating the basal contents of  $H_2O_2$ , total phenolics, and pigments (Figure 5.2).

Plants are grown under light/dark cycles. Light presence definitely affects the outcome of plant-pathogen interactions. Moreover, the effects of light/dark incubation on infection of B. cinerea were investigated. Light presence during incubation inhibited Botrytis infection, irrespective of light quality, compared to dark incubation. The influence of light on the outcome of plant-pathogen interactions is correlated with the direct effects on both plant defense response and the virulence of the pathogen (Roden & Ingle, 2009), as both plants and Botrytis process photoreceptors to perceive the environmental light signals (Galvão & Fankhauser, 2015; Schumacher, 2017). Under light regime incubation, blue light had no significant effect on disease development, red light again decreased disease severity when compared to white light (Figure 3.2 in **Chapter 3**). The different outcome by blue light from dark incubation is mainly due to the direct effect of light on B. cinerea. Blue light irradiation was reported to directly inhibit Botrytis disease (K. Kim et al., 2013). The further inhibition by red light irradiation in disease development benefits from positive phototropism in B. cinerea caused by red light, leading to unsuccessful penetration (Islam et al., 1998). In conclusion, disease inhibition under red light pre- and post-treatment is due to both the improvement of leaf basal resistance (direct effects of red light directly on the plant) and unsuccessful infection of *B. cinerea* (direct effect of red light on the pathogen) (Figure 5.2).

Despite the positive effect of red light on leaf resistance, monochromatic red light irradiation may lead to a dysfunctional photosynthesis, while the combination with white LED light can improve the output and nutritional quality (Dong et al., 2014; Hogewoning et al., 2010). The effects of blue or red LED light combined with white LED on the outcome of strawberry leaf-B. cinerea interaction were investigated. Twelve hours of blue and red light in a 16 h photoperiod significantly increased and decreased, respectively, leaf susceptibility in inoculated leaves under both dark and light/dark conditions, while 4 h blue/red light was not sufficient to cause the alterations (Figure 3.4 in **Chapter 3**). The phytochrome B-regulated jasmonate signaling pathway is the key regulator in plant defense response and plays a very important role in the competition between the shade avoidance syndrome and the disease syndrome (Ballaré & Austin, 2019; Moreno et al., 2009). The increase in leaf resistance by 12 h red light is probably due to the activation of PhyB by the high proportion of red light (12 h out of 16 h), while the decrease of leaf resistance by blue light may be due to the inactivated phyB under longer irradiation of blue light, as phyB perceives the changes in red:far-red ratio (Ballaré, 2014). On the other hand, the alteration in leaf resistance by 12 h blue/red light is caused by the alteration in secondary metabolites (Figure 3.5 in Chapter 3), such as  $H_2O_2$  and total phenolics, as discussed above, they are highly correlated with leaf

140

resistance. In conclusion, a high proportion of red light in combination with white light that can stimulate the phyB-dependent jasmonate pathway is able to improve leaf resistance to *B. cinerea* as well as guarantee a normal plant growth.

*B. cinerea* is a fungal pathogen with a high degree of virulence diversity and this will be discussed later. Due to the variability in virulence, fungicide efficiency differs upon *Botrytis* isolates (Leroch et al., 2011). Therefore, it is interesting to study light quality effects on leaf resistance to various *Botrytis* isolates. In Chapter 4, the effects of light quality pre-treatment on leaf resistance was tested using different *B. cinerea* isolates. Red light pre-treatment increased leaf basal resistance to all the tested *B. cinerea* isolates (Figure 4.6 in **Chapter 4**). This again confirmed the effective role of red light in improving leaf resistance. Thus, *Botrytis* disease control by red LED light can be developed in greenhouse production.

In summary, pre- and/or post-treatment of light quality, light combinations, and various *Botrytis* isolates were studied with respect to blue/red light. Overall results showed the enhancement of leaf resistance by red light, thus confirming the promising role of red LED light in the control of grey mold.

In addition to the effect of light quality on plant-pathogen interactions, light quality also has direct phenotypic effects on plant, and pathogen, separately. In strawberry, red light increased leaf initiation rate, blue light had no significant effect, while a combination of blue and red light inhibited leaf initiation (Figure 2.2 in **Chapter 2**). However, this is not the case in *Alternanthera* and cucumber seedlings (Hernández & Kubota, 2016; Macedo et al., 2011). Thus, the effect of light quality on leaf initiation is plant-dependent.

As to *B. cinerea*, phenotypic variability of different isolates is influenced by light quality. The fifteen *Botrytis* isolates in this study differed in their mycelial growth rate and in their ability to reproduce by conidia or to form sclerotia. This intraspecies variation in *B. cinerea* is well documented and can be influenced by environmental light (Mirzaei et al., 2009; Tan & Epton, 1973). Although *B. cinerea* responds to light signals in vegetative growth by processing eleven photoreceptors, the effect of light quality on mycelial growth in this study is limited. Both sporulation and sclerotia formation were mediated by the light treatments used in this study (Figure 4.3 in **Chapter 4**). Generally, sporulation happens exclusively in light, it was strongly triggered by near-UV light, and slightly stimulated by red light, but inhibited by blue light (K. K. Tan & Epton, 1973). Here, the inhibition of blue light on sporulation was only observed in nine of the fifteen isolates. Adding red light to blue light did not enhance sporulation. Monochromatic red light resulted in similar or lower sporulation which is due to the slight stimulation by red light. Daylight with full light spectrum induced sporulation, this might

be explained by day length. The daylight treatment was conducted in winter in Belgium, characterized by short day lengths, while the white LED light was applied as a 16 h photoperiod. Additionally, blue, blue+red, and white lights inhibited sclerotia formation in all isolates. This inhibition is due to the blue light fraction as under red light sclerotia were formed in most isolates. Daylight in winter at a very low light fluence induced sclerotia formation m, Figure S4.1 in **Chapter 4**) in the indoor daylight spectrum (Tan & Epton, 1973). These phenotypic responses of *B. cinerea* isolates to light quality are very diverse and sometimes conflicting with earlier articles, hence, more *Botrytis* strains should be studied for light quality responses, and light intensity as well as day length should be taken into account.

In addition to the phenotypic variability, *Botrytis* isolates in this study also displayed significant variations in virulence (Figure 4.5 in **Chapter 4**). Virulence diversity of *B. cinerea* is often due to differences in activities of cell wall invasive enzymes, and secretion of virulence factors, such as oxalic acid, toxins, ROS (Nakajima & Akutsu, 2014). We investigated oxalic acid production by *B. cinerea* isolates *in vitro*. Various degrees of medium acidification caused by oxalic acid production of *B. cinerea* isolates were observed (Figure 4.4 in **Chapter 4**), this can partly explain the variability in virulence. Moreover, *Botrytis* isolates with higher virulence on strawberry secreted more oxalic acid, while the non-pathogenic isolate hardly produced any oxalic acid. This coincides with the positive correlation between oxalic acid production and virulence (Kunz et al., 2006; Sun et al., 2019). This variability of virulence in *Botrytis* isolates affect leaf resistance via virulence diversity, which is an indirect regulation (Figure 5.1).

Due to the serious economic losses caused by grey mold, it is necessary to detect *Botrytis* infection at an early stage. In this study, we quantified the virulence of different *Botrytis* isolates using a phenotyping platform. The changes in photosynthetic performance of strawberry leaves: chlorophyll fluorescence ( $F_v/F_m$ ), chlorophyll index and anthocyanin index were recorded upon disease development.  $F_v/F_m$  showed a strong negative correlation with disease severity (Figure 4.8 in **Chapter 4**). This is owing to the photosynthesis disruption caused by *B. cinerea* infection, leading to  $F_v/F_m$  decrease along with the increasing effect of stress (Makarova et al., 1998). Therefore,  $F_v/F_m$  can be an indicator for the early detection of grey mold on strawberry leaves.

In conclusion, red light showed high potential in disease control of grey mold in strawberry leaves, irrespective of various *Botrytis* isolates. Red light combined with short irradiation of white light in the photoperiod is beneficial not only for leaf resistance but also for normal

142

plant growth. This study also provides more information about the phenotypic response of *Botrytis* isolates to different light conditions. Moreover,  $F_v/F_m$  is a useful indicator for early detection of grey mold based on imaging techniques.

On the other hand, based on our findings, recommendations can be given to growers and researchers. Red LED light is recommended for growers as the main lighting source in combination with sunlight to control *B. cinerea* disease in strawberry in greenhouse production. Leaf age and time of inoculation should be taken into account by researchers when doing assessments of plant disease severity. The use of young leaves is recommended owing to their high susceptibility. Studies on *Botrytis* should consider differences in sporulation capacity and virulence among isolates. For the development of grey mold early detection techniques, the  $F_v/F_m$  indicator is highly recommended.

### 5.2 Future perspectives

This study mainly focused on the effects of light quality on leaf resistance against *B. cinerea* in strawberry. *Botrytis* can infect every part of the plant at every stage and disease results mainly from latent infections of flower parts, which develop into rot once fruit begins to ripen. The white flower bud, the open flower, and senescent flower stages are most susceptible to infection, whereas flowers at the green bud stage are relatively resistant. It would be interesting to study the effect of light quality on the resistance of flowers at different stages to *B. cinerea*. Perspectives for applied greenhouse production could focus on the whole production phase beyond the vegetative growth phase. If artificial lighting is applied through the whole strawberry production period, it would also be interesting to investigate the light quality effect on flowering number and time, fruit forming and quality, as well as post-harvest fruit resistance to *Botrytis*. On the other hand, plants are attacked by various intruders even in greenhouse production. It is also necessary to study light quality effects on other diseases in strawberry, such as powdery mildew. Furthermore, several studies also reported the positive role of UV-B light in controlling herbivores. This opens the possibilities to use light quality to control herbivores, which also should be included in future research.

Our research is at the beginning stage of exploration of light quality effects on strawberry resistance to *B. cinerea*. Based on the increasing application of blue and red LED lights in greenhouse production, we have primarily studied effects of monochromatic blue, red, and dichromatic blue+red LED lights on leaf resistance. Furthermore, blue or red light combined with white LED light was investigated and 12 h red light followed by 4 h white light was found outstanding in increasing leaf resistance. If we translate this to greenhouse production, then the fraction of natural light (=white light) is limited. Therefore, it would be reasonable to further study the effect of this combination on the other aspects of strawberry production,

including resistance of flowers, flowering number and time, fruit yield and quality as well as post-harvest fruit resistance. On the other hand, due to the advantages of red light in promoting resistance and of white light in plant growth and development, it is interesting to explore other combination strategies of red and white light for strawberry production with high resistance, high yield and high quality. In addition, as blue or far-red lights promote flowering in strawberry compared to red light and the amount of light supplied is an important factor in flowering, light recipes for a given developmental stage combining light quality (eq. red+white light with blue or far-red light) with light intensity, should be investigated for better performance of both resistance and flowering in strawberry. This is especially of interest with the recent developments in vertical farming and multilayer production of strawberry.

From our results, monochromatic red light increased, while monochromatic blue light decreased leaf resistance to *B. cinerea*, and dichromatic blue+red (1:1) light neutralized the resistance enhancement by red light and the resistance attenuation by blue light in strawberry. It is a very interesting phenotype that deserves a further investigation of the mechanisms involved, such as the phytochrome B-jasmonate pathway (Cerrudo et al., 2012; Moreno et al., 2009), biosynthesis of hydrogen peroxide and secondary metabolites. The underlying mechanisms involved may help us to optimize the lighting strategies for a better outcome in greenhouse production systems.

Early detection of disease could reduce the application of fungicide and yield loss, which is beneficial from both the economic and environmental perspectives. Chlorophyll fluorescence imaging ( $F_v/F_m$ ) was observed to be highly correlated with *Botrytis* infection. In addition, robots with UV-C radiation have been developed to control powdery mildew in horticulture (Mazar et al., 2018). Hence, the development of robots with imaging sensors for early detection of disease could be interesting for the greenhouse growers.

Overall, LED research is still at the beginning of its potential, especially in disease control. This thesis mainly focused on blue, red lights and their combination, however, other efficient LED lights within the visible light (such as green light) might become available resulting in better regulation of plant growth, development and disease resistance. Our existing knowledge is far from the real world of light in the regulation of plants, hence more research should be conducted to better understand the world of light.

# Bibliography

### **Bibliography**

- Abadía, J., Morales, F., & Abadía, A. (1999). Photosystem II efficiency in low chlorophyll, iron-deficient leaves. *Plant and Soil*, *215*(2), 183–192. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1004451728237
- AbuQamar, S., Moustafa, K., & Tran, L. S. P. (2017). Mechanisms and strategies of plant defense against Botrytis cinerea. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, 37(2), 262–274. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551.2016.1271767
- Acosta Morel, W., Marques-Costa, T. M., Santander-Gordón, D., Anta Fernández, F.,
   Zabalgogeazcoa, I., Vázquez de Aldana, B. R. et al. (2019). Physiological and
   population genetic analysis of *Botrytis* field isolates from vineyards in Castilla y León,
   Spain. *Plant Pathology*, *68*(3), 523–536. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.12967
- Agati, G., Azzarello, E., Pollastri, S., & Tattini, M. (2012). Flavonoids as antioxidants in plants: Location and functional significance. *Plant Science*, *196*, 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2012.07.014
- Ahn, S. Y., Kim, S. A., & Yun, H. K. (2015). Inhibition of *Botrytis cinerea* and accumulation of stilbene compounds by light-emitting diodes of grapevine leaves and differential expression of defense-related genes. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, *143*(4), 753–765. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-015-0725-5
- Akai, S. (2012). Histology of defense in plants. In Plant Pathology (pp. 391-434).
- Alfonso, C., Raposo, R., & Melgarejo, P. (2000). Genetic diversity in *Botrytis cinerea* populations on vegetable crops in greenhouses in south-eastern Spain. *Plant Pathology*, 49(2), 243–251. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3059.2000.00452.x
- Alokam, S., Chinnappa, C. C., & Reid, D. M. (2002). Red/far-red light mediated stem elongation and anthocyanin accumulation in *Stellaria longipes*: differential response of alpine and prairie ecotypes. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, *80*(1), 72–81. https://doi.org/10.1139/b01-137
- Alsanius, B. W., Karlsson, M., Rosberg, A. K., Dorais, M., Naznin, M. T., Khalil, S., & Bergstrand, K. J. (2019). Light and microbial lifestyle: The impact of light quality on plant–microbe interactions in horticultural production systems—A review. *Horticulturae*, *5*(2), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae5020041
- Amil-Ruiz, F., Blanco-Portales, R., Muñoz-Blanco, J., & Caballero, J. L. (2011). The strawberry plant defense mechanism: A molecular review. *Plant and Cell Physiology*,

52(11), 1873–1903. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcr136

- Amsalem, L., Freeman, S., Rav-David, D., Nitzani, Y., Sztejnberg, A., Pertot, I., & Elad, Y. (2006). Effect of climatic factors on powdery mildew caused by *Sphaerotheca macularis f. sp. fragariae* on strawberry. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, *114*(3), 283–292. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-005-5804-6
- Angulo, C., Leyva, M. de la O., Finiti, I., López-Cruz, J., Fernández-Crespo, E., García-Agustín, P., & González-Bosch, C. (2015). Role of dioxygenase α-DOX2 and SA in basal response and in hexanoic acid-induced resistance of tomato (Solanum lycopersicum) plants against *Botrytis cinerea*. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, *175*, 163– 173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2014.11.004
- Arase, S., Fujita, K., Uehara, T., Honda, Y., & Isota, J. (2000). Light-Enhanced Resistance to Magnaporthe grisea Infection in the Rice Sekiguchi Lesion Mutants. Journal of Phytopathology, 148, 197–203.
- Asadollahi, M., Fekete, E., Karaffa, L., Flipphi, M., árnyasi, M., Esmaeili, M., et al. (2013). Comparison of *Botrytis cinerea* populations isolated from two open-field cultivated host plants. *Microbiological Research*, *168*(6), 379–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2012.12.008
- Ashry, N. A., & Mohamed, H. I. (2011). Impact of secondary metabolites and related enzymes in flax resistance and or susceptibility to powdery mildew. *World Journal of Agricultural Science*, *7*(1), 78–85.
- Asselbergh, B., Curvers, K., Franca, S. C., Audenaert, K., Vuylsteke, M., Van Breusegem, F., & Hofte, M. (2007). Resistance to *Botrytis cinerea* in sitiens, an Abscisic Acid-Deficient Tomato Mutant, Involves Timely Production of Hydrogen Peroxide and Cell Wall Modifications in the Epidermis. *Plant Physiology*, *144*(4), 1863–1877. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.107.099226
- Atamian, H. S., & Harmer, S. L. (2016). Circadian regulation of hormone signaling and plant physiology. *Plant Molecular Biology*, *91*(6), 691–702. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-016-0477-4
- Audenaert, K., De Meyer, G. B., & Hofte, M. M. (2002). Abscisic Acid Determines Basal Susceptibility of Tomato to *Botrytis cinerea* and Suppresses Salicylic Acid-Dependent Signaling Mechanisms. *Plant Physiology*, *128*(2), 491–501. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.010605

Babalar, M., Asghari, M., Talaei, A., & Khosroshahi, A. (2007). Effect of pre- and postharvest

salicylic acid treatment on ethylene production, fungal decay and overall quality of Selva strawberry fruit. *Food Chemistry*, *105*(2), 449–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2007.03.021

- Baker, N. R. (2008). Chlorophyll Fluorescence: A Probe of Photosynthesis In Vivo. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 59(1), 89–113. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.59.032607.092759
- Ballaré, C. L. (2014). Light regulation of plant defense. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, *65*, 335–363. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-050213-040145
- Ballaré, C. L., & Austin, A. T. (2019). Recalculating growth and defense strategies under competition: Key roles of photoreceptors and jasmonates. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 70(13), 3425–3436. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erz237
- Ballaré, C. L., Mazza, C. A., Austin, A. T., & Pierik, R. (2012). Canopy light and plant health. *Plant Physiology*, *160*(1), 145–155. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.112.200733
- Ballaré, C. L., & Pierik, R. (2017). The shade-avoidance syndrome: Multiple signals and ecological consequences. *Plant Cell and Environment*, 40(11), 2530–2543. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12914
- Banerjee, R., & Batschauer, A. (2005). Plant blue-light receptors. *Planta*, *220*, 498–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-1385(00)01687-3
- Baraldi, E., Bertolini, P., Chierici, E., Trufelli, B., & Luiselli, D. (2002). Genetic diversity between *Botrytis cinerea* isolates from unstored and cold stored kiwi fruit. *Journal of Phytopathology*, *150*(11–12), 629–635. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0434.2002.00809.x
- Barrero, J. M., Downie, A. B., Xu, Q., & Gubler, F. (2014). A role for barley CRYPTOCHROME1 in light regulation of grain dormancy and germination. *Plant Cell*, 26(3), 1094–1104. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.113.121830
- Barritt, B. H. (1980). Resistance of strawberry clones to Botrytis fruit rot. *Journal of the American Society for Horticulture Science*, *105*, 160–164.
- Bassolino, L., Zhang, Y., Schoonbeek, H. J., Kiferle, C., Perata, P., & Martin, C. (2013). Accumulation of anthocyanins in tomato skin extends shelf life. *New Phytologist*, 200(3), 650–655. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12524
- Bates, L. S., Waldren, R. P., & Teare, I. D. (1973). Rapid determination of free proline for water-stress studies. *Plant and Soil*, *39*(1), 205–207.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00018060

- Bélanger, M. C., Roger, J. M., Cartolaro, P., & Fermaud, M. (2011). Autofluorescence of grape berries following *Botrytis cinerea* infection. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 32(14), 3835–3849. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161003782064
- Bennett, Richard N;, & Wallsgrove, R. M. (1994). Secondary metabolites in plant defence mechanisms. *New Phytologist*, *127*(4), 617–633. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1994.tb02968.x
- Bennett, RICHARD N., & Wallsgrove, R. M. (1994). Secondary metabolites in plant defence mechanisms. *New Phytologist*, *127*(4), 617–633. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1994.tb02968.x
- Bergquist, S. (2006). *Bioactive Compounds in Baby Spinach (Spinacia Oleracea L.). Effects* of *Pre – and Postharvest Factors.* (Doctoral D). Alnarp, Sweden: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Bergquist, S. Å. M., Gertsson, U. E., Nordmark, L. Y. G., & Olsson, M. E. (2007). Ascorbic acid, carotenoids, and visual quality of baby spinach as affected by shade netting and postharvest storage. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55(21), 8444–8451. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf070396z
- Bergqust, S. Å., Gertsson, U. E., Knuthsen, P., & Olsson, M. E. (2005). Flavonoids in baby spinach (Spinacia oleracea L.): Changes during plant growth and storage. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *53*(24), 9459–9464. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf051430h
- Berrocal-lobo, M., Molina, A., & Solano, R. (2002). Constitutive expression of ETHYLENE-RESPONSE-FACTOR1 in Arabidopsis confers resistance to several necrotrophic fungi. *The Plant Journal*, *29*(1), 23–32.
- Bestfleisch, M., Luderer-Pflimpfl, M., Höfer, M., Schulte, E., Wünsche, J. N., Hanke, M. V., & Flachowsky, H. (2015). Evaluation of strawberry (Fragaria L.) genetic resources for resistance to *Botrytis cinerea*. *Plant Pathology*, *64*(2), 396–405. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.12278
- Bhardwaj, V., Meier, S., Petersen, L. N. ., Ingle, R. A. ., & Roden, L. C. (2011). Defence responses of arabidopsis thaliana to infection by *pseudomonas syringae* are regulated by the circadian clock. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(10), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026968

Bieker, S., Riester, L., Stahl, M., Franzaring, J., & Zentgraf, U. (2012). Senescence-specific

alteration of hydrogen peroxide levels in Arabidopsis thaliana and oilseed rape spring variety *Brassica napus* L . cv . Mozart. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, *54*(8), 540–554. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7909.2012.01147.x

- Björkman, O., & Demmig, B. (1987). Photon yield of O2 evolution and chlorophyll fluorescence characteristics at 77 K among vascular plants of diverse origins. *Planta*, *170*(4), 489–504. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00402983
- Boff, P., Köhl, J., Gerlagh, M., & De Kraker, J. (2002). Biocontrol of grey mould by
  Ulocladium atrum applied at different flower and fruit stages of strawberry. *BioControl*, 47(2), 193–206. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1014553221510
- Bonaventure, G., Gfeller, A., Rodríguez, V. M., Armand, F., & Farmer, E. E. (2007). The fou2 gain-of-function allele and the wild-type allele of Two Pore Channel 1 contribute to different extents or by different mechanisms to defense gene expression in Arabidopsis. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *48*(12), 1775–1789. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcm151
- Braun, P. G., & Sutton, J. C. (1988). Infection cycles and population dynamics of *Botrytis cinerea* in strawberry leaves. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, *10*(2), 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/07060668809501745
- Briggs, W. R. (2007). The LOV domain: A chromophore module servicing multiple photoreceptors. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, *14*(4), 499–504. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11373-007-9162-6
- Bristow, P. R., McNicol, R. J., & Williamson, B. (1986). Infection of strawberry flowers by Botrytis cinerea and its relevance to grey mould development. Annals of Applied Biology, 109(3), 545–554. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.1986.tb03211.x
- Brodie, I. D. S., & Blakeman, J. P. (1977). Effect on nutrient leakage, respiration and germination of *Botrytis cinerea* conidia caused by leaching with water. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, *68*(3), 445–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0007-1536(77)80202-7
- Brown, C. S., Schuerger, a C., & Sager, J. C. (1995). Growth and photomorphogenesis of pepper plants under red light-emitting diodes with supplemental blue or far-red lighting.
   Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science. American Society for Horticultural Science, 120(5), 808–813. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2009.06.011
- Burgie, E. S., Bussell, A. N., Walker, J. M., Dubiel, K., & Vierstra, R. D. (2014). Crystal structure of the photosensing module from a red/far-red light-absorbing plant phytochrome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of*

America, 111(28), 10179–10184. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1403096111

- Burgie, E. S., & Vierstra, R. D. (2014). Phytochromes: An atomic perspective on photoactivation and signaling. *Plant Cell*, *26*(12), 568–4583. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.114.131623
- Büttner, P., Koch, F., Voigt, K., Quidde, T., Risch, S., Blaich, R., et al. (1994). Variations in ploidy among isolates of *Botrytis cinerea*: implications for genetic and molecular analyses. *Current Genetics*, 25(5), 445–450. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00351784
- Campbell, S. M., Sims, C. A., Bartoshuk, L. M., Colquhoun, T. A., Schwieterman, M. L., & Folta, K. M. (2020). Manipulation of sensory characteristics and volatile compounds in strawberry fruit through the use of isolated wavelengths of light. *Journal of Food Science*, *85*(3), 771–780. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.15044
- Canessa, P., Schumacher, J., Hevia, M. A., Tudzynski, P., & Larrondo, L. F. (2013).
   Assessing the effects of light on differentiation and virulence of the plant pathogen Botrytis cinerea: Characterization of the white collar complex. PLoS ONE, 8(12).
   https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084223
- Cao, K., Cui, L., Ye, L., Zhou, X., Bao, E., Zhao, H., & Zou, Z. (2016). Effects of red light night break treatment on growth and flowering of tomato plants. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7(April), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00527
- Carisse, O. (2016). Epidemiology and Aerobiology of Botrytis app. In *Botrytis the Fugus, the Pathogen and its Management in Agricultural Systems* (pp. 127–148).
- Carisse, O., & Bouchard, J. (2010). Age-related susceptibility of strawberry leaves and berries to infection by Podosphaera aphanis. *Crop Protection*, 29(9), 969–978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2010.03.008
- Casal, J. J. (2000). Phytochromes, cryptochromes, phototropin: Photoreceptor interactions in plants. *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, *71*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1562/0031-8655(2000)0710001PCPPII2.0.CO2
- Casal, J. J. (2013). Photoreceptor Signaling Networks in Plant Responses to Shade. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, *64*(1), 403–427. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-050312-120221
- Cashmore, A. R., Jarillo, J. A., Wu, Y. J., & Liu, D. (1999). Cryptochromes: Blue light receptors for plants and animals. *Science*, *284*(5415), 760–765. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5415.760

- Casierra-posada, F., Fonseca, E., & Vaughan, G. (2011). Fruit quality in strawberry (Fragaria sp.) grown on colored plastic mulch. *Agronomia Colombiana*, *29*(3), 407–413.
- Centraal, bureau voor de statistiek. (2018; 2020). *Groenteteelt: oogst en teeltoppervlakte per groentesoort*.
- Cerny, T. A., Faust, J. E., Layne, D. R., & Rajapakse, N. C. (2003). Influence of photoselective films and growing season on stem growth and flowering of six plant species. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, *128*(4), 486–491. https://doi.org/10.21273/jashs.128.4.0486
- Cerrudo, I., Keller, M. M., Cargnel, M. D., Demkura, P. V., de Wit, M., Patitucci, M. S., et al. (2012). Low red/far-red ratios reduce Arabidopsis resistance to *Botrytis cinerea* and jasmonate responses via a COI1-JAZ10-dependent, salicylic acid-independent mechanism. *Plant Physiology*, *158*(4), 2042–2052. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.112.193359
- Cerrudo, Ignacio, Caliri-Ortiz, M. E., Keller, M. M., Degano, M. E., Demkura, P. V., & Ballaré, C. L. (2017). Exploring growth-defence trade-offs in Arabidopsis: phytochrome B inactivation requires JAZ10 to suppress plant immunity but not to trigger shade-avoidance responses. *Plant Cell and Environment*, *40*(5), 635–644. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12877
- Chaerle, L., Hagenbeek, D., Vanrobaeys, X., & Van Der Straeten, D. (2007). Early detection of nutrient and biotic stress in Phaseolus vulgaris. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 28(16), 3479–3492. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160601024259
- Chalker-Scott, L. (1999). Environmental significance of anthocyanins in plant stress responses. *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, *70*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-1097.1999.tb01944.x
- Chamnongpol, S., Willekens, H., Moeder, W., Langebartels, C., Sandermann, H., Van Montagu, M., et al. (1998). Defense activation and enhanced pathogen tolerance induced by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in transgenic tobacco. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(10), 5818–5823. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.10.5818
- Chance, B., & Maehly, A. C. (1955). Assay of catalases and peroxidases. *Methods in Enzymology*, 2(C), 764–775. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(55)02300-8
- Chaves, I., Pokorny, R., Byrdin, M., Hoang, N., Ritz, T., Brettel, K., et al.. (2011). The Cryptochromes: Blue Light Photoreceptors in Plants and Animals. *Annual Review of*

Plant Biology, 62(1), 335-364. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042110-103759

- Chen, G., Sagi, M., Weining, S., Krugman, T., Fahima, T., Korol, A. B., & Nevo, E. (2004).
  Wild barley eibi1 mutation identifies a gene essential for leaf water conservation. *Planta*, *219*, 684–693. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-004-1277-7
- Chen, Z., Silva, H., & Klessig, D. (1993). Active oxygen species in the induction of plant systemic acquired resistance by salicylic acid. *Science*, 262(5141), 1883–1886. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.8266079
- Cheng, P., He, Q., Yang, Y., Wang, L., & Liu, Y. (2003). Functional conservation of light, oxygen, or voltage domains in light sensing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *100*(10), 5938–5943. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1031791100
- Chérif, M., Arfaoui, A., & Rhaiem, A. (2007). Phenolic compounds and their role in biocontrol and resistance of chickpea to fungal pathogenic attacks. *Tunisian Journal of Plant Protection*, 2(1), 7–21. Retrieved from http://www.iresa.agrinet.tn/tjpp/tjpp3/3Article2.pdf
- Chisholm, S. T., Coaker, G., Day, B., & Staskawicz, B. J. (2006). Host-microbe interactions: Shaping the evolution of the plant immune response. *Cell*, *124*(4), 803–814. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.008
- Choi, H. G., Moon, B. Y., & Kang, N. J. (2015). Effects of LED light on the production of strawberry during cultivation in a plastic greenhouse and in a growth chamber. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 189, 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2015.03.022
- Christiaens, A., De Keyser, E., Pauwels, E., De Riek, J., Gobin, B., & Van Labeke, M.-C.
  (2016). Suboptimal Light Conditions Influence Source-Sink Metabolism during
  Flowering. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *7*, 249. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00249
- Christie, J. M. (2007). Phototropin Blue-Light Receptors. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 58(1), 21–45. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.58.032806.103951
- Christie, J. M., Arvai, A. S., Baxter, K. J., Heilmann, M., Pratt, A. J., Hara, A. O., et al. (2012). Plant UVR8 Photoreceptor Senses Disruption of Cross-Dimer Salt Bridges. *Science*, 335(March), 1492–1497.
- Clack, T., Mathews, S. ., & Sharrock, R. A. (1994). The phytochrome apoprotein family in Arabidopsis is encoded by five genes: the sequences and expression of PHYD and PHYE. *Plant Molecular Biology*, *25*, 413–427.

- Coego, A., Ramirez, V., Gil, M. J., Flors, V., Mauch-Mani, B., & Vera, P. (2005). An arabidopsis homeodomain transcription factor, overexpressor of cationic peroxidase 3, mediates resistance to infection by necrotrophic pathogens. *Plant Cell*, *17*(7), 2123– 2137. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.105.032375
- Coleman, J. S. (1986). Leaf development and leaf stress: increased susceptibility associated with sink-source transition. *Tree Physiology*, *2*, 289–299. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/2.1-2-3.289
- Cook, N. C., & Samman, S. (1996). Flavonoids—Chemistry, metabolism, cardioprotective effects, and dietary sources. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 7(2), 66–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0955-2863(95)00168-9
- Cortés, L. E., Weldegergis, B. T., Boccalandro, H. E., Dicke, M., & Ballaré, C. L. (2016). Trading direct for indirect defense? Phytochrome B inactivation in tomato attenuates direct anti-herbivore defenses whilst enhancing volatile-mediated attraction of predators. *New Phytologist*, 212(4), 1057–1071. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14210
- Corwin, J. A., Subedy, A., Eshbaugh, R., & Kliebenstein, D. J. (2016). Expansive phenotypic landscape of *Botrytis cinerea* shows differential contribution of genetic diversity and plasticity. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, *29*(4), 287–298. https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-09-15-0196-R
- Cotoras, M., & Silva, E. (2005). Differences in the initial events of infection of *Botrytis cinerea* strains isolated from tomato and grape. *Mycologia*, *97*(2), 485–492. https://doi.org/10.3852/mycologia.97.2.485
- Courbier, S., Grevink, S., Sluijs, E., Bonhomme, P.-O., Kajala, K., Wees, S. C. M. Van, & Pierik, R. (2020). Far-red light enhances soluble sugar levels and *Botrytis cinerea* disease development in tomato leaves in a jasmonate-dependent manner. *BioRxiv*, *6*, 2020.05.25.114439. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.05.25.114439
- Courbier, S., & Pierik, R. (2019). Canopy Light Quality Modulates Stress Responses in Plants. *IScience*, *22*, 441–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2019.11.035
- Csepregi, K., Coffey, A., Cunningham, N., Prinsen, E., Hideg, É., & Jansen, M. A. K. (2017). Developmental age and UV-B exposure co-determine antioxidant capacity and flavonol accumulation in Arabidopsis leaves. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *140*(March), 19–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2017.05.009
- Curvers, K., Seifi, H., Mouille, G., de Rycke, R., Asselbergh, B., Van Hecke, A., et al. (2010). Abscisic acid deficiency causes changes in cuticle permeability and pectin composition

that influence tomato resistance to *Botrytis cinerea*. *Plant Physiology*, *154*(2), 847–860. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.110.158972

- Dara, S. K., Sandoval-Solis, S., & Peck, D. (2016). Improving Strawberry Irrigation with Micro-Sprinklers and Their Impact on Pest Management. *Agricultural Sciences*, 07(12), 859–868. https://doi.org/10.4236/as.2016.712078
- Darko, E., Heydarizadeh, P., Schoefs, B., & Sabzalian, M. R. (2014). Photosynthesis under artificial light: the shift in primary and secondary metabolism. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *369*(1640), 20130243–20130243. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0243
- Datta, S. K., & Muthukrishman, S. (1999). Pathogenesis-related proteins in plants.
- Daugaard, H. (1999). Cultural methods for controlling Botrytis cinerea pers. in strawberry. *Bio. Agric. Hortic.*, *16*, 351–361.
- De Lorenzo, G., Brutus, A., Savatin, D. V., Sicilia, F., & Cervone, F. (2011). Engineering plant resistance by constructing chimeric receptors that recognize damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). *FEBS Letters*, *585*(11), 1521–1528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2011.04.043
- De Vleesschauwer, D., Yang, Y., Cruz, C. V., & Höfte, M. (2010). Abscisic acid-induced resistance against the brown spot pathogen *Cochliobolus miyabeanus* in rice involves MAP kinase-mediated repression of ethylene signaling. *Plant Physiology*, *152*(4), 2036–2052. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.152702
- De Wit, M., Spoel, S. H., Sanchez-Perez, G. F., Gommers, C. M. M., Pieterse, C. M. J., Voesenek, L. A. C. J., & Pierik, R. (2013). Perception of low red: Far-red ratio compromises both salicylic acid- and jasmonic acid-dependent pathogen defences in Arabidopsis. *Plant Journal*, 75(1), 90–103. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.12203
- Dean, R., Van Kan, J. A. L., Pretorius, Z. A., Hammond-Kosack, K. E., Di Pietro, A., Spanu,
  P. D., et al. (2012). The Top 10 fungal pathogens in molecular plant pathology. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, *13*(4), 414–430. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1364-3703.2011.00783.x
- Debode, J., Van Hemelrijck, W., Xu, X. M., Maes, M., Creemers, P., & Heungens, K. (2015). Latent entry and spread of *Collectotrichum acutatum* (species complex) in strawberry fields. *Plant Pathology*, *64*(2), 385–395. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.12247

Demkura, P. V., Abdala, G., Baldwin, I. T., & Ballare, C. L. (2010). Jasmonate-dependent

and -independent pathways mediate specific effects of solar ultraviolet B radiation on leaf phenolics and antiherbivore defense. *Plant Physiology*, *152*(2), 1084–1095. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.148999

- Demkura, Patricia V., & Ballaré, C. L. (2012). UVR8 mediates UV-B-induced arabidopsis defense responses against *Botrytis cinerea* by controlling sinapate accumulation. *Molecular Plant*, 5(3), 642–652. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/sss025
- Demotes-Mainard, S., Péron, T., Corot, A., Bertheloot, J., Le Gourrierec, J., Pelleschi-Travier, S., ... Sakr, S. (2016). Plant responses to red and far-red lights, applications in horticulture. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *121*, 4–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2015.05.010
- Derckel, J. P., Baillieul, F., Manteau, S., Audran, J. C., Haye, B., Lambert, B., & Legendre, L. (1999). Differential induction of grapevine defenses by two strains of *Botrytis cinerea*. *Phytopathology*, *89*(3), 197–203. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO.1999.89.3.197
- Devlin, P. F., Yanovsky, M. J., & Kay, S. A. (2003). A Genomic Analysis of the Shade Avoidance Response in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology*, *133*(4), 1617–1629. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.103.034397
- Di Lenna, P., Marciano, P., & Magro, P. (1981). Comparative Investigation on Morphological and Physiological Features of Three Isolates of Botrytis cinerea. *Journal of Phytopathology*, *100*(3), 203–211. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0434.1981.tb03293.x
- Di Wu, Hu, Q., Yan, Z., Chen, W., Yan, C., Huang, X., et al.. (2012). Structural basis of ultraviolet-B perception by UVR8. *Nature*, *484*(7393), 214–219. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10931
- Díaz-Galián, M. V., Torres, M., Sanchez-Pagán, J. D., Navarro, P. J., Weiss, J., & Egea-Cortines, M. (2020). Enhancement of strawberry production and fruit quality by blue and red LED lights in research and commercial greenhouses. *South African Journal of Botany*, 000, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2020.05.004
- Dik, A. J. ., & Wubben, J. P. (2007). Epidemiology of *Botrytis cinerea* diseases in greenhouse. In *Botrytis: Biology, Pathology and Control* (pp. 319–333).
- Distefano, G., Cirilli, M., Las, G., La, S., Continella, A., Rugini, E., et al. (2013). Ectopic expression of Arabidopsis phytochrome B in Troyer citrange affects photosynthesis and plant morphology. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *159*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2013.04.022

- Dong, C., Fu, Y., Liu, G., & Liu, H. (2014). Growth, photosynthetic characteristics, antioxidant capacity and biomass yield and quality of wheat (Triticum aestivum L.)
   Exposed to LED light sources with different spectra combinations. *Journal of Agronomy* and Crop Science, 200(3), 219–230. https://doi.org/10.1111/jac.12059
- Dong, F., Wang, C., Sun, X., Bao, Z., Dong, C., Sun, C., et al. (2019). Sugar metabolic changes in protein expression associated with different light quality combinations in tomato fruit. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 88(3), 267–282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-019-00506-1
- Dowson-Day, M. J., & Millar, A. J. (1999). Circadian dysfunction causes aberrant hypocotyl elongation patterns in Arabidopsis. *Plant Journal*, *17*(1), 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313X.1999.00353.x
- Dutta Gupta, S., & Jatothu, B. (2013). Fundamentals and applications of light-emitting diodes (LEDs) in in vitro plant growth and morphogenesis. *Plant Biotechnology Reports*, *7*(3), 211–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11816-013-0277-0
- Elad, Y., & Stewart, A. (2004). Microbial Control of Botrytis spp. In *Botrytis: Biology, Pathology and Control* (pp. 223–241).
- Elad, Yigal;, Pertot, I., Cotes Prado, A. M., & Stewart, A. (2016). *Plant hosts of Botrytis spp. Botrytis - the fungus, the pathogen and its management in agricultural systems.* https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-23371-0\_20
- Elmer, P. A. G., & Reglinski, T. (2006). Biosuppression of *Botrytis cinerea* in grapes. *Plant Pathology*, *55*(2), 155–177. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2006.01348.x
- Esmon, C. A., Tinsley, A. G., Ljung, K., Sandberg, G., Hearne, L. B., & Liscum, E. (2006). A gradient of auxin and auxin-dependent transcription precedes tropic growth responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 103(1), 236–241. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0507127103
- Fantini, E., & Facella, P. (2020). Cryptochromes in the field: how blue light influences crop development. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *169*(3), 336–346. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppl.13088
- Farber, D., & Mundt, C. (2016). Effect of Plant Age and Leaf Position on Susceptibility to
  Wheat Stripe Rust. *Phytopathology*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-07-16-0284R
- Faretra, F., & Pollastro, S. (1991). Genetics of resistance to benzimidazole and
dicarboximide fungicides in isolates of *Botryotinia fuckeliana* (*Botrytis cinerea*). *Mycol. Res*, *95*(8), 943–951. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.1993.tb02933.x

- Faulkner, C., Petutschnig, E., Benitez-Alfonso, Y., Beck, M., Robatzek, S., Lipka, V., & Maule, A. J. (2013). LYM2-dependent chitin perception limits molecular flux via plasmodesmata. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *110*(22), 9166–9170. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1203458110
- Fehér, B., Kozma-Bognár, L., Kevei, É., Hajdu, A., Binkert, M., Davis, S. J., et al. (2011).
  Functional interaction of the circadian clock and UV RESISTANCE LOCUS 8-controlled
  UV-B signaling pathways in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Journal*, *67*(1), 37–48.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2011.04573.x
- Feinbaum, R. L., Storz;, G., & Ausubel, F. M. (1991). High intensity and blue light regulated expression of chimeric chalcone synthase genes in transgenic Arabidopsis thaliana plants. *Molecular and General Genetics MGG*, 226(3), 449–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1071-3581(04)00339-3
- Feliziani, E., & Romanazzi, G. (2016). Postharvest decay of strawberry fruit: Etiology, epidemiology, and disease management. *Journal of Berry Research*, 6(1), 47–63. https://doi.org/10.3233/JBR-150113
- Ferguson, B. J., Indrasumunar, A., Hayashi, S., Lin, M. H., Lin, Y. H., Reid, D. E., & Gresshoff, P. M. (2010). Molecular analysis of legume nodule development and autoregulation. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, *52*(1), 61–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7909.2010.00899.x
- Fernández-Milmanda, G. L., Crocco, C. D., Reichelt, M., Mazza, C. A., Köllner, T. G., Zhang, T., et al. (2020). A light-dependent molecular link between competition cues and defence responses in plants. *Nature Plants*, *6*(3), 223–230. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41477-020-0604-8
- Ferrari, S., Plotnikova, J. M., Lorenzo, G. De, Ausubel, F. M., Roma, Á., Sapienza, L., et al. (2003). Arabidopsis local resistance to *Botrytis cinerea* involves salicylic acid and camalexin and requires EDS4 and PAD2, but not SID2, EDS5 or PAD4. *The Plant Journal*, 35, 193–205. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313X.2003.01794.x
- Ferrari, S., Savatin, D. V., Sicilia, F., Gramegna, G., Cervone, F., & De Lorenzo, G. (2013). Oligogalacturonides: Plant damage-associated molecular patterns and regulators of growth and development. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *4*(MAR), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00049

- Feucht, W., Treutter, D., & Christ, E. (1992). The precise localization of catechins and proanthocyanidins in protective layers around fungal infections. *Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection*, 99(4), 404–413.
- Finlayson, S. A., Krishnareddy, S. R., Kebrom, T. H., & Casal, J. J. (2010). Phytochrome regulation of branching in arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology*, *152*(4), 1914–1927. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.109.148833
- Fuglevand, G., Jackson, J. A., & Jenkins, G. I. (1996). UV-B, UV-A, and blue light signal transduction pathways interact synergistically to regulate chalcone synthase gene expression in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell*, 8(12), 2347–2357. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.8.12.2347
- Galvão, V. C., & Fankhauser, C. (2015). Sensing the light environment in plants:
  Photoreceptors and early signaling steps. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *34*(Figure 1), 46–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2015.01.013
- Gao, B. ., Yang, Z. C., Li, W. Q., Wang, X. X., Ding, J. J., Geng, F. Z., & Wang, D. F. (2015).
  Effects of three different red and blue LED light ratio on growth and quality of celery.
  Acta Agric Boreali- Occident Sinoccident Sin, 24, 125–132.
- Genoud, T., Buchala, A. J., Chua, N. H., & Métraux, J. P. (2002). Phytochrome signalling modulates the SA-perceptive pathway in Arabidopsis. *Plant Journal*, *31*(1), 87–95. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313X.2002.01338.x
- Giliberto, L., Perrotta, G., Pallara, P., Weller, J. L., Fraser, P. D., Bramley, P. M., et al. (2005). Manipulation of the blue light photoreceptor cryptochrome 2 in tomato affects vegetative development, flowering time, and fruit antioxidant content. *Plant Physiology*, *137*(1), 199–208. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.104.051987
- Girault, T., Bergougnoux, V., Combes, D., Viemont, J. D., & Leduc, N. (2008). Light controls shoot meristem organogenic activity and leaf primordia growth during bud burst in Rosa sp. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, *31*(11), 1534–1544. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2008.01856.x
- Gitelson, A. A., Chivkunova, O. B., & Merzlyak, M. N. (2009). Nondestructive estimation of anthocyanins and chlorophylls in anthocyanic leaves. *American Journal of Botany*, 96(10), 1861–1868. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.0800395
- Glazebrook, J. (2005). Contrasting Mechanisms of Defense Against Biotrophic and Necrotrophic Pathogens. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, *43*(1), 205–227. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.phyto.43.040204.135923

- Gómez, L. A., & Simón, E. (1995). Circadian rhythm of Robinia pseudoacacia leaflet movements : Role of Calcium and Phytochrome. *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, 61(2), 210–215.
- Gommers, C. M. M., Visser, E. J. W., Onge, K. R. S., Voesenek, L. A. C. J., & Pierik, R. (2013). Shade tolerance: When growing tall is not an option. *Trends in Plant Science*, *18*(2), 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2012.09.008
- González, C. V., Ibarra, S. E., Piccoli, P. N., Botto, J. F., & Boccalandro, H. E. (2012).
  Phytochrome B increases drought tolerance by enhancing ABA sensitivity in
  Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, *35*(11), 1958–1968.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2012.02529.x
- González, G., Moya, M., Sandoval, C., & Herrera, R. (2009). Genetic diversity in Chilean strawberry (Fragaria chiloensis): differential response to *Botrytis cinerea* infection. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, *7*(4), 886. https://doi.org/10.5424/sjar/2009074-1102
- Gooding, H. J. (1976). Resistance to mechanical injury and assessment of shelf life in fruits of strawberry (Fragaria x ananassa). *Horticulture Research*, *16*, 71–82.
- Gorbe, E., & Calatayud, A. (2012). Applications of chlorophyll fluorescence imaging technique in horticultural research: A review. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *138*, 24–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2012.02.002
- Govrin, E. M., & Levine, A. (2000). The hypersensitive response facilitates plant infection by the necotrophic pathogen *Botrytis cinerea*. *Current Biology*, *10*, 751–757.
- Griebel, T., & Zeier, J. (2008). Light regulation and daytime dependency of inducible plant defenses in arabidopsis: Phytochrome signaling controls systemic acquired resistance rather than local defense. *Plant Physiology*, *147*(2), 790–801. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.108.119503
- Guimarães, S. F., Lima, I. M., & Modolo, L. V. (2020). Phenolic content and antioxidant activity of parts of Passiflora edulis as a function of plant developmental stage. *Acta Botanica Brasilica*, 34(1), 74–82. https://doi.org/10.1590/0102-33062019abb0148
- Gullino, M. L., Aloi, C., & Garibaldi, A. (1989). Experiences of Chemical and Biological Control of Grey Mould of Strawberry. *Acta Horticulturae*, pp. 507–512. https://doi.org/10.17660/actahortic.1989.265.75

Hahn, M. (2014). The rising threat of fungicide resistance in plant pathogenic fungi: Botrytis

as a case study. *Journal of Chemical Biology*, *7*(4), 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12154-014-0113-1

- Hamada, W., Reignault, P., Bompeix, G., & Boccara, M. (1994). Transformation of *Botrytis cinerea* with the hygromycin B resistance gene, hph. *Current Genetics*, *26*(3), 251–255. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00309556
- Hébert, C., Charles, M. T., Gauthier, L., Willemot, C., Khanizadeh, S., & Cousineau, J. (2002). Strawberry proanthocyanidins: Biochemical markers for botrytis cinerea resistance and shelf-life predictability. *Acta Horticulturae*, *567*, 659–662. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2002.567.143
- Hébert, C., Gauthier, L., & Gosselin, A. (2001). Identification of strawberry proanthocyanins as antagonists to *Botrytis cinerea*. *In 98th International Conference of the American Society for Horticultural Science, California.*, Poster 317.
- Heijde, M., Binkert, M., Yin, R., Ares-Orpel, F., Rizzini, L., Van De Slijke, E., et al. (2013).
  Constitutively active UVR8 photoreceptor variant in Arabidopsis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *110*(50), 20326–20331.
  https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1314336110
- Heim, D., Nicholson, R. L., Pascholati, S. F., Hagerman, A. E., & Billett, W. (1983). Etiolated Maize Mesocotyls: A Tool for Investigating Disease Interactions. *Phytopathology*, Vol. 73, pp. 424–428. https://doi.org/10.1094/phyto-73-424
- Heo, J., Lee, C., Chakrabarty, D., & Paek, K. (2002). Growth responses of marigold and salvia bedding plants as affected by monochromic or mixture radiation provided by a Light-Emitting Diode (LED). *Plant Growth Regulation*, *38*(3), 225–230. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021523832488
- Heo, J. W., Kang, D. H., Bang, H. S., Hong, S. G., Chun, C., & Kang, K. K. (2012). Early growth, pigmentation, protein content, and phenylalanine ammonia-lyase activity of red curled lettuces grown under different lighting conditions. *Korean Journal of Horticultural Science and Technology*, 30(1), 6–12. https://doi.org/10.7235/hort.2012.11118
- Heraut-Born, V., Robin, C., Varlet-Grancher, C., Afif, D., & Guckert, A. (1999). Light quality (red : far-red ratio ): does it affect photosynthetic activity , net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation , and morphology of young white clover leaves ? *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 77, 1425–1431.
- Hernández, R., & Kubota, C. (2016). Physiological responses of cucumber seedlings under different blue and red photon flux ratios using LEDs. *Environmental and Experimental*

Botany, 121, 66-74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2015.04.001

- Hevia, M. A., Canessa, P., Müller-Esparza, H., & Larrondo, L. F. (2015). A circadian oscillator in the fungus *Botrytis cinerea* regulates virulence when infecting *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(28), 8744–8749. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1508432112
- Hidaka, K., Dan, K., & Imamura, H. (2013). Effect of supplemental lighting from different light sources on growth and yield of strawberry. *Environmental Control in Biology*, 51(1), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.2525/ecb.51.41
- Hoenecke, M. E., Bula, R. J., & Tibbitts, T. W. (1992). Importance of "blue" photon levels for lettuce seedlings grown under red-light-emitting diodes. *HortScience : A Publication of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 27(5), 427–430. https://doi.org/10.21273/hortsci.27.5.427
- Hoffmann, A. M., Noga, G., & Hunsche, M. (2015). High blue light improves acclimation and photosynthetic recovery of pepper plants exposed to UV stress. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *109*, 254–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2014.06.017
- Hogewoning, S. W., Trouwborst, G., Maljaars, H., Poorter, H., van Ieperen, W., & Harbinson, J. (2010). Blue light dose-responses of leaf photosynthesis, morphology, and chemical composition of Cucumis sativus grown under different combinations of red and blue light. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, *61*(11), 3107–3117. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erq132
- Holmes, M. G., & Smith, H. (1977). the Function of Phytochrome in the Natural Environment—Iv. Light Quality and Plant Development. *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, 25(6), 551–557. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-1097.1977.tb09127.x
- Holz, G;, Coertze, S., & Williamson, B. (2007). The ecology of *Botrytis* on plant surface. In *Botrytis: Biology, Pathology and Control* (pp. 9–27). https://doi.org/10.1174/113564009787531226
- Holz, Gustav, Coertze, S., & Williamson, B. (2004). The ecology of *Botrytis* on plant surfaces. *Botrytis: Biology, Pathology and Control*, 9–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-2626-3\_2
- Hong, Y., Lin, S., Jiang, Y., & Ashraf, M. (2008). Variation in contents of total phenolics and flavonoids and antioxidant activities in the leaves of 11 Eriobotrya species. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 63(4), 200–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-008-0088-6

- Howard, R. J., Ferrari, M. A., Roach, D. H., & Money, N. P. (1991). Penetration of hard substrates by a fungus employing enormous turgor pressures. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 88(24), 11281–11284. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.24.11281
- Huang, H., & Nusinow, D. A. (2016). Into the Evening: Complex Interactions in the Arabidopsis Circadian Clock. *Trends in Genetics*, *32*(10), 674–686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2016.08.002
- Huché-Thélier, L., Crespel, L., Gourrierec, J. Le, Morel, P., Sakr, S., & Leduc, N. (2016).
  Light signaling and plant responses to blue and UV radiations-Perspectives for applications in horticulture. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *121*, 22–38.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2015.06.009
- Hunter, T., Brent, K. J., Carter, G. A., & Hutcheon, J. A. (1987). Effects of fungicide spray regimes on incidence of dicarboximide resistance in grey mould (*Botrytis cinerea*) on strawberry plants. *Annals of Applied Biology*, *110*(3), 515–525. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.1987.tb04169.x
- Huq, E., Al-Sady, B., Hudson, M., Kim, C., Apel, K., & Quail, P. H. (2004). Phytochromeinteracting factor 1 is a critical bHLH: Regulator of chlorophyll biosynthesis. *Science*, 305(5692), 1937–1941. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1099728
- Ingle, R. A., Stoker, C., Stone, W., Adams, N., Smith, R., Grant, M., et al. (2015). Jasmonate signalling drives time-of-day differences in susceptibility of Arabidopsis to the fungal pathogen Botrytis cinerea. *Plant Journal*, *84*(5), 937–948. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13050
- Inoue, S. I., Kinoshita, T., Takemiya, A., Doi, M., & Shimazaki, K. I. (2008). Leaf positioning of Arabidopsis in response to blue light. *Molecular Plant*, 1(1), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/ssm001
- Isenegger, D. A., MacLeod, W. J., Ford, R., & Taylor, P. W. J. (2008). Genotypic diversity and migration of clonal lineages of *Botrytis cinerea* from chickpea fields of Bangladesh inferred by microsatellite markers. *Plant Pathology*, *57*(5), 967–973. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.2008.01885.x
- Islam, S., Honda, Y., & Arase, S. (1998). Light induced resistance of broad bean against Botrytis cinerea. Journal of Phytopathology, 146, 479–485. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1439-0434.1998.tb04609.x/abstract

Islam, S. Z., Honda, Y., & Sonhaji, M. (1998). Phototropism of Conidial Germ Tubes of

*Botrytis cinerea* and Its Implication in Plant Infection Processes. *Plant Disease*, *82*(8), 850–856. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS.1998.82.8.850

- Islam, Sayed Zahirul, Babadoost, M., Bekal, S., & Lambert, K. (2008). Red light-induced systemic disease resistance against root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne javanica* and *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* DC 3000. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 156(11–12), 708–714. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0434.2008.01435.x
- Ito, S., Song, Y. H., & Imaizumi, T. (2012). LOV domain-containing F-box proteins: Lightdependent protein degradation modules in Arabidopsis. *Molecular Plant*, 5(3), 573–582. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/sss013
- Izaguirre, M. M., Mazza, C. A., Biondini, M., Baldwin, I. T., & Ballare, C. L. (2006). Remote sensing of future competitors: Impacts on plant defenses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(18), 7170–7174. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0509805103
- Jarvis, W. R. (1962). The infection of strawberry and raspberry fruits by *Botrytis cinerea* Fr. *Annals of Applied Biology*, *50*(3), 569–575. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.1962.tb06049.x
- Jarvis, W. R. (1989). Managing diseases in greenhouse crops. *Plant Disease*, 73(3), 190–194.
- Jenkins, G. I. (1997). UV and blue light signal transduction in Arabidopsis. *Plant, Cell and Environment, 20*(6), 773–778. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.1997.d01-105.x
- Jenkins, Gareth I. (2014). The UV-B photoreceptor UVR8: From structure to physiology. *Plant Cell*, 26(1), 21–37. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.113.119446
- Jeong, R. D., Chandra-Shekara, A. C., Barman, S. R., Navarre, D., Klessig, D. F., Kachroo, A., & Kachroo, P. (2010). Cryptochrome 2 and phototropin 2 regulate resistance protein-mediated viral defense by negatively regulating an E3 ubiquitin ligase.
   *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107(30), 13538–13543. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1004529107
- Jersch, S. ., Scherer, C. ., Huth, G., & Schlösser, E. (2018). Proanthocyanidins as basis for quiescence of *Botrytis cinerea* in immature strawberry fruits. *Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection*, *99*(4), 365–378.
- Jhooty, J. S., & McKeen, W. E. (1962). The perfect stage of Sphaerotheca macularis on strawberry plants. *Plant Disease Rep*, *46*(4), 218–219.
- Jing, X., Wang, H., Gong, B., Liu, S., Wei, M., Ai, X., et al. (2018). Secondary and sucrose

metabolism regulated by different light quality combinations involved in melon tolerance to powdery mildew. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, *124*(January), 77–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2017.12.039

- Johkan, M., Shoji, K., Goto, F., Hashida, S. nosuke, & Yoshihara, T. (2010). Blue lightemitting diode light irradiation of seedlings improves seedling quality and growth after transplanting in red leaf lettuce. *HortScience*, *45*(12), 1809–1814. https://doi.org/10.21273/hortsci.45.12.1809
- Johnston, P. R., Hoksbergen, K., Park, D., & Beever, R. E. (2014). Genetic diversity of Botrytis in New Zealand vineyards and the significance of its seasonal and regional variation. *Plant Pathology*, 63(4), 888–898. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppa.12143
- Jones, J. D. G., & Dangl, J. L. (2006). The plant immune system. *Nature*, *444*(7117), 323–329. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05286
- Junglee, S., Urban, L., Sallanon, H., & Lopez-lauri, F. (2014). Optimized assay for hydrogen peroxide determination in plant tissue using potassium iodide. *American Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, *5*(August), 730–736. https://doi.org/10.4236/ajac.2014.511081
- Kadomura-Ishikawa, Y., Miyawaki, K., Noji, S., & Takahashi, A. (2013). Phototropin 2 is involved in blue light-induced anthocyanin accumulation in Fragaria x ananassa fruits. *Journal of Plant Research*, *126*(6), 847–857. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10265-013-0582-2
- Kalaji, H. M., Schansker, G., Ladle, R. J., Goltsev, V., Bosa, K., Allakhverdiev, S. I., et al. (2014). Frequently asked questions about in vivo chlorophyll fluorescence: Practical issues. *Photosynthesis Research*, *122*(2), 121–158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11120-014-0024-6
- Kami, C., Lorrain, S., Hornitschek, P., & Fankhauser, C. (2010). Light-regulated plant growth and development. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology*, *91*, 29–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0070-2153(10)91002-8
- Kapuya J. A.;, & Hall, M. A. (1977). Diurnal variations in endogenous ethylene levels in plants. *New Phytologist*, *79*, 233–237.
- Karchani-Balma, S., Gautier, A., Raies, A., & Fournier, E. (2008). Geography, plants, and growing systems shape the genetic structure of Tunisian *Botrytis cinerea* populations. *Phytopathology*, *98*(12), 1271–1279. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-98-12-1271

Katan, T., Elad, Y., & Yunis, H. (1989). Resistance to diethofencarb (NPC) in benomyl-

resistant field isolates of *Botrytis cinerea*. *Plant Pathology*, *38*(1), 86–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3059.1989.tb01431.x

- Kataoka, I., Sugiyama, A., & Beppu, K. (2003). Role of ultroviolet radiation in accumulation of anthocyanin in berries of "Gros Colman" grapes (Vitis vinifera L.). *Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticultural Science*, 72(1), 1–6. Retrieved from http://www.mendeley.com/research/geology-volcanic-history-eruptive-style-yakedakevolcano-group-central-japan/
- Kazan, K., & Manners, J. M. (2011a). The interplay between light and jasmonate signalling during defence and development. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 62(12), 4087–4100. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/err142
- Kazan, K., & Manners, J. M. (2011b). The interplay between light and jasmonate signalling during defence and development. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 62(12), 4087–4100. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/err142
- Kefeli, V. I., Kalevitch, M. V, & Borsari, B. (2003). Phenolic cycle in plant and environment. *Journal of Cell and Molecular Biology*, Vol. 2, pp. 13–18.
- Kerssies, A., Bosker-van Zessen, A. I., Wagemakers, C. A. M., & Van Kan, J. A. L. (1997). Variation in pathogenicity and DNA polymorphism among Botrytis cinerea isolates sampled inside and outside a glasshouse. *Plant Disease*, *81*(7), 781–786. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS.1997.81.7.781
- Keuskamp, D. H., Sasidharan, R., & Pierik, R. (2010). Physiological regulation and functional significance of shade avoidance responses to neighbors. *Plant Signaling and Behavior*, *5*(6), 655–662. https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.5.6.11401
- Keymer, A., Pimprikar, P., Wewer, V., Huber, C., Brands, M., Bucerius, S. L., ... Gutjahr, C. (2017). Lipid transfer from plants to arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi. *ELife*, *6*, 1–33. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.29107
- Khalid, M., Saeed-ur-Rahman, Bilal, M., & HUANG, D. feng. (2019). Role of flavonoids in plant interactions with the environment and against human pathogens A review. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, *18*(1), 211–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(19)62555-4
- Khanam, N. N., Ueno, M., Kihara, J., Honda, Y., & Arase, S. (2005a). Suppression of red light-induced resistance in broad beans to *Botrytis cinerea* by salicylic acid. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 66(1–2), 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmpp.2005.03.006

- Khanam, N. N., Ueno, M., Kihara, J., Honda, Y., & Arase, S. (2005b). Suppression of red light-induced resistance in broad beans to *Botrytis cinerea* by salicylic acid. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 66, 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmpp.2005.03.006
- Khazaeli, P., Zamanizadeh, H., Morid, B., & Bayat, H. (2010). Morphological and Molecular Identification of *Botrytis Cinerea* Causal Agent of Gray Mold in Rose Greenhouses in Centeral Regions of Iran. *International Journal of Agricultural Science and Research*, 1(1), 19–24. Retrieved from http://www.sid.ir/en/VEWSSID/J\_pdf/1022320100103.pdf
- Kim, H. H., Goins, G. D., Wheeler, R. M., & Sager, J. C. (2004). Green-light supplementation for enhanced lettuce growth under red-and blue-light-emitting diodes. *HortScience*, 39(7), 1617–1622. https://doi.org/10.21273/hortsci.39.7.1617
- Kim, K., Kook, H. S., Jiang, Y. J., Lee, W. H., Kamala Kannan, S., Chae, J. C., & Lee, and K. (2013). The effect of blue-light-emitting diodes on antioxidant properties and resistance to *Botrytis cinerea* in tomato. *Journal of Plant Pathology & Microbiology*, *04*(09). https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7471.1000203
- Kim, T. H., Kim, B. H., & Von Arnim, A. G. (2002). Repressors of photomorphogenesis. International Review of Cytology, 220, 185–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7696(02)20006-6
- Kobayashi, S., Asai, T., Fujimoto, Y., & Kohshima, S. (2008). Anti-herbivore structures of Paulownia tomentosa: Morphology, distribution, chemical constituents and changes during shoot and leaf development. *Annals of Botany*, *101*(7), 1035–1047. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcn033
- Kook, H. S., Park, S. H., Jang, Y. J., Lee, G. W., Kim, J. S., Kim, H. M., et al. (2013). Blue LED (light-emitting diodes)-mediated growth promotion and control of *Botrytis disease* in lettuce. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B: Soil and Plant Science*, *63*(3), 271–277. https://doi.org/10.1080/09064710.2012.756118
- Kopsell, D. A. ., & Sams, C. E. (2013). Increases in Shoot Tissue Pigments, Glucosinolates, and Mineral Elements in Sprouting Broccoli after Exposure to Short-duration Blue Light from Light Emitting Diodes. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 138(1), 31–37.
- Kotilainen, T., Tegelberg, R., Julkunen-Tiitto, R., Lindfors, A., & Aphalo, P. J. (2008).
  Metabolite specific effects of solar UV-A and UV-B on alder and birch leaf phenolics. *Global Change Biology*, *14*(6), 1294–1304. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-

2486.2008.01569.x

- Kretschmer, M., & Hahn, M. (2008). Fungicide resistance and genetic diversity of *Botrytis cinerea* isolates from a vineyard in Germany. *Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection*, *115*(5), 214–219. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03356266
- Krizek, D. T., Mirecki, R. M., Britz, S. J., Harris, W. G., & Thimijan, R. W. (1998). Spectral properties of microwave-powered sulfur lamps in comparison to sunlight and high pressure sodium/metal halide lamps. *Biotronics*, 27, 69–80.
- Kumari, S., Tayal, P., Sharma, E., & Kapoor, R. (2014). Analyses of genetic and pathogenic variability among *Botrytis cinerea* isolates. *Microbiological Research*, *169*(11), 862–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2014.02.012
- Kunz, C., Vandelle, E., Rolland, S., Poinssot, B., Bruel, C., Cimerman, A., et al. (2006).
  Characterization of a new, nonpathogenic mutant of *Botrytis cinerea* with impaired plant colonization capacity. *New Phytologist*, *170*(3), 537–550. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01682.x
- Kuzmanovska, B., Rusevski, R., Jankuloski, L., Jankulovska, M., Ivic, D., & Bandzo, K. (2012). Phenotypic and genetic characterization of *Botrytis cinerea* isolates from tomato. *Genetika*, *44*(3), 633–647. https://doi.org/10.2298/GENSR1203663K
- Łabuz, J., Sztatelman, O., Banaś, A. K., & Gabryś, H. (2012). The expression of phototropins in Arabidopsis leaves: Developmental and light regulation. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 63(4), 1763–1771. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ers061
- Lai, A. G., Doherty, C. J., Mueller-Roeber, B., Kay, S. A., Schippers, J. H. M., & Dijkwel, P.
   P. (2012). CIRCADIAN CLOCK-ASSOCIATED 1 regulates ROS homeostasis and oxidative stress responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(42), 17129–17134. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1209148109
- Lambers, H. ., Chapin III, F. S. ., & Pons, T. L. (2008). *Plant physiological ecology. Springer Science & Business Media.*
- Landi, M., Tattini, M., & Gould, K. S. (2015). Multiple functional roles of anthocyanins in plant-environment interactions. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *119*, 4–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2015.05.012
- Landi, Marco, Zivcak, M., Sytar, O., Brestic, M., & Allakhverdiev, S. I. (2020). Plasticity of photosynthetic processes and the accumulation of secondary metabolites in plants in response to monochromatic light environments: A review. *Biochimica et Biophysica*

Acta - Bioenergetics, 1861(2), 148131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2019.148131

- Landis, T. D., Pinto, J. R., & Kasten Dumroese, R. (2013). Light emitting diodes (LED): applications in forest and native plant nurseries. *Forest Nursery Notes*, *33*(2), 5–13.
- Lattanzio, V., Lattanzio, V. M. T., & Cardinali, A. (2006). Role of Phenolics in the resistance mechanisms of plants against fungal pathogens and insects. In *Phytochemitry: Advances in Research* (pp. 23–67). https://doi.org/10.1080/19439342.2018.1452778
- LEE, M., SEO, S. W., & OTA., Y. (1981). Studies on the Physiological Activity of Ethylene in Rice Plants: III. Diurnal variation in ethylene evoluton in leaf and panicle. *Japanese Journal of Crop Science*, *50*(3), 396–400. https://doi.org/10.1248/cpb.37.3229
- Leroch, M., Kleber, A., Silva, E., Coenen, T., Koppenhöfer, D., Shmaryahu, A., et al. (2013). Transcriptome profiling of *Botrytis cinerea* conidial germination reveals upregulation of infection-related genes during the prepenetration stage. *Eukaryotic Cell*, *12*(4), 614– 626. https://doi.org/10.1128/EC.00295-12
- Leroch, M., Kretschmer, M., & Hahn, M. (2011). Fungicide resistance phenotypes of *Botrytis cinerea* isolates from commercial vineyards in South West Germany. *Journal of Phytopathology*, *159*(1), 63–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0434.2010.01719.x
- Leroch, M., Plesken, C., Weber, R. W. S., Kauff, F., Scalliet, G., & Hahn, M. (2013). Gray mold populations in German strawberry fields are resistant to multiple fungicides and dominated by a novel clade closely related to *Botrytis cinerea*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79(1), 159–167. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02655-12
- Leroux, P., Gredt, M., Leroch, M., & Walker, A. S. (2010). Exploring mechanisms of resistance to respiratory inhibitors in field strains of *Botrytis cinerea*, the causal agent of gray mold. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *76*(19), 6615–6630. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00931-10
- Li, H., Xu, Z., & Tang, C. (2010). Effect of light-emitting diodes on growth and morphogenesis of upland cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) plantlets in vitro. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture*, *103*(2), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11240-010-9763-z
- Li, Q., & Kubota, C. (2009). Effects of supplimental light quality on growth and phytochemicals of baby leaf lettuce. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 67, 59– 64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2009.06.011
- Li, Y., Xin, G., Wei, M., Shi, Q., Yang, F., & Wang, X. (2017). Carbohydrate accumulation and sucrose metabolism responses in tomato seedling leaves when subjected to

different light qualities. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *225*(July), 490–497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2017.07.053

- Lichtenthaler, H. K. (1987). Chlorophylls and carotenoids: Pigments of photosynthetic biomembranes. *Methods in Enzymology*, *148*, 350–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/0076-6879(87)48036-1
- Lichtenthaler, H. K., & Buschmann, C. (2001). Chlorophylls and carotenoids: Measurement and characterization by UV-VIS spectroscopy. *Current Protocols of Food Analytical Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142913.faf0403s01
- Lin, C., & Todo, T. (2005). The cryptochromes. *Genome Biology*, *6*(5). https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2005-6-5-220
- Lin, K. H., Huang, M. Y., Huang, W. D., Hsu, M. H., Yang, Z. W., & Yang, C. M. (2013). The effects of red, blue, and white light-emitting diodes on the growth, development, and edible quality of hydroponically grown lettuce (Lactuca sativa L. var. capitata). *Scientia Horticulturae*, *150*, 86–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2012.10.002
- Liu, H., Liu, B., Zhao, C., Pepper, M., & Lin, C. (2011). The action mechanisms of plant cryptochromes. *Trends in Plant Science*, *16*(12), 684–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2011.09.002
- Liu, J., Zhang, F., Zhou, J., Chen, F., Wang, B., & Xie, X. (2012). Phytochrome B control of total leaf area and stomatal density affects drought tolerance in rice. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 78(3), 289–300. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-011-9860-3
- Liu, X. Y., Chang, T. T., Guo, S. R., Xu, Z. G., & Li, J. (2011). Effect of different light quality of LED on growth and photosynthetic character in cherry tomato seedling. *Acta Horticulturae*, *907*, 325–330. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2011.907.53
- Liu, Xiaoying;, Chang, T., Guo, S., Xu, Z., & Chen, W. (2010). Effect of irradiation with blue and red LED on fruit quality of cherry tomato during growth period. *China Vegetables*, (22), 21–27.
- Liu, Xiaoying, Guo, S., Chang, T., Xu, Z., & Takafumi, T. (2012). Regulation of the growth and photosynthesis of cherry tomato seedlings by different light irradiations of light emitting diodes (LED). *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *11*(22), 6169–6177. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB11.1191
- Lopez, L., Carbone, F., Bianco, L., Giuliano, G., Facella, P., & Perrotta, G. (2012). Tomato plants overexpressing cryptochrome 2 reveal altered expression of energy and stress-

related gene products in response to diurnal cues. *Plant, Cell and Environment, 35*(5), 994–1012. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2011.02467.x

- Lötscher, M., & Nösberger, J. (1997). Branch and root formation in Trifolium repens is influenced by the light environment of unfolded leaves. *Oecologia*, *111*(4), 499–504. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420050263
- Lu, H., McClung, R., & Zhang, C. (2017). Tick tock: circadian regulation of plant innate immunity. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 55, 287–311. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-phyto-080516
- Lu, N., Maruo, T., Johkan, M., & Hohjo, M. (2012). Effect of supplemental lighting with Light-Emitting Diodes (LEDs) on tomato yield and quality of single-Truss tomato plants grown at high planting density. *Environ. Control Biol.*, Vol. 50, pp. 63–74.
- Lynn, D. G., & Chang, M. (1990). Phenolic signals in cohabitation: Implications for plant development. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology, 41(1), 497–526. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pp.41.060190.002433
- Ma, L., Li, J., Qu, L., Hager, J., Chen, Z., & Zhao, H. (2001). Light Control of Arabidopsis Development Entails Coordinated. Society, 13(December), 2589–2607. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.010229.A
- Macedo, A. F., Leal-Costa, M. V., Tavares, E. S., Lage, C. L. S., & Esquibel, M. A. (2011).
  The effect of light quality on leaf production and development of in vitro-cultured plants of Alternanthera brasiliana Kuntze. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *70*(1), 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2010.05.012
- Magar, Y. G., Ohyama, K., Noguchi, A., Amaki, W., & Furufuji, S. (2018). Effects of light quality during supplemental lighting on the flowering in an everbearing strawberry. *Acta Horticulturae*, *1206*, 279–284. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2018.1206.39
- Mahlein, A.-K. (2016). Present and Future Trends in Plant Disease Detection. *Plant Disease*, *100*(2), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13398-014-0173-7.2
- Makarova, V., Kaimirko, Y., Krendeleva, T., Kukarskikh, G., Lavrukhina, O., Pogosyan, S., & Ykovleva, O. (1998). Fv/Fm as a stress indicator for woody plants from urbanecosystem. *Photosynthesis: Mechnisms and Effects*, V, 4065–4068.
- Martinez, F., Corio-Costet, M. F., Levis, C., Coarer, M., & Fermaud, M. (2008). New PCR primers applied to characterize distribution of Botrytis cinerea populations in french vineyards. *Vitis Journal of Grapevine Research*, *47*(4), 217–226.

- Martinez, Fabian, Blancard, D., Lecomte, P., Levis, C., Dubos, B., & Fermaud, M. (2003). Phenotypic differences between vacuma and transposa subpopulations of Botrytis cinerea. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, *109*(5), 479–488. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024222206991
- Martinez, Fabian, Dubos, B., & Fermaud, M. (2005). The role of saprotrophy and virulence in the population dynamics of *Botrytis cinerea* in vineyards. *Phytopathology*, 95(6), 692– 700. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-95-0692
- Massa, G. D., Kim, H. H., Wheeler, R. M., & Mitchell, C. A. (2008). Plant productivity in response to LED lighting. *Horticulture Science*, *43*(7), 1951–1956.
- Mawphlang, O. I. L., & Kharshiing, E. V. (2017). Photoreceptor Mediated Plant Growth Responses: Implications for Photoreceptor Engineering toward Improved Performance in Crops. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8(July), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01181
- Mayer, R., Raventos, D., & Chua, N. (1996). det1, cop1, and cop9 mutations cause inappropriate expression of several gene sets. *The Plant Cell*, *8*, 1951–1959.
- Mazar, M., Sahnoun, M., Bettayeb, B., & Klement, N. (2018). Optimization of Robotized Tasks for the UV-C Treatment of Diseases in Horticulture. *International Conference of the African Federation of Operational Research Societies*, (July), 1–4.
- Mazza, C. A., & Ballaré, C. L. (2015). Photoreceptors UVR8 and phytochrome B cooperate to optimize plant growth and defense in patchy canopies. *New Phytologist*, *207*(1), 4–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13332
- McCree, K. J. (1971). The action spectrum, absorptance and quantum yield of photosynthesis in crop plants. *Agricultural Meteorology*, *9*, 191–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-1571(71)90022-7
- McDonald, B. A., & Linde, C. (2002). Pathogen population genetics, evolutionary potential, and durable resistance. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, *40*, 349–379. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.phyto.40.120501.101443
- Mehli, L., Kjellsen, T. D., Dewey, F. M., & Hietala, A. M. (2005). A case study from the interaction of strawberry and Botrytis cinerea highlights the benefits of comonitoring both partners at genomic and mRNA level. *New Phytologist*, *168*(2), 465–474. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01526.x

Mellersh, D. G., Foulds, I. V., Higgins, V. J., & Heath, M. C. (2002). H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> plays different roles

in determining penetration failure in three diverse plant-fungal interactions. *Plant Journal*, *29*(3), 257–268. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0960-7412.2001.01215.x

- Meng, L., Höfte, M., & Van Labeke, M.-C. (2019). Leaf age and light quality influence the basal resistance against *Botrytis cinerea* in strawberry leaves. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 157, 35–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2018.09.025
- Meng, Y., Li, H., Wang, Q., Liu, B., & Lin, C. (2013). Blue light-dependent interaction between cryptochrome2 and CIB1 regulates transcription and leaf senescence in soybean. *Plant Cell*, 25(11), 4405–4420. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.113.116590
- Michailides, T. J., & Elmer, P. A. G. (2000). Botrytis gray mold of Kiwifruit caused by *Botrytis cinerea* in the United States and New Zealand. *Plant Disease*, *84*(3), 208–223.
- Mirzaei, S., Mohammadi Goltapeh, E., Shams-Bakhsh, M., Safaie, N., & Chaichi, M. (2009). Genetic and phenotypic diversity among *Botrytis cinerea* isolates in Iran. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 157(7–8), 474–482. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0434.2008.01518.x
- Miya, A., Albert, P., Shinya, T., Desaki, Y., Ichimura, K., Shirasu, K., et al.. (2007). CERK1, a LysM receptor kinase, is essential for chitin elicitor signaling in Arabidopsis.
   Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104(49), 19613–19618. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0705147104
- Miyashita, Y., Kimura, T., & Kitaya, Y. (1997). Effects of red light on the growth and morphology of potato plantlets in vitro: using light emitting diodes (LEDs) as a light source for micropropagation. *Acta Horticulturae*, *418*, 169–173.
- Moghaddam, M. R. B., & Ende, W. Van den. (2013). Sugars, the clock and transition to flowering. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *4*(February), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00022
- Mohammadi, M., & Kazemi, H. (2002). Changes in peroxidase and polyphenol oxidase activities in susceptible and resistant wheat heads inoculated with *Fusarium graminearum* and induced resistance. *Plant Science*, *162*(4), 491–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9452(01)00538-6
- Moon, H. K., Park, S. Y., Kim, Y. W.;, & Kim, C. S. (2006). Growth of Tsuru-rindo (Tripterospermum japonicum) cultured in vitro under various sources of light-emitting diode (LED) irradiation. *Journal of Plant Biology*, 49(2), 174–179. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03031014

Mordini, M., Nemecek, T., & Gaillard, G. (2009). Carbon & Water Footprint of Oranges and

*Strawberries: A Literature Review.* 76. Retrieved from http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Carbon+&+Water+Foo tprint+of+Oranges+and+Strawberries+A+Literature+Review#0

- Moreno, J. E., Tao, Y., Chory, J., & Ballaré, C. L. (2009a). Ecological modulation of plant defense via phytochrome control of jasmonate sensitivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *106*(12), 4935–4940. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0900701106
- Moreno, J. E., Tao, Y., Chory, J., & Ballaré, C. L. (2009b). Ecological modulation of plant defense via phytochrome control of jasmonate sensitivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *106*(12), 4935–4940. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0900701106
- Movahedi, S., & Heale, J. B. (1990). The roles of aspartic proteinase and endo-pectin lyase enzymes in the primary stages of infection and pathogenesis of various host tissues by different isolates of *Botrytis cinerea* Pers ex. Pers. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, *36*(4), 303–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/0885-5765(90)90061-2
- Moyano, L., Lopéz-Fernández, M. P., Carrau, A., Nannini, J. M., Petrocelli, S., Orellano, E.
  G., & Maldonado, S. (2020). Red light delays programmed cell death in non-host interaction between *Pseudomonas syringae* pv *tomato* DC3000 and tobacco plants. *Plant Science*, 291(May 2019), 110361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2019.110361
- Muñoz, G., Hinrichsen, P., Brygoo, Y., & Giraud, T. (2002). Genetic characterisation of Botrytis cinerea populations in Chile. Mycological Research, 106(5), 594–601. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0953756202005981
- Mutar, S. S., & Fattah, F. A. (2013). Red Light Induced Systemic Resistance to Root knot Nematodes in Tomato. *Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare*, *3*(15), 110–115.
- Nadalini, S., Zucchi, P., & Andreotti, C. (2017). Effects of blue and red LED lights on soilless cultivated strawberry growth performances and fruit quality. *European Journal of Horticultural Science*, *82*(1), 12–20.
- Nagata, M., Yamamoto, N., Miyamoto, T., Shimomura, A., Arima, S., Hirsch, A. M., & Suzuki, A. (2016). Enhanced hyphal growth of arbuscular mycorrhizae by root exudates derived from high R/FR treated Lotus japonicus. *Plant Signaling and Behavior*, *11*(6), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592324.2016.1187356
- Nagendran, R., & Lee, Y. H. (2015). Green and red Light reduces the disease severity by Pseudomonas cichorii JBC1 in tomato plants via upregulation of defense-related gene

expression. *Phytopathology*, *105*(4), 412–418. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-04-14-0108-R

- Nakajima, M., & Akutsu, K. (2014). Virulence factors of *Botrytis cinerea*. *Journal of General Plant Pathology*, *80*(1), 15–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10327-013-0492-0
- Nakano, Y., & Asada, K. (1981). Hydrogen-peroxide is scavenged by ascorbate-specific peroxidase in spinach-chloroplasts. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 22(5), 867–880. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.pcp.a076232
- Nanya, K., Ishigami, Y., Hikosaka, S., & Goto, E. (2012). Effects of blue and red light on stem elongation and flowering of tomato seedlings. *Acta Horticulturae*, 956, 261–266. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2012.956.29
- Newman, M. A., Sundelin, T., Nielsen, J. T., & Erbs, G. (2013). MAMP (microbe-associated molecular pattern) triggered immunity in plants. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 4(MAY), 1– 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00139
- Nhut, D. T., Takamura, T., Watanabe, H., Okamoto, K., & Tanaka, M. (2003). Responses of strawberry plantlets cultured in vitro under superbright red and blue light-emitting diodes (LEDs). *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture*, *73*(1), 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022638508007
- Ninu, L., Ahmad, M., Miarelli, C., Cashmore, A. R., & Giuliano, G. (1999). Cryptochrome 1 controls tomato development in response to blue light. *Plant Journal*, *18*(5), 551–556. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313X.1999.00466.x
- O'Carrigan, A., Babla, M., Wang, F., Liu, X., Mak, M., Thomas, R., et al. (2014). Analysis of gas exchange, stomatal behaviour and micronutrients uncovers dynamic response and adaptation of tomato plants to monochromatic light treatments. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, *82*, 105–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2014.05.012
- Ohashi-Kaneko, K., Tarase, M., Noya, K. O. N., Fujiwara, K., & Kurata, K. (2007). Effect of light quality on growth and vegetable quality in leaf lettuce, spinach and komatsuna. *Environmental Control in Biology*, Vol. 45, pp. 189–198. https://doi.org/10.2525/ecb.45.189
- Okamoto, K., Yanagi, T., Takita, S., Tanaka, M., Higuchi, T., Ushida, Y., & Watanabe, H. (1996). Development of plant growth apparatus using blue and red LED as artificial light source. *Acta Horticulturae*, Vol. 440, pp. 111–116. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.1996.440.20

- Olle, M., & Viršile, A. (2013). The effects of light-emitting diode lighting on greenhouse plant growth and quality. *Agricultural and Food Science*, *22*(2), 223–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2009.06.011
- Osorio, S., Castillejo, C., Quesada, M. A., Medina-Escobar, N., Brownsey, G. J., Suau, R., et al. (2008). Partial demethylation of oligogalacturonides by pectin methyl esterase 1 is required for eliciting defence responses in wild strawberry (*Fragaria vesca*). *Plant Journal*, *54*(1), 43–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2007.03398.x
- Ouzounis, T., Fretté, X., Rosenqvist, E., & Ottosen, C. O. (2014). Spectral effects of supplementary lighting on the secondary metabolites in roses, chrysanthemums, and campanulas. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, *171*(16), 1491–1499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2014.06.012
- Ouzounis, T., Razi Parjikolaei, B., Fretté, X., Rosenqvist, E., & Ottosen, C.-O. (2015). Predawn and high intensity application of supplemental blue light decreases the quantum yield of PSII and enhances the amount of phenolic acids, flavonoids, and pigments in Lactuca sativa. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *6*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00019
- Pande, S., Galloway, J., Gaur, P. M., Siddique, K. H. M., Tripathi, H. S., Taylor, P., et al. (2006). *Botrytis* grey mould of chickpea: A review of biology, epidemiology, and disease management. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, *57*(11), 1137–1150. https://doi.org/10.1071/AR06120
- Pande, Suresh, Sharma, M., Kishore, G. K., Shivram, L., & Mangala, U. N. (2010).
   Characterization of *Botrytis cinerea* isolates from chickpea: DNA polymorphisms, cultural, morphological and virulence characteristics. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *9*(46), 7961–7967. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajb10.1361
- Pantin, F., Simonneau, T., & Muller, B. (2012). Coming of Leaf Age: control of growth by hydraulics and metabolics during leaf ontogeny. *New Phytologist*, *196*(2), 349–366.
- Parada, R. Y., Mon-nai, W., Ueno, M., Kihara, J., & Arase, S. (2015). Red-Light-Induced Resistance to Brown Spot Disease Caused by *Bipolaris oryzae* in Rice. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 163(2), 116–123. https://doi.org/10.1111/jph.12288
- Park, Y., & Runkle, E. S. (2017). Far-red radiation promotes growth of seedlings by increasing leaf expansion and whole-plant net assimilation. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 136, 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2016.12.013

Paul, N. D., Moore, J. P., Mcpherson, M., Lambourne, C., Croft, P., Heaton, J. C., &

Wargent, J. J. (2012). Ecological responses to UV radiation : interactions between the biological effects of UV on plants and on associated organisms. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *145*, 565–581. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2011.01553.x

- Pertot, I., Giovannini, O., Benanchi, M., Caffi, T., Rossi, V., & Mugnai, L. (2017). Combining biocontrol agents with different mechanisms of action in a strategy to control *Botrytis cinerea* on grapevine. *Crop Protection*, *97*, 85–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2017.01.010
- Petrasch, S., Knapp, S. J., van Kan, J. A. L., & Blanco-Ulate, B. (2019). Grey mould of strawberry, a devastating disease caused by the ubiquitous necrotrophic fungal pathogen *Botrytis cinerea*. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, *20*(6), 877–892. https://doi.org/10.1111/mpp.12794
- Phee, B. K., Park, S., Cho, J. H., Jeon, J. S., Bhoo, S. H., & Hahn, T. R. (2007).
  Comparative proteomic analysis of blue light signaling components in the arabidopsis cryptochrome 1 mutant. *Molecules and Cells*, *23*(2), 154–160.
- Phillips, D. A., Wery, J., Joseph, C. M., Jones, A. D., & Teuber, L. R. (1995). Release of flavonoids and betaines from seeds of seven Medicago species. *Crop Science*, 35(3), 805–808. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci1995.0011183X003500030028x
- Pirie, A., & Mullins, M. G. (1976). Changes in anthocyanin and phenolics content of grapevine leaf and fruit tissues treated with sucrose, nitrate, and abscisic acid. *Plant Physiology*, *58*, 468–472. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.58.4.468
- Pokorny, R., Klar, T., Hennecke, U., Carell, T., Batschauer, A., & Essen, L. O. (2008). Recognition and repair of UV lesions in loop structures of duplex DNA by DASH-type cryptochrome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 105(52), 21023–21027. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0805830106
- Pombo, M. A., Rosli, H. G., Martínez, G. A., & Civello, P. M. (2011). UV-C treatment affects the expression and activity of defense genes in strawberry fruit (Fragaria×ananassa, Duch.). *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 59(1), 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2010.08.003
- Pontarin, N., Molinié, R., Mathiron, D., Tchoumtchoua, J., Bassard, S., Gagneul, D., et al. (2020). Age-dependent metabolic profiles unravel the metabolic relationships within and between flax leaves (Linum usitatissimum). *Metabolites*, *10*(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo10060218

Prusky, D., & Lichter, A. (2007). Activation of quiescent infections by postharvest pathogens

during transition from the biotrophic to the necrotrophic stage. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, *268*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2006.00603.x

- Puhl, I., & Treutter, D. (2008). Ontogenetic variation of catechin biosynthesis as basis for infection and quiescence of *Botrytis cinerea* in developing strawberry fruits. *Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection*, *115*(6), 247–251. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03356272
- Purschwitz, J., Müller, S., Kastner, C., & Fischer, R. (2006). Seeing the rainbow: light sensing in fungi. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 9(6), 566–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2006.10.011
- Pusztahelyi, T., Holb, I. J., & Pocsi, I. (2015). Secondary metabolites in fungus-plant interactions. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *6*(August), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00573
- Quidde, T., Osbourn, A. E., & Tudzynski, P. (1998). Detoxification of α-tomatine by *Botrytis cinerea*. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, *52*(3), 151–165. https://doi.org/10.1006/pmpp.1998.0142
- Radhika, V., Kost, C., Bartram, S., Heil, M., & Boland, W. (2008). Testing the optimal defence hypothesis for two indirect defences: Extrafloral nectar and volatile organic compounds. *Planta*, 228(3), 449–457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-008-0749-6
- Rahman, M. Z., Honda, Y., & Arase, S. (2003). Red-light-induced resistance in broad bean (Vicia faba L.) to Leaf spot disease caused by *Alternaria tenuissima*. *Journal of Phytopathology*, 151(2), 86–91. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0434.2003.00685.x
- Rahman, M. Z., Honda, Y., Islam, S. Z., & Arase, S. (2002). Effect of metabolic inhibitors on red light-induced resistance of broad bean (Vicia faba L.) against *Botrytis cinerea*. *Journal of Phytopathology*, *150*(8–9), 463–468. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0434.2002.00781.x
- Rahman, Muhamad Zahidur, Khanam, H., Ueno, M., Kihara, J., Honda, Y., & Arase, S. (2010). Suppression by red light irradiation of corynespora leaf spot of cucumber caused by corynespora cassiicola. *Journal of Phytopathology*, *158*(5), 378–381. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0434.2009.01632.x
- Rantanen, M., Kurokura, T., Mouhu, K., Pinho, P., Tetri, E., Halonen, L., et al. (2014). Light quality regulates flowering in FvFT1/FvTFL1 dependent manner in the woodland strawberry *Fragaria vesca*. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *5*(June), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00271

- Rasiukevičiūtė, N., Rugienius, R., & Šikšnianienė, J. B. (2018). Genetic diversity of *Botrytis cinerea* from strawberry in Lithuania. *Zemdirbyste*, *105*(3), 265–270. https://doi.org/10.13080/z-a.2018.105.034
- Reifenrath, K., & Müller, C. (2007). Species-specific and leaf-age dependent effects of ultraviolet radiation on two Brassicaceae. *Phytochemistry*, *68*(6), 875–885. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.12.008
- Reignault, P., Mercier, M., Bompeix, G., & Boccara, M. (1994). Pectin methylesterase from Botrytis cinerea: Physiological, biochemical and immunochemical studies. *Microbiology*, *140*(12), 3249–3255. https://doi.org/10.1099/13500872-140-12-3249
- Rikin, A., Dillwith, J. W. ., & Bergman, D. K. (1993). Correlation between the circadian rhythm of resistance to extreme temperatures and changes in fatty acid composition in cotton seedlings. *Plant Physiology*, *101*(1), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.101.1.31
- Rizzini, L., Favory, J. J., Cloix, C., Faggionato, D., O'Hara, A., Kaiserli, E., et al. (2011). Perception of UV-B by the arabidopsis UVR8 protein. *Science*, *332*(6025), 103–106. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1200660
- Roberts, M. R., & Paul, N. D. (2006). Seduced by the dark side : integrating molecular and ecological perspectives on the influence of light on plant defence against pests and pathogens. *New Phytologist*, (170), 677–699.
- Roden, L. C., & Ingle, R. A. (2009). Lights , Rhythms , Infection : The role of light and the circadian clock in determining the outcome of plant – pathogen interactions. *The Plant Cell*, *21*, 2546–2552. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.109.069922
- Rodriguez-Romero, J., Hedtke, M., Kastner, C., Uller, S., & Fischer, R. (2010). Fungi,
  Hidden in Soil or Up in the Air: Light Makes a Difference. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol*, *64*, 585–610. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.112408.134000
- Rolfe, S. A., & Scholes, J. D. (2010). Chlorophyll fluorescence imaging of plant-pathogen interactions. *Protoplasma*, *247*(3), 163–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-010-0203-z
- Salinas, J., & Verhoeff, K. (1995). Microscopical studies of the infection of gerbara flowers by Botrytis cinerea. European Journal of Plant Pathology, 101(4), 377–386. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01874851
- Samuoliene, G., Brazaityte, A., Urbonavičiute, A., Šabajeviene, G., & Duchovskis, P. (2010). The effect of red and blue light component on the growth and development of frigo strawberries. *Zemdirbyste-Agriculture*, *97*(2), 99–104. Retrieved from

https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/39956192/The\_effect\_of\_red\_an d\_blue\_light\_compone20151112-10278-

qo8oli.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53UL3A&Expires=1542800721&Sig nature=qUGmFoYgonfsXuRtBbwmlCrFkvY%253D&response-content-disposition=inlin

- Samuoliene, Giedre, & Duchovskis, P. (2008). The possibility to control the metabolism of green vegetables and sprouts using light emitting diode illumination. *Scientific Works of the Institute of Horticulture, Lithuanian Research Centre for Agriculture and Forestry and Aleksandras Stulginskis University, 27*(November 2015), 83–92.
- Schuerger, A. C., Brown, C. S., & Stryjewski, E. C. (1997). Anatomical features of pepper plants (Capsicum annuum L.) grown under red light-emitting diodes supplemented with blue or far-red light. *Annals of Botany*, *79*(3), 273–282.
- Schumacher, J. (2012). Tools for Botrytis cinerea: New expression vectors make the gray mold fungus more accessible to cell biology approaches. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, 49(6), 483–497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fgb.2012.03.005
- Schumacher, J. (2017). How light affects the life of *Botrytis*. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, 106, 26–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fgb.2017.06.002
- Seifi, H. S., Curvers, K., De Vleesschauwer, D., Delaere, I., Aziz, A., & Höfte, M. (2013).
   Concurrent overactivation of the cytosolic glutamine synthetase and the GABA shunt in the ABA-deficient sitiens mutant of tomato leads to resistance against *Botrytis cinerea*. *New Phytologist*, *199*(2), 490–504. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12283
- Seo, P. J., & Mas, P. (2015). STRESSing the role of the plant circadian clock. *Trends in Plant Science*, *20*(4), 230–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2015.01.001
- Shah, A., & Smith, D. L. (2020). Flavonoids in Agriculture : Chemistry and Roles in , Biotic and Abiotic Stress Responses , and Microbial Associations.
- Shakeel, S. N., Wang, X., Binder, B. M., & Schaller, G. E. (2013). Mechanisms of signal transduction by ethylene : overlapping and non-overlapping signalling roles in a receptor family. *AoB Plants*, *5*, plt010. https://doi.org/10.1093/aobpla/plt010
- Shao, K., Zhang, X., Li, X., Hao, Y., Huang, X., Ma, M., et al. (2020). The oligomeric structures of plant cryptochromes. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology*, *27*(5), 480– 488. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41594-020-0420-x
- Sharabani, G., Shtienberg, D., Elad, Y., & Dinoor, A. (1999). Epidemiology of *Botrytis cinerea* in sweet basil and implications for disease management. *Plant Disease*, *83*(6),

554-560. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS.1999.83.6.554

- Sharma, E., & Kapoor, R. (2017). Insights into the molecular interplay of virulence factors in Botrytis cinerea. Australasian Plant Pathology, 46(6), 551–561. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13313-017-0519-7
- Shibuya, T., Itagaki, K., Tojo, M., & Endo, R. (2011). Fluorescent Illumination with High Redto-far-red Ratio Improves Resistance of Cucumber Seedlings to Powdery Mildew. *HortScience*, *46*(3), 429–431.
- Shirasawa, H., Ueno, M., Kihara, J., & Arase, S. (2012). Protective effect of red light against blast disease caused by *Magnaporthe oryzae* in rice. *Crop Protection*, 39, 41–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2012.03.026
- Shtienberg, D., Elad, Y., Niv, A., Nitzani, Y., & Kirshner, B. (1998). Significance of leaf infection by *Botrytis cinerea* in stem rotting of tomatoes grown in non-heated greenhouses. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, *104*(8), 753–763. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008690925443
- Singh, D., Basu, C., Meinhardt-Wollweber, M., & Roth, B. (2015). LEDs for energy efficient greenhouse lighting. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 49, 139–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.04.117
- Singh, R., Singh, S., Parihar, P., Mishra, R. K., Tripathi, D. K., Singh, V. P., et al. (2016).
   Reactive oxygen species (ROS): Beneficial companions of plants' developmental processes. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *7*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01299
- Sirjusingh, C;, Sutton, J., & Tsujita, M. (1996). Effects of inoculum concentration and host age on infection of geranium by *Botrytis cinerea*. *Plant Disease*, *80*(2), 154–159.
- Sirjusingh, C., & Sutton, J. C. (1996). Effects of wetness duration and temperature on infection of geranium by *Botrytis cinerea*. *Plant Disease*, *80*(2), 160–165. https://doi.org/10.1094/PD-80-0160
- Somers, D. E. (2001). Clock-associated genes in Arabidopsis: A family affair. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *356*(1415), 1745–1753. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2001.0965
- Son, K., & Oh, M.-M. (2013). Leaf Shape , Growth , and Antioxidant Phenolic Compounds of Two Lettuce Cultivars Grown under Various Combinations of Blue and Red Lightemitting Diodes. *HortScience*, 48(8), 988–995.

Sowley, E. N. K., Shaw, M. W., & Dewey, F. M. (2010). Persistent, symptomless, systemic,

and seed-borne infection of lettuce by *Botrytis cinerea*. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, *126*(1), 61–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-009-9524-1

- Stahl, W., & Sies, H. (2003). Antioxidant activity of carotenoids. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, *24*(6), 345–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0098-2997(03)00030-X
- STATBEL. (2020). Landbouwcijfers.
- Stewart, T. M., & Long, P. G. (1987). Sporulation of *Botrytis cinerea* in the dark. *New Zealand Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, *15*(3), 389–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/03015521.1987.10425587
- Suetsugu, N., & Wada, M. (2013). Evolution of three LOV blue light receptor families in green plants and photosynthetic stramenopiles: Phototropin, ZTL/FKF1/LKP2 and aureochrome. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, *54*(1), 8–23. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcs165
- Sun, G., Feng, C., Zhang, A., Zhang, Y., Chang, D., Wang, Y., & Ma, Q. (2019). The dual role of oxalic acid on the resistance of tomato against *Botrytis cinerea*. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 35(2), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-019-2603-3
- Suzuki, A., Suriyagoda, L., Shigeyama, T., Tominaga, A., Sasaki, M., Hiratsuka, Y., et al. (2011). Lotus japonicus nodulation is photomorphogenetically controlled by sensing the red/far red (R/FR) ratio through jasmonic acid (JA) signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(40), 16837–16842. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1105892108
- Takahama, U., & Oniki, T. (1997). A peroxidase/phenolics/ascorbate system can scavenge hydrogen peroxide in plants cells. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *101*, 845–852.
- Tan, B. K. K. (1975). Interaction of near-ultraviolet, blue, red, and far-red light in sporulation of *Botrytis cinerea*. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 64(2), 215–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0007-1536(75)80105-7
- Tan, K. K., & Epton, H. A. S. (1973). Effect of light on the growth and sporulation of *Botrytis cinerea*. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 61(1), 145–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0007-1536(73)80096-8
- Tan, K. K., & Epton, H. A. S. (1974). Further studies on light and sporulation in *Botrytis cinerea*. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 62(1), 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0007-1536(74)80011-2

Tanaka, M., Takamura, T., Watanabe, H., Endo, M., Yanagi, T., & Okamoto, K. (1998). In

vitro growth of Cymbidium plantlets cultured under superbright red and blue lightemitting diodes (LEDs). *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology*, *73*(1), 39– 44. https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.1998.11510941

- Taulavuori, K., Hyöky, V., Oksanen, J., Taulavuori, E., & Julkunen-Tiitto, R. (2016). Speciesspecific differences in synthesis of flavonoids and phenolic acids under increasing periods of enhanced blue light. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *121*, 145–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2015.04.002
- Temme, N., & Tudzynski, P. (2009). Does botrytis cinerea ignore H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced oxidative stress during infection? characterization of botrytis activator protein 1. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 22(8), 987–998. https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-22-8-0987
- Ten Have, A., Breuil, W. O., Wubben, J. P., Visser, J., & Van Kan, J. A. L. (2001). Botrytis cinerea endopolygalacturonase genes are differentially expressed in various plant tissues. Fungal Genetics and Biology, 33(2), 97–105. https://doi.org/10.1006/fgbi.2001.1269
- Tenberge, K. B., Beckedorf, M., Hoppe, B., Schouten, A., Solf, M., & von den Driesch, M. (2002). In Situ Localization of AOS in Host-Pathogen Interactions. *Microscopy and Microanalysis*, 8(S02), 250–251. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1431927602100067
- Tepperman, J. M., Zhu, T., Chang, H. S., Wang, X., & Quail, P. H. (2001). Multiple transcription-factor genes are early targets of phytochrome A signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *98*(16), 9437–9442. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.161300998
- Terry, L. A., Chope, G. A., & Giné Bordonaba, J. (2007). Effect of water deficit irrigation and inoculation with *Botrytis cinerea* on strawberry (*Fragaria x ananassa*) fruit quality. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55(26), 10812–10819. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf072101n
- Terry, L. A., Joyce, D. C., Adikaram, N. K. B., & Khambay, B. P. S. (2004). Preformed antifungal compounds in strawberry fruit and flower tissues. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, 31(2), 201–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postharvbio.2003.08.003
- Thain, S. C., Vandenbussche, F., Laarhoven, L. J. J., Dowson-Day, M. J., Wang, Z. Y.,
  Tobin, E. M., et al. (2004). Circadian rhythms of ethylene emission in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology*, *136*(3), 3751–3761. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.104.042523
- Thomma, B. P. H. J., Eggermont, K., Penninckx, I. A. M. A., Mauch-Mani, B., Vogelsang, R., Cammue, B. P. A., & Broekaert, W. F. (1998). Separate jasmonate-dependent and

salicylate-dependent defense-response pathways in arabidopsis are essential for resistance to distinct microbial pathogens. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *95*(25), 15107–15111. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.25.15107

- Thompson, J. R., & Latorre, B. A. (1999). Characterization of *Botrytis cinerea* from table grapes in Chile using RAPD-PCR. *Plant Disease*, *83*(12), 1090–1094. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS.1999.83.12.1090
- Tian, S., Qin, G., & Li, B. (2013). Reactive oxygen species involved in regulating fruit senescence and fungal pathogenicity. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 82(6), 593–602. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11103-013-0035-2
- Tomas-Grau, R. H., Requena-Serra, F. J., Hael-Conrad, V., Martínez-Zamora, M. G., Guerrero-Molina, M. F., & Díaz-Ricci, J. C. (2018). Soft mechanical stimulation induces a defense response against *Botrytis cinerea* in strawberry. *Plant Cell Reports*, *37*(2), 239–250. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00299-017-2226-9
- Tossi, V., Lamattina, L., Jenkins, G. I., & Cassia, R. O. (2014). Ultraviolet-B-induced stomatal closure in arabidopsis is regulated by the UV RESISTANCE LOCUS8 photoreceptor in a nitric oxide-dependent mechanism. *Plant Physiology*, *164*(4), 2220– 2230. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.113.231753
- Tripathy, B. C., & Brown, C. S. (1995). Root-Shoot Interaction in the Greening. *Plant Physiology*, *107*, 407–411.
- Trouwborst, G., Hogewoning, S. W., van Kooten, O., Harbinson, J., & van leperen, W. (2016). Plasticity of photosynthesis after the "red light syndrome" in cucumber. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *121*, 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2015.05.002
- Truernit, E., Schmid, J., Epple, P., Illig, J., & Sauer, N. (1996). The Sink-Specific and Stress-Regulated Arabidopsis STP4 Gene: Enhanced Expression of a Gene Encoding a Monosaccharide Transporter by Wounding, Elicitors, and Pathogen Challenge. *Plant Cell*, 8(12), 2169–2182. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.8.12.2169
- Tsormpatsidis, E., Henbest, R. G. C., Davis, F. J., Battey, N. H., Hadley, P., & Wagstaffe, A. (2008). UV irradiance as a major influence on growth, development and secondary products of commercial importance in Lollo Rosso lettuce "Revolution" grown under polyethylene films. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *63*(1–3), 232–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2007.12.002

- Tucker, D. J. (1981). Phytochrome regulation of leaf senescence in cucumber and tomato. *Plant Science Letters*, 23, 103–108.
- Turner, J. G. ., Ellis, C., & Devoto, A. (2002). The jasmonate signal pathway. *The Plant Cell*, Suppl 1, S153–S164. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1071547
- Van leperen, W., Savvides, A., & Fanourakis, D. (2012). Red and blue light effects during growth on hydraulic and stomatal conductance in leaves of young cucumber plants. VII International Symposium on Light in Horticultural Systems, 956, 223–230.
- van Kan, J. A. L. (2006). Licensed to kill: the lifestyle of a necrotrophic plant pathogen. *Trends in Plant Science*, *11*(5), 247–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2006.03.005
- Van Kan, J. A. L., Stassen, J. H. M., Mosbach, A., Van Der Lee, T. A. J., Faino, L., Farmer,
  A. D., et al. (2017). A gapless genome sequence of the fungus *Botrytis cinerea*. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, *18*(1), 75–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/mpp.12384
- Vandenbussche, F., Tilbrook, K., Fierro, A. C., Marchal, K., Poelman, D., Van Der Straeten,
  D., & Ulm, R. (2014). Photoreceptor-Mediated Bending towards UV-B in Arabidopsis. *Molecular Plant*, 7(6), 1041–1052. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/ssu039
- Vandenbussche, F., Yu, N., Li, W., Vanhaelewyn, L., Hamshou, M., Van Der Straeten, D., & Smagghe, G. (2018). An ultraviolet B condition that affects growth and defense in Arabidopsis. *Plant Science*, *268*(December 2017), 54–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2017.12.005
- Vanhaelewyn, L., Prinsen, E., Van Der Straeten, D., & Vandenbussche, F. (2016). Hormonecontrolled UV-B responses in plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 67(15), 4469– 4482. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erw261
- Veronese, P., Nakagami, H., Bluhm, B., AbuQamar, S., Chen, X., Salmeron, J., et al. (2006). The membrane-anchored BOTRYTIS-INDUCED KINASE1 plays distinct roles in Arabidopsis resistance to necrotrophic and biotrophic pathogens. *The Plant Cell*, *18*(January), 257–273. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.105.035576.1
- Vince-Prue, D., Guttridge, C. G., & Buck, M. W. (1976). Photocontrol of petiole elongation in light-grown strawberry plants. *Planta*, *131*(2), 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00389978
- Wade, H. K., Bibikova, T. N., Valentine, W. J., & Jenkins, G. I. (2001). Interactions within a network of phytochrome, cryptochrome and UV-B phototransduction pathways regulate chalcone sunthast gene expression in Arabidopsis leaf tissue. *The Plant Journal*, 25,

675-685.

- Wang, H., Jiang, Y. P., Yu, H. J., Xia, X. J., Shi, K., Zhou, Y. H., & Yu, J. Q. (2010). Light quality affects incidence of powdery mildew, expression of defence-related genes and associated metabolism in cucumber plants. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, *127*(1), 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10658-009-9577-1
- Wang, J., Lu, W., Tong, Y., & Yang, Q. (2016). Leaf morphology, photosynthetic performance, chlorophyll fluorescence, stomatal development of lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) exposed to different ratios of red light to blue light. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *7*(MAR2016), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00250
- Wang, Q., & Lin, C. (2020). Mechanisms of Cryptochrome-Mediated Photoresponses in Plants. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 71, 103–129. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevarplant-050718-100300
- Wang, W., Barnaby, J. Y., Tada, Y., Li, H., Tör, M., Caldelari, D., et al. (2011). Timing of plant immune responses by a central circadian regulator. *Nature*, *470*(7332), 110–115. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09766
- Wang, X. Y., Xu, X. M., & Cui, J. (2015). The importance of blue light for leaf area expansion, development of photosynthetic apparatus, and chloroplast ultrastructure of Cucumis sativus grown under weak light. *Photosynthetica*, *53*(2), 213–222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11099-015-0083-8
- Wang, Y., Noguchi, K., & Terashima, I. (2008). Distinct light responses of the adaxial and abaxial stomata in intact leaves of Helianthus annuus L. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 31(9), 1307–1316. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2008.01843.x
- Watanabe, M., Balazadeh, S., Tohge, T., Erban, A., Giavalisco, P., Kopka, J., et al. (2013).
  Comprehensive dissection of spatiotemporal metabolic shifts in primary, secondary, and lipid metabolism during developmental senescence in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology*, *162*(3), 1290–1310. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.113.217380
- Wedge, D. E., Smith, B. J., Quebedeaux, J. P., & Constantin, R. J. (2007). Fungicide management strategies for control of strawberry fruit rot diseases in Louisiana and Mississippi. *Crop Protection*, 26(9), 1449–1458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2006.12.007
- Wilbois, K. P. ., Baker, B., Raaijmakers, M., & Lammerts van Bueren, E. T. (2012). Values and Principles in Organic Farming and Consequences for Breeding Approaches and Techniques. Organic Crop Breeding, 125–138.

https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119945932.ch7

- Williamson, B., Tudzynski, B., Tudzynski, P., & Van Kan, J. A. L. (2007). Botrytis cinerea: The cause of grey mould disease. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 8(5), 561–580. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1364-3703.2007.00417.x
- Williamson, M. M., Wilson, G. W. T., & Hartnett, D. C. (2012). Controls on bud activation and tiller initiation in c3 and c4 tallgrass prairie grasses: The role of light and nitrogen. *Botany*, 90(12), 1221–1228. https://doi.org/10.1139/b2012-091
- Wollaeger, H. M., & Runkle, E. S. (2015). Growth and acclimation of impatiens, salvia, petunia, and tomato seedlings to blue and red light. *HortScience*, *50*(4), 522–529. https://doi.org/10.21273/hortsci.50.4.522
- Wu, L., & Yang, H. Q. (2010). CRYPTOCHROME 1 is implicated in promoting R proteinmediated plant resistance to pseudomonas syringae in Arabidopsis. *Molecular Plant*, 3(3), 539–548. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/ssp107
- Wu, M. C., Hou, C. Y., Jiang, C. M., Wang, Y. T., Wang, C. Y., Chen, H. H., & Chang, H. M. (2007). A novel approach of LED light radiation improves the antioxidant activity of pea seedlings. *Food Chemistry*, *101*(4), 1753–1758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.02.010
- Wurms, K. V., George, M. P., & Lauren, D. R. (2003a). Involvement of phenolic compounds in host resistance against *Botrytis cinerea* in leaves of the two commercially important kiwifruit (Actinidia chinensis and A. deliciosa) cultivars. *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science*, *31*(3), 221–233. https://doi.org/10.1080/01140671.2003.9514256
- Wurms, K. V., George, M. P., & Lauren, D. R. (2003b). Involvement of phenolic compounds in host resistance against *Botrytis cinerea* in leaves of the two commercially important kiwifruit (Actinidia chinensis and A. deliciosa) cultivars. *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science*, *31*(3), 221–233. https://doi.org/10.1080/01140671.2003.9514256
- Xie, X. Z., Xue, Y. J., Zhou, J. J., Zhang, B., Chang, H., & Takano, M. (2011). Phytochromes regulate SA and JA signaling pathways in rice and are required for developmentally controlled resistance to Magnaporthe grisea. *Molecular Plant*, 4(4), 688–696. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/ssr005
- Xu, H., Fu, Y. N., Li, T. L., & Wang, R. (2017). Effects of different LED light wavelengths on the resistance of tomato against *Botrytis cinerea* and the corresponding physiological

mechanisms. *Journal of Integrative Agriculture*, *16*(1), 106–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(16)61435-1

- Xu, X., Harris, D. C., & Berrie, A. M. (2000). Modeling infection of strawberry flowers by Botrytis cinerea using field data. *Phytopathology*, *90*(12), 1367–1374. https://doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO.2000.90.12.1367
- Yadav, A., Singh, D., Lingwan, M., Yadukrishnan, P., Masakapalli, S. K., & Datta, S. (2020).
   Light signaling and UV-B-mediated plant growth regulation. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, *00*(00). https://doi.org/10.1111/jipb.12932
- Yakir, E., Hilman, D., Harir, Y., & Green, R. M. (2007). Regulation of output from the plant circadian clock. *FEBS Journal*, 274(2), 335–345. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2006.05616.x
- Yamawo, A., Suzuki, N., Tagawa, J., & Hada, Y. (2012). Leaf ageing promotes the shift in defence tactics in Mallotus japonicus from direct to indirect defence. *Journal of Ecology*, *100*(3), 802–809. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2011.01934.x
- Yang, H.-Q., Wu, Y.-J., Tang, R.-H., Liu, D., Liu, Y., & Cashmore, A. R. (2000). The C Termini of Arabidopsis Cryptochromes Mediate a Constitutive Light Response. *Cell*, 103, 815–827.
- Yang, Y.-X., Wang, M.-M., Yin, Y.-L., Onac, E., Zhou, G.-F., Peng, S., et al. (2015). RNAseq analysis reveals the role of red light in resistance against *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* DC3000 in tomato plants. *BMC Genomics*, *16*(1), 120. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-1228-7
- Yang, Y., Li, Y., Li, X., Guo, X., Xiao, X., Tang, D., & Liu, X. (2008). Comparative proteomics analysis of light responses in cryptochrome1-304 and Columbia wild-type 4 of Arabidopsis thaliana. *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica*, 40(1), 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-7270.2008.00367.x
- Yang, Y. X., Wang, M. M., Ren, Y., Onac, E., Zhou, G., Peng, S., et al. (2015). Light-induced systemic resistance in tomato plants against root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne incognita*. *Plant Growth Regulation*, *76*(2), 167–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-014-9986-9
- Yang, Y. X., Wu, C., Ahammed, G. J., Wu, C., Yang, Z., Wan, C., & Chen, J. (2018). Red light-induced systemic resistance against root-knot nematode is mediated by a coordinated regulation of salicylic acid, jasmonic acid and redox signaling in watermelon. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 9(July), 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00899

- Yeh, N., & Chung, J. P. (2009). High-brightness LEDs-Energy efficient lighting sources and their potential in indoor plant cultivation. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *13*(8), 2175–2180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2009.01.027
- Yoshida, H., Hikosaka, S., Goto, E., Takasuna, H., & Kudou, T. (2012). Effects of light quality and light period on flowering of everbearing strawberry in a closed plant production system. *Acta Horticulturae*, *956*, 107–112. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2012.956.9
- Yu, X., Klejnot, J., Zhao, X., Shalitin, D., Maymon, M., Yang, H., et al. (2007). Arabidopsis cryptochrome 2 completes its posttranslational life cycle in the nucleus. *Plant Cell*, 19(10), 3146–3156. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.107.053017
- Zahedi, S M, & Sarikhani, H. (2017). The Effect of End of Day Far-Red Light on Regulating Flowering of Short-Day Strawberry (*Fragaria × ananassa* Duch . cv . Paros) in a Long-Day Situation 1. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 64(1), 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1021443717010198
- Zahedi, Seyed Morteza, & Sarikhani, H. (2016). Effect of far-red light, temperature, and plant age on morphological changes and induction of flowering of a 'June-bearing' strawberry. *Horticulture Environment and Biotechnology*, *57*(4), 340–347. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13580-016-0018-8
- Zhang, C., Xie, Q., Anderson, R. G., Ng, G., Seitz, N. C., Peterson, T., et al. (2013).
   Crosstalk between the circadian clock and innate immunity in Arabidopsis. *PLoS Pathogens*, *9*(6), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003370
- Zhang, M., Whitman, C. M., & Runkle, E. S. (2019). Manipulating growth, color, and taste attributes of fresh cut lettuce by greenhouse supplemental lighting. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 252(April), 274–282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2019.03.051
- Zhang, Y., Kaiser, E., Zhang, Y., Yang, Q., & Li, T. (2018). Red/blue light ratio strongly affects steady-state photosynthesis, but hardly affects photosynthetic induction in tomato (Solanum lycopersicum). *Physiologia Plantarum*, 144–158. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppl.12876
- Zheng, L. (2017). Light quality effects on anatomy and physiology of ornamentals differing in their photosynthetic pathways (Ghent University). Retrieved from http://en.allexperts.com/q/Latin-2145/2010/7/Cicero-2.htm

- Zheng, L., & Van Labeke, M.-C. (2017a). Chrysanthemum morphology, photosynthetic efficiency and antioxidant capacity are differentially modified by light quality. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 213, 66–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2017.03.005
- Zheng, L., & Van Labeke, M.-C. (2017b). Long-Term Effects of Red- and Blue-Light Emitting Diodes on Leaf Anatomy and Photosynthetic Efficiency of Three Ornamental Pot Plants. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8(May), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00917
- Zhou, X., Zhu, T., Zhu, L. S., Luo, S. S., Deng, X. G., Lin, H. hui, & Xi, D. H. (2017). The Role of Photoreceptors in Response to Cucumber Mosaic Virus in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation*, *36*(2), 257–270. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00344-016-9635-9
- Zhou, Y., & Singh, B. R. (2002). Red light stimulates flowering and anthocyanin biosynthesis in American cranberry. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 38(2), 165–171. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021322418740
- Zhu, Z., An, F., Feng, Y., Li, P., Xue, L., Mu, A., ... Kim, J. (2011). Derepression of ethylenestabilized transcription factors (EIN3 / EIL1) mediates jasmonate and ethylene signaling synergy in Arabidopsis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *108*(30), 12539–12544. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1103959108
- Zimmermann, P., Heinlein, C., Orendi, G., & Zentgraf, U. (2006). Senescence-specific regulation of catalases in Arabidopsis thaliana (L.) Heynh. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 29, 1049–1060. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2005.01459.x

**Copyright Attribution**
# **Copyright Attribution**

**Figure 1.1**: Permission to reprint this figure was obtained from Elsevier through RightsLink (License number 4885510094326).

**Figure 1.2**: This is an open-access article licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License. It permits use and redistribution of the material in other format but under reasonable terms, such as providing a link to the license, and indicating the original authors.

**Figure 1.3**: This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. It is free to copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format, and also allows remix, transform and build upon the material for any purpose. The user must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made.

**Figure 1.4**: This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.

**Figure 1.5**: Permission to reprint this figure was obtained from Oxford University Press through RightLinks (License number 4835961006630).

**Figure 1.6**: Permission to reprint this figure was obtained from Elsevier through RightsLink (License number 4825810407308).

**Figure 1.7**: Permission to reprint this figure was obtained from Oxford University Press through RightsLink (License number 4841301338989).

Acknowledgement

## Acknowledgement

At this last moment of my PhD study, I would like to take the last page of my dissertation to express my thanks, appreciates and best wishes to all the people that helped me and smiled to me. Their goodness lights up the path to my PhD degree and makes me to be a better person.

First of all, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my two promotors Prof. Marie-Christine Van Labeke and Prof. Monica Höfte. I am so lucky to perform my doctoral study under their supervision. They are so experienced and provide me excellent guidance through the entire process. They always had good ideas and gave me good solutions when I had problems for my research. They taught me to be critical in scientific research and trained me for logical thinking. Both of them are serious in education, active and curious on exploring new knowledge in science. I really learned a lot from them with respect to research and life during the last years, this will continue to influence me in my future academic career and personal life. Thanks again for their permanent encouragements and supports during the whole period of my doctoral study at UGent. They are good teachers and good scientists.

I would also want to give my sincere thanks to all jury members Prof. dr. ir. Audenaert, Prof. dr. Vandenbussche, Prof. dr. De Coninck and Dr. Pertry for reading the manuscript, they provided me nice comments and suggestions to improve this thesis.

I would like to thank Prof. Kris Audenaert again and also give thanks to Dr. Maarten Ameye from Lab of Applied Mycology and Phenomics (LAMP), UGent. Thank very much for their guidance on working with PathoViewer and their contributions to the Chapter 4 of this thesis.

Many, many thanks are expanded to all the (ex)colleagues and staff from Lab of Horticulture and Lab of Phytopathology. Christophe, Ann, Machteld, Ilse, Nadia and Bjorn, thank you very much for your help with experimental, administrative and other matters. Brechtje, Pauline, Lieven, shusheng, Britt, Liang, Lin, Reihaneh, Jolien B, Simon, Lisa, Kaat, Van, Enrico, Rutger, Shirley, Hanna, Angelo, Ines, Khouloud, Niels, Annelies, Giuseppe, Zongwang, Ramize, Toyin, Jolien C, Lien, Osvaldo, Feyi, Olumide, and Silke, you are the most friendly and nice colleagues, thank you for all your help, advice and warmth in the labs, wish you all the best. It is very nice to have these two big families at Ghent University, this doubles my good moments in Ghent, Belgium. I would also give my thanks to the help from Prof. Danny's group, Bing, Fan, Guoliang, Nico, Ellen, Partricia, Chunlian, Jing, Limin, Lin Xu, Burcu, Khai, Thijs, thank you a lot for your kindness. Also thank Xiangrong and Jiang for their help with PathoViewer. I would like to thank my Chinese friends in Ghent: Lin, Dongdong, Liang, Huaming, Shusheng, Limin, Chunlian, Jing, Qihang, Hong, Yinwei, Lin Xu, Bing, Fan, Guoliang, Ziyu, Qian, Aiyan, Lidong, Wenxin, Qi, Qianqian, Zifu, Haixiu, Ruyi, Junfeng, Bohang, Liang Ji, Yue, Yining, Yihe, Xinyu, Yuanpei, Ang, Rui, Shengzhe, Zongwang, Haidong, and many others. We had a lot of wonderful time together, thank you for making my life colorful and cheerful in Gent. Special thanks to Niu Qi, we share the apartment to be family as well as to support each other in Ghent. Also special thanks to Limin for her sweet help with my baby, thank you very much.

My great thanks are given to Sue Foster, my English teacher in Ghent. She helps me improving my oral speaking. I appreciate all the wonderful talking with her.

I would also like to take this place to express my special thanks to Prof. Jinxia Zhang, my Master supervisor, for her loving care and support during my residence in Belgium. Her encouragements always remind me to progress.

I would like to acknowledge China Scholarship Council (CSC) for the financial support during my PhD study in Ghent University.

My most special thanks are given to my husband Lipeng Ma and my son Shiyuan Ma. Lipeng, thank you for your love, support and encouragement in our marriage. Without you, I would not be who I am today. Thanks to my son Shiyuan Ma, thank you to be a so nice and sweet boy. I love you forever.

Finally, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my beloved parents, thank you for all your supports throughout my life. Also my thanks to my parents-in-low, thank you for supporting our study and life in Belgium. My sincere thanks are also given to my sister, brother, and brother-in-low, their love to our parents support our study out of China.

Lijuan MENG September 10, 2020 Ghent, Belgium

**Curriculum Vitae** 

## **Curriculum Vitae**

## **Personal information**

Name:	Lijuan Meng
Date of birth:	29 August 1988
Place of birth:	Hebei, China
Nationality:	Chinese
Email:	menglijuan0829@126.com
	Lijuan.Meng@UGent.be

#### Education

12/2015 – 09/2020 PhD in Bioscience Engineering. Faculty of Bioscience Engineering, Ghent University, Belgium.

09/2012 – 07/2015 Master of Microbe. Institute of Agricultural Resources and Regional Planning, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences (CAAS), Beijing, China.

09/2008 – 06/2012 Bachelor of Horticulture. Faculty of Horticulture, Hebei Agricultural University, Hebei, China.

## **Publications**

**Lijuan Meng**, Marie-Christine Van Labeke, Monica Höfte (2020). Timing of light quality affects susceptibility to *Botrytis cinerea* in strawberry leaves. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology* 211: 111988.

**Lijuan Meng**, Hanna Mestdagh, Maarten Ameye, Kris Audenaert, Monica Höfte, Marie-Christine Van Labeke (2020). Phenotypic variation of *Botrytis cinerea* isolates is influenced by spectral light quality. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 11: 1233.

**Lijuan Meng**, Monica Höfte, Marie-Christine Van Labeke (2019). Leaf age and light quality influence the basal resistance against *Botrytis cinerea* in strawberry leaves. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 157: 35-45.

**Lijuan Meng**, Weiwei Kong, Xiangli Wu, Xiuming Liu, Chenyang Huang, Jinxia Zhang (2015). Biochemical pathway analysis of exogenous NO improving heat-tolerance of *Pleurotus eryngii* var. *tuoliensis. Mycosystema*, 34(4): 632-639. (In Chinese)

## International conferences

**Lijuan Meng**, Marie-Christine Van Labeke, Monica Höfte. 2017. Blue light affects the development and sporulation of *Botrytis cinerea*. 69th International Symposium on Crop Protection, 23 May 2017, Ghent, Belgium. (Poster presentation)

**Lijuan Meng**, Monica Höfte, Marie-Christine Van Labeke. 2017. Light quality differentially affects sporulation of *Botrytis cinerea* and disease incidence in strawberry. 3rd International Strawberry Congress, 6-8 September 2017, Antwerp, Belgium. (Oral presentation)

## Awards

Chinese Scholarship Council (CSC) Grant (2015), Excellent Award for Courses (2012), Excellent Bachelor Thesis (2012), National Encouragement Scholarship (2011), Second Scholarship (2011).